PAGE  

[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:


	EB - 2007- 0680


	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	6

December 11, 2007

Paul Sommerville

Paul Vlahos

David Balsillie
	Presiding Member

Member

Member


EB-2007-0680

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c.15 (Sched. B);

AND IN THE MATTER OF an application by Toronto Hydro Electric System Limited pursuant to section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 for an order approving just and reasonable distribution rates and other charges for electricity distribution to be effective May 1, 2008.

Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street, 

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario, on Tuesday,

December 11, 2007, commencing at 9:35 a.m.
------------
VOLUME 6

------------

B E F O R E:

PAUL SOMMERVILLE

PRESIDING MEMBER

PAUL VLAHOS


MEMBER

DAVID BALSILLIE

MEMBER

A P P E A R A N C E S

PETER FAYE


Board Counsel

DONNA CAMPBELL

CHRISTIE CLARK

Board Staff

KEITH RITCHIE

SILVAN CHEUNG

MARTIN BENUM

MARK RODGER


Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited

GLEN WINN

COLIN MCCLORG

COLLEEN RICHMOND

JACK LENARTOWICZ

BASIL ALEXANDER

Pollution Probe

MURRAY KLIPPENSTEIN
ROBERT WARREN

Consumers Council of Canada

JULIE GIRVAN

MICHAEL BUONAGURO 

Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition 

JOHN DeVELLIS

School Energy Coalition

KIMBLE F. AINSLIE

Energy Probe

DAVID MACINTOSH
I N D E X   O F   P R O C E E D I N G S

Description





    
   Page No.

--- Upon commencing at 9:35 a.m.




1

PRELIMINARY MATTERS







1

THESL - PANEL 5:







5

     Susan Davidson; Previously sworn.

     J.S. Couillard; Previously sworn.

     Ivano Labricciosa; Previously sworn.

     Dino Priore; Previously sworn.

     Ben La Pianta; Previously sworn.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS




5

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO



    41

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER




    48

QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD





    49

--- Recess taken at 11:07 a.m.



    53

--- On resuming at 11:35 a.m.




    53

THESL - PANEL 7:






    54

     Pankaj Sardana; Previously sworn.

     Colin McLorg; Sworn.

     Darryl James Seal; Affirmed.

EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER



    
    54

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ALEXANDER



    69

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.


    84

--- On resuming at 1:50 p.m.




    84

PRELIMINARY MATTERS





    
    84

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN



    85

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO



   100

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS



   113

--- Recess taken at 2:48 p.m.




   117

--- On resuming at 3:08 p.m.




   117

PRELIMINARY MATTERS






   118

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:  (Cont'd)

   130

EXAMINATION BY MR. FAYE





   145

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER




   199

--- Recess taken at 5:38 p.m.




   201

--- On resuming at 5:43 p.m.




   201

QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD





   201

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 6:01 p.m.
   211

E X H I B I T S

Description




  Page No.

EXHIBIT NO. S6.1:  DOCUMENT.



141
U N D E R T A K I N G S

Description





Page No.

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.1:  TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO THE PROJECTED CAPITAL GAINS WITH REGARD

TO THE SALE OF FACILITIES REFERENCED IN C2, T2,

SCHEDULE 2.








 3

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.2:  TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO THE QUESTIONS IN THE RECORD RELATED TO

THE CONSUMERS INCOME TRUST TRANSACTION.


 
 4

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.3:  TO PROVIDE QUALITATIVE TYPE INFORMATION WITH REGARD TO STORM DAYS



13

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.4:  TO PROVIDE TOTAL LOSS FACTOR,

YEARS 2008 THROUGH 2010.






71

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.5:  CALCULATE THE IMPACT ON RETURN

ON EQUITY OF A 0.1% DIFFERENCE IN DISTRIBUTION LINE

LOSSES.









76

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.6:  TO PROVIDE SPECIFIED CHARGES AS DISTINCT FROM POLE ATTACHMENTS, TABLE 3.

    102

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.7:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ON HOW RATE APPROVED/CHANGES IN ACTIVITY LEVEL/NUMBER OF RENTERS THAT ARE RELATED PARTIES, AFFILIATES, TABLE 3.

    103

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.8:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE AS TO WHAT IS BEING DONE WITH THE STRANDED METERS.


    113

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.9:  TO PROVIDE CALCULATION FOR REVENUE DEFICIENCY IMPACT.






    136

UNDERTAKING NO. 6.10:  TO CHECK THE ACCURACY OF EXHIBIT D1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 3, PAGE 2 REGARDING THE REDUCTIONS IN LAND AND BUILDING.








155

UNDERTAKING NO. 6.11:  TO CLARIFY WHETHER BOARD DECISION, SECTION 3.0.19 HAS BEEN COMPLIED WITH.



167

UNDERTAKING NO. 6.12:  TO EXPLAIN THE APPARENT VARIANCE ON SCHEDULE 10.3, APPENDIX "A".





167

UNDERTAKING NO. 6.13:  TO DESCRIBE REGULATORY TREATMENT OF THE $35 MILLION/DESCRIPTION OF HOW THE NUMBERS ARE

MANAGED.









182

UNDERTAKING NO. 6.14:  TO EXPLAIN, ON ACCOUNT 1590, HOW INCLUDING IT FOR DISPOSITION NOW COMPLIES WITH THE PHASE II DECISION, SECTION 9.0.19.





186

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.15:  TO EXPLAIN WHAT WILL BE THE IMPACT ON REVENUE DEFICIENCY, GIVEN A CERTAIN CHANGE IN THE LOAD FORECAST.









187

Tuesday, December 11, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

     We reconvene this morning in the matter of the Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited application for rates, which has been designated as EB-2007-0680.  Are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Just one.  We have responses to four undertakings that were given, and my friend Ms. Campbell will hand those out.  And for the record, those are Undertakings T3.1, T3.5, T4.1, and T5.3.

     If I could just read the response to Undertaking 5.3 for the record, because in reviewing the transcript last night, we realized that there was an error given in one of the answers of the witnesses yesterday that we'd like to correct.

     This Undertaking T5.3, the reference is page 68 of the transcript for December 10th, 2007, and the undertaking was described as to find out whether THESL-leased executive vehicles are in rate base.  And the response that we have provided this morning is as follows:

"All leases deemed to be capital in nature, based on the generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) test/approach must be accounted for as capital expenditures and consequently are included in the rate base.  The leases for executive vehicles have been capitalized and included in rate base, as they meet the GAAP test.  THESL wishes to correct the testimony from December 10th, 2007, where it was stated that executive vehicles are not included in rate base.  The 2008 annual lease cost for executive vehicles is expected to be .2-million dollars, and these costs are part of the executive compensation package.  If the leases did not meet the GAAP capital criteria, were not qualified to be included in rate base, distribution expenses would require a commensurate increase."

     So that's the response, Mr. Chairman.

     Now, this leaves us with four outstanding undertakings, and our plan is to provide the Board and parties with responses to those at the beginning of this afternoon's session.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just on that subject, the Board has -- in reviewing the evidence of yesterday, a couple of items struck our interest, and we would appreciate some additional information with respect to them.

     The first one relates to projected capital gains associated with the facility sales reflected in C2, T2, Schedule 2.  Those are the various facility sales that are projected out into 2010.  Don't care what split of proceeds you choose, so long as it's reflected in the undertaking.

     The other item that was of interest had to do with a reference to the consumers income trust transaction related to water heaters.  The Board would be interested in some additional information with respect to that.  We're not seeking to probe any commercially sensitive information with respect to that transaction, but we'd like to know when the transaction occurred, what was the subject matter of the transaction, was it water heaters per se, what are the obligations arising from that transaction that abide with THESL, and is there a regulatory impact for the purposes of this application related to that transaction?

     I think those are the areas that we'd like some additional information on with respect to that transaction.

     I wonder if we could get undertakings for each of those, Ms. Campbell.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  The projected capital gain question, the first one, T6.1, would be the projected capital gains with regard to the sale of facilities referenced in C2, T2, Schedule 2.

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.1:  TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO THE PROJECTED CAPITAL GAINS WITH REGARD TO THE SALE OF FACILITIES REFERENCED IN C2, T2, SCHEDULE 2.
     MS. CAMPBELL:  T6.2 would be the first question regarding the consumers income trust transaction, and the first question would be when the transaction occurred.  That's T6.2.  What was the subject matter of the transaction becomes T6.3.  What continuing obligations does THESL have arising from the transaction?  And I must confess, I missed -- that would be T6.4.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Oh, I think we can make this all just one undertaking.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Excellent.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just one undertaking to provide --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I thought you said one for each.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No.  Just one -- one undertaking -- I was referring to the capital gains question.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Then capital gains question will be T6.2.  And there were four components to it, and I missed the fourth one.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's do it this way.  I think the capital gains undertaking should be T6.1.  And 6.2 should be the questions that are in the record related to the consumers income trust.

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.2:  TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO THE QUESTIONS IN THE RECORD RELATED TO THE CONSUMERS INCOME TRUST TRANSACTION.
     MR. RODGER:  I wonder if I might have a moment, Mr. Chairman.


Mr. Chairman, if it would help the Board, Mr. Couillard is very familiar with the consumers income trust transaction, and if you would like, he'd be prepared to speak to those issues in T6.2 now, if it pleases the Board, or if you would prefer, we can put it in writing and file it later, but --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's put it in writing.  We'll proceed now with Mr. DeVellis' cross-examination.  Thank you.

     MR. RODGER:  Fine.  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there any other preliminary matters from anyone?  I know that there will be some discussions over the course of the day with respect to schedule for argument, and we'll get to that later, after the parties have had a chance to sort of look another some options and that sort of thing.


Mr. DeVellis, are you ready to proceed?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. SOMERVILLE:  Thank you.


THESL - PANEL 5:

     Susan Davidson; Previously sworn.

     J.S. Couillard; Previously sworn.

     Ivano Labricciosa; Previously sworn.

     Dino Priore; Previously sworn.

     Ben La Pianta; Previously sworn.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, Panel.  My questions will be referring mainly to Exhibits F1 and F2, as you probably expect, and also to School Energy Coalition interrogatory responses, so if you would just have those handy.


Having said that, my first question actually refers to a Board Staff response.  And that is Exhibit R1, Tab 1, Schedule 1.14.  Let me know when you have that.

     You were asked in this interrogatory to provide work-unit summaries for various OM&A groups, and we see in the following pages the cost increases derived by taking changes in the volume of work and the projected inflationary adjustment to labour rates.


And it seems like what you've done is you've taken your labour-rate adjustments as a sort of a baseline inflationary increase, and then whatever changes in the volume of work you plan to do later on top of that.  Is that fair?

     MR. La PIANTA:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And then for areas, particularly in 2009, 2010, where you don't have, necessarily, a projection of changes in volume of work, what you've done is strictly inflated those budgets by your projected inflationary labour-rate increases.

     --- Witness panel confers.

     MR. La PIANTA:  For the test years it's actually a combination of the two.  There was actually -- the volumes of units for the various predictive and preventive programs in the test years are based on a set level, a volume of units, plus inflationary pressures.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  But, for example, in some areas, for example on page 4 of the interrogatory response for 

Stations, Assets, Corrective Maintenance for 2009, 2010, you say at the bottom of page 4:

"Labour cost increases are due to projected inflationary adjustments to labour rates."

     And that's the basis for the change in that item for 2010?

     MR. La PIANTA:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  My question is, though, you have sort of inflationary increases as your sort of baseline for three years, but there's no productivity factor worked into any of those budgets.

     MR. La PIANTA:  Although it's not readily visible here, when the RCM programs are developed back in 2004, there was a minimum level of those units that were defined for the various RCM programs.  Since 2004, the volume of  units within that defined program are actually increased.  So, for instance, in the area of station assets now, although we're doing less units in the station, because of RCM maintenance defines precisely what maintenance you're going to do within a station, we're doing more stations, okay, so there's actually a greater portion of the asset base has been covered within that period.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  That would be factored into your 2007/2008 budgets?

     MR. La PIANTA:  2007, and through the test years.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  But you have no sort of incremental productivity built into 2009, 2010.

     MR. La PIANTA:  It's just embedded in the program.  It's just embedded in the program, by the very fact that we're just doing more of those units.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  But my point to you, it's embedded in the initial test year, but you have no productivity improvements beyond that in 2009 and '10.  You sort of carry those forward.

     MR. La PIANTA:  It's carried right throughout.  No, to answer your question; that's correct.  That productivity in 2007 is carried through.  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  My next area is in the area of corrective maintenance, and I will refer to School 

Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 2, at R1, Tab 5, 

Schedule 2.

     MR. La PIANTA:  Sorry, Mr. DeVellis, what was that reference again?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  R1, Tab 5, Schedule 2.

     MR. La PIANTA:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And your budget for corrective maintenance increases from $9-million to $7- to $12-million in 2010; is that right?

     MR. La PIANTA:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And you say in the prefiled evidence -- and I think we have a reference to it right in the interrogatory -- that this forecast, that's at F1, Tab 1, Schedule 5, that this forecast is based on the fact that the asset condition assessment indicates that a number of assets are at a high risk of failure and need to be replaced?

     MR. La PIANTA:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And we asked in the interrogatory what specifically are the planned increases in anticipated corrective maintenance in the test years, and it looks like what you've given us in pages 2 and 3 are the number of work requests for 2007.

     MR. La PIANTA:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  How does this help us?  I mean, do you have a forecast of your corrective maintenance, your work requests for the test years?

     MR. La PIANTA:  The forecasts for the corrective work, again, as mentioned or as explicitly stated in the asset condition assessment, the corrective repairs in general are expected to increase by about 34 percent through the test years, as we anticipate the asset base continuing to erode.

     The projected units are strictly a trend analysis, moving forward, though the year.  So we took what was in the asset condition assessment and we looked at the rate of replacement of those particular asset groups, and we projected the same failure rate in terms of what we would need to do in corrective repairs.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  So it's strictly based on the asset condition assessment?

     MR. La PIANTA:  Exactly.  And it's essentially a trend analysis.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  If you could turn to the next response, No. 3.  I'm probably not going to go all the way to 54.

     It has to do with your emergency maintenance budget.

     MR. La PIANTA:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  You have a $2-million increase in your emergency maintenance budget from 6.5 million in '07 to 

8.21 in 2009, not quite 2 million; is that right?

     MR. La PIANTA:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And you say that the number of emergency calls are expected to be the same, but the reason for the increased budget is you are expecting an increase in what you call major event days, or MEDs.

     MR. La PIANTA:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And in this interrogatory we've asked you for the number of MEDs in past years.

     MR. La PIANTA:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  It doesn't appear that 2007 is much different from past years, based on your response here.

     MR. La PIANTA:  No, and just for the record let me clarify something.

     In the reference to R1, Tab 5, Schedule 3, line 9, it says that:

"As of the end of June 2007, MEDs have occurred on March 1, 2, April 23, June 8 and June 19th."

     That, in fact, is incorrect.  April 23 and June 19th were not MEDs.  They were just storm days.  And in fact, that's consistent with the response in Part B of the same interrogatory.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  So, you had fewer in 2007?

     MR. La PIANTA:  Right.  So to answer your question, statistically, by definition, that's what a major event day is.  It is, in fact, in layman's terms, an anomaly.  We don't expect the frequency of major event days to in fact increase.  I'm not sure, are you familiar with the definition of a major event day?  It's essentially the 98 percent confidence interval.  So 98 percent of the time we can expect the daily interruptions to be within this band.  

These are days that are beyond that band, so clearly they're anomalies.  We don't expect the frequency of those anomalies to increase, and clearly in the response, we've had two in 2007.  We had two in 2006.  I think we had two in 2005, if I'm not mistaken, three in 2005.  So the statistical calculation obviously holds true.  You're not going to see a lot of these, and it's due to the 98 percent confidence interval.

What we're seeing is an increase in the severity of the impact when these MED days do occur.  Hence, we provided for that funding in the test years 8, 9, and 10, because now we've been able over the past three years to collect some data, start tracking data on the costs of these major event days, these anomalies, and now we're explicitly provided funding for these anomalies in the test years.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And that increase in the severity that you're talking about, is that based on your experience this year?

     MR. La PIANTA:  No, since we started tracking MEDs; it's really since 2004.  Again, we don't experience a lot of them -- two a year -- and so we've never really started to segregate the DOS costs for those major event days.  And what we're seeing, for instance, the storms of this year, the two that happened this year, March 1, June 8, they in fact lasted less than 90 seconds, I think, in both -- well, forget the March storm.  The March storm was actually overnight on a Friday night, but the June storm, for instance, lasted 90 seconds and the costs were upward of $600,000 just to repair the damage from that 90-second storm.  

   MR. DeVELLIS:  When you say increase in severity, how is that measured?

     MR. La PIANTA:  Really by the amount of work -- well, our SAIDI indices say customer minutes out, the duration of the customer minutes out, which is customers -- CI is customers interrupted, the number of customers interrupted.  CMO is customer minutes out.  For instance, in the March storm, our number of customers interrupted exceeded some 55,000 customers.  We don't have any storm on record approaching that.  We've probably got to go back to Hurricane Hazel to in fact see outages of that magnitude.

     The duration lasted three days.  It started on March 

1st.  We didn't have the last customer restored until late Sunday night, early Monday morning.

     So the duration of the effort required to restore customers is much longer.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Is there something that you could provide us that would show how you track the increasing severity as you've described it?

MR. La PIANTA:  We could provide you the costs associated with repairing those storms.  Other than that, we don't measure severity in the sense of number of fallen trees.


We have various ways to demonstrate severity, I guess.  We could show you the number of secondary services, for instance, that were taken down by the March storm.  It was predominantly a secondary-service outage storm.  People lost their residential services to their homes.  The primary system wasn't affected too much, but for the most part, people lost the service to their homes, so that's an indication of severity.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  That's one storm.  I'm talking about, how would we be able to track -- is there some way we could see how you've tracked the increase in severity since 2004, besides that one storm?  I understand that one storm you've talked about.

     MR. La PIANTA:  We have data associated with each of the MED days that are listed in the interrogatory response.  We also track what is known as a storm day, so not the level of severity of an MED day, but definitely not a normal course of business.  So thunderstorms running through the city.


Those have, in fact, increased, the number of storm days.  I believe we received -- every year it's gone up by one day.  So, for instance, 2004, we've had four storm days.  2005, we had four storm days.  2006, we had five storm days.  2007, we're already at five.

     So we can track that qualitative type information.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Is there something you can provide us that wouldn't require an inordinate amount of work?

     MR. La PIANTA:  I can provide you in writing the information I just talked about.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Could we get an undertaking?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  That would be T6.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.3:  TO PROVIDE QUALITATIVE TYPE INFORMATION WITH REGARD TO STORM DAYS.

     MR. RODGER:  Just to be clear, Mr. DeVellis, what's the additional detail that you're looking for specifically, just so we're not recreating the wheel?

     MR. La PIANTA:  We can provide you, for instance, the cost codes, the interruption cost codes; so what's related to tree outages, what's related to the transformer outages, storms.  Typically, that equipment that's impacted during the storm, we could provide those reliability indices.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I would characterize that as an explanation of the increasing severity of major event days from 2004 to 2007.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's cost data, though, isn't it?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So it's cost data respecting storms in 2007?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I was looking from 2004 to 2007, because that's what the --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  I beg your pardon.

     MR. La PIANTA:  If I may add, Mr. Chairman.  The cost data for major event days, we have in 2007 only.  Consequently, that's why we budgeted for now -- for the first time we budgeted for major event days through the test years.


We don't have cost data particularly for the MEDs in previous years.  We can provide you with the reliability data associated with that, the number of MED days, the number of storm days.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Well, whatever you have available.

     MR. La PIANTA:  Okay.

     MR. RODGER:  So I'm a little confused now.  Is it cause data or cost data that you have?

     MR. La PIANTA:  We only have cost data.

     MR. RODGER:  Cost, C-O-S-T.

     MR. La PIANTA:  C-O-S-T, for 2007.  We don't have any cost data for MEDs prior to that.

     MR. RODGER:  So for the 2004 period that Mr. DeVellis was asking about, you will provide the cause data?

     MR. La PIANTA:  Correct.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Can we have an undertaking number for that?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I believe we already gave it, which was T6.3.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Oh, I beg your pardon.  Thank you.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  My next question is in the area of operation support, which I believe Ms. Campbell touched on yesterday, but I just have some clarification questions.


If you could turn to Exhibit R1, tab 5, Schedule 10.

     MR. La PIANTA:  Okay.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And we've asked for -- so the budget for operation support increases from 22 million in '06 to 32.5 million in '08; is that right?

     MR. PRIORE:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And that's a $10.2-million increase?

     MR. PRIORE:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And we've asked for a breakdown of the increase from 2006 to 2007 in this interrogatory response.  And what you've provided us is the facilities cost increase, by $4.2-million?

     MR. PRIORE:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  That's the portion of the facilities increase allocated to operation support?

     MR. PRIORE:  That's right.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And then fleet and equipment services increased by $830,000?

     MR. PRIORE:  That's right.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Again, that's the portion of the increase that's allocated to operation support.


And increase in inflation and payroll due to the reorganization, of 1.2 million.

     MR. PRIORE:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And then on page 2, beginning at line 7, you have:

"Purchase of improved flame-resistant clothing of approximately $720,000 in '07, accounts for the largest variance."


Why do you refer to that as the largest variance?  Is that included under the 1.2 million?

     MR. PRIORE:  That's the largest variance for the safety equipment.  That's what that's referring to.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So that's in addition to the 1.2.  It's not part of the 1.2.

     MR. PRIORE:  That's right, it's in addition to.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  And then how do you account for the additional $3-million increase in 2008?  I know it's not part of this interrogatory, but --

     MR. PRIORE:  The $3-million from 2007 to 2008, I'll give you a breakdown.  There's about $570,000 is related to changes in labour.  There's an additional eight design technicians being added.  And also, we're graduating 18 apprentices from the trade school, that are leaving the trade school budget and being assigned to the business units.  So the net effect is 26 FTEs coming under operations admin.

     There's $1.5-million of additional facilities charges.  This is due to the full impact of occupying Milner for a full year, because in 2007 we occupied it for half a year.  And there's about $830,000 from a combination of fuel charges and vehicle leases.


If you recall yesterday, we talked about 20 additional vehicles were being purchased in 2007.  So the operational costs for those vehicles are now being absorbed by the business units, starting in 2007, and going forward.


So when you add those up, you get $2.99-million, which accounts for the variance from 2007 to 2008.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I apologize.  As you started answering, I realize Ms. Campbell asked you that question yesterday.

     MR. PRIORE:  That's okay.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry about that.

     My next area of questions is in the area of customer services, and specifically the $2.2-million increase due to the increased call centre costs, so associated with time-of-use billing.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And if you can turn to our Interrogatory Response No. 12.  That's Exhibit R1, Tab 5, Schedule 12-A.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes, I have it.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I don't recall if it was in this response or another one, but you said that you had projected an increase of call volume to 20 percent --

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  -- as a result of time-of-use billing?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Twenty percent on when the first bill goes out.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm sorry?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Approximately 20 percent on a compound basis, because we're expecting the calls to go up as the first bill goes out, and then the second bill and third bill.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  But in total, for the test years, it is a 20 percent increase in call volumes in each year, is it?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I think you have an explanation here in Part A of the interrogatory response.  You say:

"Based on forecasts the expected call volumes that were related to the implementation of customer presentment of tour data in 2007 and TOU billing in 2008, for those customers who have Smart Meters installed, THESL estimated the number of additional call centre agents that will be required to ensure that the OEB's existing service quality measures for call centre performance will be maintained.”

     Can you explain that?  How did you arrive at 20 percent?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Our basis of 20 percent is we reviewed the historical information that we had when we had when the market opened, back in 2002.  At that point in time, our volumes went up on average about 20 percent for a period of time, with customer inquiries.

     That was the most relevant historical data that we had, to assume how the customer would respond.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  When you say for a period of time, what was the period of time?  How long did that last?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Oh, it was over -- the market opened on 

May 1 of 2002.  That's when we moved to billing retail customers and on a retailer rate.  The volume, even though there was not a lot of different -- there was a lot of activity during that time, if you recall.  The volume stayed up for a full year because during that time the market opened, and then in November we went to a fixed rate price.  Then we had to do reconciliations with the customers.

So it was about a year that our volumes went up.  Then they gradually dropped, but never went back to the original rate.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  As I recall, that was a particularly volatile time because it went from market-opening, and then there was a change in policy, so a lot of customer confusion around that.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Well, it was a volatile time, more so outside the City of Toronto than it was in the City of 

Toronto.  That's why we used the basis for customer inquiries, because we handled our methodology of setting rates for customers in Toronto differently than most of the rest of the province.  So we didn't have the same volatility as the rest of the province.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And, I'm sorry, did you say that you used the same sort of percentage increases in call volume and applied them to the time-of-use projections?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  All right, and you're expecting that to continue for the full three years?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes, we do, because we will be phasing in our customers.  By the end of this year we'll have 400,000 customers who will be on Smart Meters, and we will be phasing those customers in over time so we can smooth out the volume of calls to maintain the 20 percent.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  You also have increase in corporate communications costs related to time-of-use billing.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.  That's part of the Smart Meter budget.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And you have a breakdown in one of the interrogatory responses to Board staff, No. 1.17.

I don't know if you need to turn it up, but it's 1.25 in 2008, 1.5 million in 2009, and 0.6 million in 2010, for additional communications costs related to Smart Meters and time-of-use billing.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Subject to check, yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  What does that consist of?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  There are a number of components to that communication.

     First of all, we'll be continuing to install meters throughout that whole period of time.  So there's upfront communication costs with every single customer before we install the meter.  And, as we install the meter, we leave a communication behind indicating we'd be there.  So there are those costs.

     That will also include our commercial customers as well.  We expect to do more communication with them because, with those customers in some of our residential, we'll have to be organizing communications around appointments, et cetera, where we need to get special access and make special appointments with them.

     That's to install the meter.  But once we move to the Web-based system, which we have in place right now, we have a communication vehicle going out to educate the customer on how to get into our Web system so they can view all their data, and sign up, because it's confidential data that they're viewing.

     Then we will be starting our education process around time-of-use billing, and when that billing phases in, we'll be communicating with each and every one of our customers, explaining time-of-use.  We anticipate this will take sort of a number of communications for them to understand what's happening.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And you anticipate incremental hiring.  How are the costs --

     MS. DAVIDSON:  No.  The call centre is not incremental hiring internally at this point.  Because we expect the costs to drop off after 2010 and the volumes to drop off, we're looking at using our outsourcer to increase the volume of people to answer the telephone.

The cost for the written communication, other flyers, et cetera, there is an external print cost to develop that.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And your call centre costs are based on a projection of number of calls or length of calls?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Length of calls and number of calls.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  And so all these communications costs that you've described, you don't think will mitigate the number of calls to the call centre as a result of the time-of-use billing?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  No, sir, I don't.  I think that the customers, quite frankly, there are some people who are very educated around time-of-use.  However, there's a probably significant number that won't understand, particularly when they get their first bill, the variations between the different buckets on the time-of-use billing, et cetera.

     And people are human, from the point of view of how much mail they get into their front door, and how much you actually read.  We're going to use other periodicals, such as newspapers -- not public, but community newspapers, and we've had community hall meetings, et cetera.

     It seems the people that attend there are the ones who are very interested, And then there's the rest of the public that probably won't open, dispose of the information, so we have to be prepared on both ends to take verbal communication as well as written communication.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Sorry, I just had one additional question on time-of-use.  Unfortunately they're in two different interrogatory responses, but if you can turn to Exhibit R1, Tab 5, Schedule 22.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  You have it?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  We have that one.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And so we asked in Part C for a forecast of the number of calls --

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Oh.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  -- expected to be handled.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  For 2006-2010, and as well the average cost per call for the same period.  And you see your answers are on page 3, "Call Volumes."  So there we see the forecast increase of 20 percent in the time-of-use --

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  -- billing.  Related to the time-of-use billing.  And then on the next page you have the cost per call, and you see that's increasing from $9 in '06 to $12 in '08.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Why the increase?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Well, when we made the assumptions around the time-of-use telephone calls, we assumed that call length time would be longer, by about 50 to 60 percent longer, because of the amount of time -- an average call, calling in a customer's question around an outage or something like that, can be of very short duration.

We felt with the time-of-use it was going to take much longer to educate customers because we have a lot more data for them to view and look at, because they will be talking now not about one reading that they have on a bill, but they'll be talking about 24 different readings for every day for the 60 days on the bill.  And we feel that they'll ask more and more questions around:  "Well, why is this higher than this?  And why is this consumption in this peak -- this particular period of time, and not another period?"

That's what drove the average cost up, is the length of time for the calls.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And how are your call centre costs negotiated?  Are they done prospectively?  Like, the vendor insists on a certain amount of calls going forward, or is it you receive a bill after the fact?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  We have our call centre's accommodation of Toronto Hydro employees who are very, very skilled at handling our customers, and at times the more complex calls will be channelled through to that group.

     Then, to balance our cost structure, we have been using an external vendor, and we went out with an RFP for that vendor to get the best quality calls, as well as the best price -- the appropriate price, and the best quality organization that can respond to us.

     Our costs are charged on an hourly basis per CSR, but it's only on an hourly basis when they're on the telephone, and we have certain standards for them to answer so many calls within that period.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Another cost associated with time-of-use billing you project is a projected increase in bad debt expense?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes, a very minor increase.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, .5-million, I believe.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  I think that has a combination of both -- as we have more and more condominiums that we are billing, we expect to have a minor increase in our bad debt as a result of that, and a minor increase in our bad debt because of -- and it's time-of-use, because we are anticipating the bills may be somewhat higher, and when a customer's confused on a higher bill, they will delay paying, and if they don't understand it, it could move to a bad debt.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  The delayed-paying part I was going to ask about later, but I'll ask now, since you mentioned it, and that has to do with your projected late-payment fees.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Okay.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  We asked an interrogatory about that at Schedule 23.  That's R1, Tab 5.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  R1?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Schedule 23.  And we asked -- since you're projecting an increase in bad debt as a result of time-of-use billing and other things -- have you made a corresponding increase to your late-payment charges, and I don't think that you've answered that in this interrogatory, so --

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Okay, and I can qualify in this response.  The 4.1 was projected for the bridge year early on this year, and the actual results for this year are projected to come in at a much flatter level, a flatter, a higher level.  They're coming in at 4.8 million.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  4.8 million?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  For '07?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes, for '07.

     When we did the bridge year, if you look at -- if you look at 2006, that creates a more level projection forward, which is the norm.  When we did the bridge year, we were working in the late spring, and at that time we were processing and had processed an Ontario credit.  There was a credit that all of our customers received late December, on their bills for January and February.

     And because of that credit, it decreased our application to late-payment charges during that period of time, so our base was lower, and it's now sitting at about 4.8 million.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  So that's what the variance is between -- actually, in the 5 million, it really is this 250,000 we were talking about.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  So you had projected 4.1 million for '07 in late-payment fees?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  We had projected, but it's 4.8; it's going to be 4.8.  That was too low from a bridge year.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and so do you need to make any corresponding changes to your 2008 forecast?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  No.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  So getting back to my question about whether you've included an increase in late-payment fees as a result of this confusion, as a result of time-of-use billing, since you're projecting an increase in bad debt expense, why wouldn't there also be an increase in late-payment fees?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Well, we did.  We put 200,000 in.  It would have been, as a result, 200,000 difference.  We're going to end up the year at 4.8, and I believe we have 5 million in for 2008.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, no, your response says that you forecast an increase mainly to account for an increase in a number of customers resulting from the conversion of bulk-metered apartment buildings to individually-metered suites.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's the condo part.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.


MS. DAVIDSON:  It should also have said because of the time-of-use.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So you have put --


MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  -- in something for --


MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes, I have.


MR. DeVELLIS:  It's just not in your response.


MS. DAVIDSON:  It's just not in the response.


--- Reporter appeals.


MS. DAVIDSON:  I apologize.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You have put in something for time-of-use.  It's just not in your interrogatory response?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Right, so that -- now, explain again why the 2008 forecast then is not going to be increasing -- if you've increased from 4.1 to 4.8, and that includes a forecast for time-of-use -- why you're not also increasing your 2008 forecast now.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Well, we actually did.  We increased it to 5 million.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  But you were higher than expected in '07, so why wouldn't your '08 forecast now be updated?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Because we're not anticipating to having this credit that changed the late-payment fees from the previous round.  We're anticipating it's going to be 5 million.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And my next question is with respect to your billing and remittance budget, and specifically the IESO fees.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And we have an interrogatory, that is Schedule R1, Tab -- sorry, Tab 5, Schedule 14.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And what we asked is:  You have $1-million built into your billing and remittance budget, and that's for a fee that THESL will be required to pay to the IESO for checking and transfer of Smart Meter readings at some point in the future, and we asked what the $1-million was based on.

You say in Part D on page 2:

"The $1-million figure is not based on any information from the IESO.  Rather, until cost information is provided by the IESO, THESL used the reasonable assumption that the IESO costs would mirror the current costs associated with manually reading meters."

     And my question is, what is the rational connection between your manual meter-reading costs and the costs that you would have to pay to the IESO?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Our sense at the time -- we had not heard, and we'd inquired with the IESO of what the charges were going to be.  The IESO is setting up a data system that's going to collect all the time-of-use data, and we will be transmitting that data to what they call a database called the MDM/R.  We'll be transferring that data from our AMI systems, our meter systems, to the IESO, and then, in theory, they will be massaging that data, if it's required, and then they'll be sending it back to us.

     There's going to be a charge for that, and at the point in time when we did this filing, we had no information whatsoever as to what that charge is going to be.  So we felt it appropriate to put a placeholder in, and felt that, you know, and felt that, you know, it couldn't be greater than a portion of our meter reading, our manual meter reading charges.

     Now -- further relevant information -- we had discussions a couple weeks ago with the IESO again.  They are in the throes of looking at this, but they still do not have a definitive answer to us on how we're going to have to pay for this service.  So there's going to be a cost, so we put a placeholder in.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  It just seemed to me they're two different things.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  They are.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  They're two different things.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Turn to R1, Tab 5, Schedule 15, of the next page.  This has to do with your customer relationship management budget.  And we asked in Part A -- you had referred to a $0.7-million increase in outsourced call centre budget, to cover an expected increase in costs of a move to a new vendor?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And we asked whether that materialized.  

In your response to Part A, you say that as a result of successful negotiations with the new vendor, you have realized some savings from the expected increase of 0.7 million, and you have saved 0.2 million in '07.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Does that mean that there should be corresponding adjustments to your test year budgets, then, if the increase is not as large as you had anticipated?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  I believe it's already in the test year.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I thought that we were asking whether your anticipated increase had materialized, and you said it's not 0.7 million, it's 0.5 million you saved; right?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That’s correct, it’s 0.5 million –- no, the 0.2 million is in the test year, but we'll have to remove that.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  We'll have to remove that?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes, the 0.2, because we only realized 0.5.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  That was my question.  Are you going to make an adjustment to your test year budgets?  Your answer was "yes"?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Have you done that?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  No, not yet.  Not for the 200,000.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  We'll be looking at that, as there are some minor changes that have to be done.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Just a couple of questions on your administrative and general expenses.  Exhibit F2, Schedule 6.  F2, Tab 6, Schedule 1.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. DeVellis.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  On page 2, you have an increase in -- it's a small amount -- but in gym membership costs, as a result of higher employee participation than expected from your fitness allowance.  Why is that?

     MR. COUILLARD:  First, I'd like just to make sure that -- this is not only for finance people, it's under the controllership.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  It's not your personal --

     MR. COUILLARD:  I'd not like my team to take that to heart.  Some of the change that we have gone through, we've looked at the take-up that we had in the past versus what was actually happening, so the entire company increase is actually recorded in here; so it's just to account for the difference between what actual take-up we had in the past versus, you know, what we believe we would get.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Trend analysis.

     MR. COUILLARD:  It's a trend analysis.  It also includes that, you know, during the last collective agreement, it was negotiated a certain amount of allowance for Union members, and, you know, with experience we're expecting a higher take-up in the future.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Does golf qualify, Mr. Couillard?

     MR. COUILLARD:  I would like that to, but --

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, in your Regulatory Affairs budget that -- Mr. Warren asked about this yesterday, but I just had one clarifying question.  That's at F2, Tab 7, Schedule 1.  You have an increase of about $3-million in 2008, from 5.2 million to 8.5 -- 8.15 million, and you say that increase is mostly because of this hearing, for your 2008 costs.

     MR. COUILLARD:  The evidence is a bit -- I hate to use this word but I'll use it -- misleading, in the sense that the '07 number of $5.2-million should actually read 1.9 million higher.  And the reason for it is when we billed this application, it was approximately 1.5- to $1.9-million of costs that we were considering bringing through another proceeding, as for a variance account for some studies that we were going to perform.

     We decided to absorb these studies and not to come through a separate proceeding, and therefore, you know, when -- we know we're going to have to do some of these studies as well in the future, so they're going to carry into '08, '09, and '10; so when we do a comparative analysis, the number should not be 5.2, it should really be 7.1 to 8.15.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  7.1 for '07?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  The cost of this hearing, have you allocated it all to 2008?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, mainly, and then there are costs as well through the test year for some other initiatives which, now I remember the term "cost allocation" is one of them, as I was stumbling around that term yesterday, and I think the next panel will be able to give you a better view of all the initiatives that we include in our budget, but it includes mainly increase in headcount in consulting or outside type of opinion from experts.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So even though most of the hearing has discussed 2007, you have allocated most of the costs in 2008?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, the Regulatory Affairs budget does not only apply to this hearing; it applies to any type of work that we do with the Ontario Energy Board.  For example, we are forecasting an increase in OEB fees in the future of approximately $1.5-million from '07 to '08, so that's going to factor into there as well.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I have some questions on your revenue offsets, and I already asked about late-payment fees.

     That is Exhibit I1, Tab 1, Schedule 4.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  "Other distribution revenue" table?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  That's my first question.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Let me know when you have that.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  All right.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  You're ready?  Okay.  There are items, I guess, on lines 13, 14, and 15, or not 13.  Yes.  13, 14, and 15, you have significant decreases from '06 to '08, mostly going from -- some of that in '06, to zero in '08.  I wonder if you can explain those.

     MR. COUILLARD:  I can --

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Is it 13?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Line --

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Line 13 is interval meter telephone charges.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Prior to the introduction of Smart Meters to the whole Toronto community, we had customers that had interval meters, and they were about 2,500 customers who were paying, and they paid us the charge for the telephone line.

     Now that we've moved into Smart Meters and have telephone communications and other types of communications electronically for many different types of meters, and those -- many meters that we cannot attribute to one customer, we feel that the ratepayer now has to pay for the full charges of these communication devices, and therefore, that by 2008 they will no longer -- it will be built into the rates.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And stale-dated cheques, you have 530,000 in '06 and zero in 2008.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, stale-dated cheques were related to this credit that we had with the -- with the OPC credit.  So we had a lot of customers that were in default payment, like, long-term, that we were not able to collect.


Some of these stale-dated cheques, when we send them a cheque, obviously some of these cheques came back, and, you know, we kept the money to pay ourselves, basically, for these accounts that were long overdue.  So that's really the only thing.


There's no other major credit.  If the government gives us another $100-million credit, you know, we might be able to do some more cleanup, but a lot of that cleanup was due to long overdue accounts.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  So that was a one-time item, basically?

     And water meter reading.  You have 306,000 in '06 and zero in '08, and I think you had --

     MS. DAVIDSON:  At amalgamation, the former City of Scarborough had an arrangement with the City of Toronto to do meter reading for the City.  It was contracted out to our meter reader contractor, and we continued with that arrangement through to 2007, and have cancelled that arrangement with the City.

     It was a pass-through, because it was being -- the work was being done by a contractor.  And we cancelled that arrangement, because we're now going to be moving to time-of-use billing, so we will not -- time-of-use electronic reading -- so we will not have people going out reading those meters.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, I see; so Toronto Hydro will no longer have people going around reading the meters?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Well, not right this minute, but soon they will not have people.  We'll be reading those electronically, so we cancelled the contract, the agreement.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Thanks.

     Now I have some questions on the gain on the sale of assets that was discussed yesterday, and you'll need Exhibit I1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, page 7 -- sorry, page 8 -- and also Exhibit C2, Tab 2, Schedule 2.

     MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Mr. DeVellis, can you repeat that reference?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  The last one?  C2, Tab 2, Schedule 2.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  No, the first one.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  The first one was I1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, page 8, and the other one is C2, Tab 2, Schedule 2, page 10.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, sir.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And so if you look at C2, Tab 2, Schedule 2, page 10, you have a listing of the, I guess, your projected sales in each year?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and for '07 bridge year you have 13.148 million, and primarily by the sale of -- well, two properties, 175 Goddard and Wilson?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and you're projecting capital gains on those sales for '07 of 11.8 million?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and for '08 you have sales of $8-million, all from one property, 28 Underwriters, and capital gains of only .8 million.

     MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Can you tell me, first of all, why the decision was made to sell 175 Goddard and 1 Wilson in '07?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Because we were ready.  These ones are ready for sale.  I mean, there are things that we need to do in order to be able to sell the properties.  Like, there's some environmental assessment review, zoning, things like that, and these properties were ready to go.  They were surplus property from an operating standpoint, so they didn't need them.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  28 Underwriters was not ready?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Was not ready.  We actually moved out -- we still have some things, some little things at Underwriters.  And Underwriters is also a PCB site for us, and then we need to find a new site for PCB storage -- we're in that process right now -- before we can sell the Underwriters place.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and then -- but you've said that you proposed to share the capital gains with the ratepayers on a 50/50 basis.  But for your 2007 capital gains, that actually won't be shared with ratepayers at all; is that right?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Right now it's not included in our application.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, yesterday we looked at an interrogatory response to the Consumers Council of Canada, No. 46.  I wonder if you can pull that up.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, sir.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I just have to find it.  So that's Exhibit R1, Tab 3, Schedule 46, Appendix "A".  And -- do you have that?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, sir.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  For the Wilson and Goddard properties, you say they are not yet sold.  That was in November.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Have they been sold now?

     MR. COUILLARD:  No, we -- on the Wilson Avenue -- we had some pending offers that didn't come through.  We thought we had a transaction, and the purchaser decided not to purchase.  Some issues with zoning with the City.  So this one has not been done, and the other one has not been completed as of yet.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And so it's nearing the end of December now --

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And if they're not sold in '07, then shouldn't they be in your '08 forecast?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, you know, at the time right now, if I was -- you know, right now it's likely that these properties won't be sold until 2008.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  So then going back to your table on Table 9 in I1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, and the corresponding table at C2, Tab 2, Schedule 2, those amounts of 8 million and 2.6 million and the corresponding capital gains: those should be in 2008, shouldn't they?

     MR. COUILLARD:  If the transactions are realized in 2008, yes.  If they're not realized in 2008, they're now going to 2009, or if somebody comes with a cheque tomorrow, then I'll sell the property tomorrow.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, my question is, though, your forecast for 2008 should be changed, shouldn't it?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Not yet.  We have not finalized.  We're still in discussion with two potential buyers for these two properties.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  But you haven't sold it yet.

     MR. COUILLARD:  No.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I thought you said earlier you're likely not going to sell it in 2007, probably 2008.

     MR. COUILLARD:  It's possible.  You know, on the real-estate side, sometimes, you know, you can get a deal within, like, 24 hours, depending.  We have a lot of interested parties on both properties.  It's not like there's only one buyer we're after.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, you are not likely to close a deal -- if you sell it even tomorrow, you're not likely to close by the end of the year.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Everything has a price, Mr. DeVellis.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, so you're not proposing to change your forecast for '08 right now?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Not right now.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  In reviewing my questions for the next panel, I've noticed that I have at least one question that should go to this panel, based on the company's direction of number amounts.  So if I could maybe be permitted to tack that on right here?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Certainly.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:
MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

     I'm looking at a VECC IR, R1, Tab 6, Schedule 9, Appendix "A".  And that's page 9 of the appendix.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  It's a report on individual metering of condominiums.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  A table on that page talks about, I guess, your 2007 original revised estimates for activity in these areas?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Page 8?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that page 8?  Yes.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Is it?  I'm sorry?  Which page?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me pull that up.  Page 9.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Page 9.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  It has a breakdown of your projection, I guess, of activity in this area.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Individually metering condominium suites, and if you look at the table, it talks about the original amount and the revised amount.  My understanding is that you revised your estimates based on a change in the regulation, which has, I guess, at some point required all metering to be done by 2010?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's correct.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Elsewhere in your evidence there is actual imputed income or forecasted income with respect to specific service charges -- which is why I'm asking this here -- of several hundred thousand dollars related to the account set-ups for these meters; right?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you describe the assumptions underlying the forecast numbers of accounts and revenue that are related to this table?

     I understand, for example, as I've said, 2007, '08, '09, '10, was related specific to the regulation and what it's imposed, and the forecasts have gone down.  But I wondered if you could give a better description of how you've come to these forecast numbers, for the activity in this area.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  For the forecasts for retrofits?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I guess for bulk meter.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  For the revised?  Yes.  Yes.  There are two categories within those numbers on the revised.  There are retrofits and there are new condominiums.  I believe that the next panel may be able to speak to those more fully than I can, but let me attempt, because they did the calculations on the number of units.

     I believe, subject to check, the retrofits -- we assumed, of the retrofits, we would get a 10 percent share of the retrofits that were out in the market, and I believe with the new condominium developments that were projected that we'd get a 20 percent share.  That is subject to check, of the next panel.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  That would be the actual work of doing the conversions, or the bulk of the submetering?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes, the individual suite metering.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  But in terms of account set-up, wouldn't you get 100 percent of whatever related account set-up fees you would get for all the activity in this area?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  The initial account set-up fee?  We do not charge on the initial account set-up fee.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Okay.  It's an assumption of how many move-ins/move-outs that we have during the test periods.  We up that slightly for these condominiums.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  What I'm trying to understand is how have you forecasted the amount of condominiums that are going in between '07, '08, '09, and '10, and then presumably a portion of that year you're relating to potential, I guess it's account changes and fees related to that?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  To be very frank, I didn't bring it down to an exact science, as you're suggesting, because we are talking about 21,000 units over the three test years, which is a very minor number.  We have in the City of Toronto, for all of our 680,000 customers, about 120,000 units, or movements-out and movements-in, and so there are about 55,000 new set-up charges, so it's a much larger scale.  And so when I took into account this, it was just a minor increase in the amount.  I didn't go right down to the exact unit.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, so if I understand that correctly, the increase in specific service charges from the conversion of bulk meter apartment buildings to individually metered suites for condominiums, you have 21,000 units projected.  And 21,000 units projected is the basis for the increase in account set-up charges of -- and I'm looking at part of your evidence -- 117,000 in 2009?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  As I indicated, the initial set-up, we don't charge for.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  And you're talking about 2000 --

     MR. BUONAGURO:  It's a forecasted amount of --

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.  I've included a minor number.  Of 

3,700 we would have installed in 2008, it would have been a minor number that was put in, just projected forward.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Not specifically looking at that number, just based on past history.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  So 21,000 units over 2007, '08, '09, and '10 equals, by your estimation, 117,000 in 2009, and I think it's 273,000 in 2010, of increased revenue?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  I'm sorry, which schedule are you looking at, at this point in time?  I'm on page 9.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I'm going to have to --

     In your evidence related to specific service charges, and I'll read you the paragraph:

"In the test years 2008-2010, the increase in specific service charges is driven by the expected increase in the number of customers resulting from the conversion of bulk metered apartment buildings to individually metered suites.  THESL does not charge newly initiated accounts for account set-up –"

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Right.

     MR. BUONAGURO:

"-- but does for subsequent change of occupancy.  And it is estimated that the number of customers initiated in 2008 will result in an increase in account set-up charges of 117,000 in 2009, and similarly, the customers initiated in 2008 and 2009 will result in an increase in account set-up charges of 273,000 in 2010."

     So I understand that.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And I understand that those dollar amounts come from a projected increase in the number of customers, from this activity, of 21,000, and I'm trying to figure out how you got to the 21,000 number.  How did you project 21,000 new units as a result of submetering?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  I think, if I go back to my original testimony, that I said that we're expecting to get 10 percent of the retrofits in the City of Toronto, and that accounts for, over the test period, 15,000 units; and 20 percent of the new condominiums, and that accounts for a little over 6,000 units.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  So when you say 10 percent and 20 percent, is that of all of the condominium retrofits that are done in Toronto, you think that you personally will do 10 or 20 percent of it?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Ten percent.  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And somebody else would do the other 90 and 80?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Well, that's what the issue is.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  But there's no regulation that says right now -- originally the regulations suggested it was going to be involuntary; in other words, it was going to be mandated that condominiums be metered.  The regulations, as I understand it, that were published, the timing and the fact -- it's our opinion it's voluntary now.

     So we expect about 10 percent of retrofits, and I don't know what the other 90 percent are going to do.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  But we see what they're going to do.  The way you described it suggested to me that somebody else might come and do the submetering.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's possible.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And get the account.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's possible.  But if they do the submetering, they do the billing.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Okay.  So we won't have any form of set-up charges or any revenue that will come from that group of customers.  We'll be bulk metering that building as one customer.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So right now the picture seems to be that some buildings, from your perspective, will still be bulk metered and somebody else may come in and submeter them.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And you don't handle those accounts?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  No.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Some buildings will have a bulk meter and submetering, and you'll have done the submetering, so they'll be -- the submeters will be your accounts?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's correct.  Now, let me qualify.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


MS. DAVIDSON:  The way we're setting it up, we're not trying to go in and bulk meter.  We're going to individually meter all of the different areas within the condominium.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Okay.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Some buildings will just be bulk metered?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Correct.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's because right now the regulation doesn't require submetering?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's the opinion I've been given, yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Does this mean you're going to be competing for business in these buildings?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  I wouldn't say competing.  I would say more offering this service to the customers, if they wish to come to Toronto Hydro, and we've got it available in our conditions of service.  And the main reason for that is so that we can encourage conservation within these different units.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  But right now it looks like your offering will be compared, presumably, by consumers with other companies, other submetering --

     MS. DAVIDSON:  I would assume.  I would assume.  But when you use the term "competing", I guess that's sort of a loose term.  We are planning, as we're contacted by condominiums, and to let them know that this is available, and we're expecting to get a 10 percent take-up.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions on that.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


Any further cross-examination for this panel?


Redirect, Mr. Rodger?

     RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:
     MR. RODGER:  Yes, just one question to Mr. Priore.

I wonder if you could turn up F1, Tab 6, Schedule 5, page 1, and this was a page of the prefiled evidence that you had a discussion with, with my friend, Ms. Campbell.


And on that page there is a table 1, "Operations/administration costs" in millions of dollars, and it shows these costs increasing from the 2006 historical period of 22.3 million, increasing in the 2010 test year to 33.59 million.

     It was unclear to me in your exchange whether these increases translate into revenue requirement increases, or do the increases translate into interdepartmental transfers within THESL?  Could you clarify that, please?

     MR. PRIORE:  These are interdepartmental transfers within THESL.  I want to clarify that this operations/admin funding is an aggregation of operating costs from up to ten business units that are executing the work programs of THESL, so that there's about 700 FTEs included in this function; and these are our frontline workers, delivering our programs.  So as such, these 700 FTEs are occupying most of the buildings.  They account for over half of the company -- or almost half of the company.

     A large percentage of the fleet is allocated to these FTEs, so there's a lot of allocations that happen to support the delivery of services that these FTEs perform.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Balsillie?

QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

MR. BALSILLIE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


I'd like to refer to Exhibit R1, Tab 1, Schedule 1.17, for Ms. Davidson, please.  That's the table related to the increased costs in Smart Metering.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes?

     MR. BALSILLIE:  Yes?  Okay.  There's an original that was filed November 12th, and there's an updated blue page --

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's correct.

     MR. BALSILLIE:  -- which was filed on December the 7th.

     In the interrogatory response that Mr. DeVellis referred to this morning, and also in your testimony, it says that the $2.2-million in additional call centres is included in each of the years 2008, 2009, 2010.  But in the blue sheet, the updated sheet, it doesn't show there.


Can you explain that for me, please?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Absolutely.  If you go to my response, the response on Tab 1, at the very front-page response, we said:

"The following are the incremental increases in operating costs associated with the Smart Meter time-of-use installation for billing."

     And it's also for our Web.  And incremental is referred to as "incremental increases".  So what we were looking at, or presenting in the blue sheet, is the increase from the previous year.

     So in 2007, if I go to the call centre area of 2.2 million, in 2007 we do not have any costs in there for time-of-use, and in 2008 the incremental cost is 2.2 million.

     MR. BALSILLIE:  Right.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  And that will continue on, but there's no incremental increase in the next years.

     MR. BALSILLIE:  Okay, so then if we were to take the increased operating costs in each of the three years, then we could add those across at the bottom?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes, you could add those across at the bottom, and that would be the overall cost for 2010.

     MR. BALSILLIE:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just one question, Ms. Davidson, that appears in a couple of places in the evidence.  This, in fact, comes out of Exhibit R1, Tab 5, Schedule 11 -- oh, I beg your pardon, Schedule 12.

     Just at the bottom of page 2 of 4, there is a reference there to time-of-use rates, and I'll just -- TOU rates -- and it reads as follows:

"It is expected to increase in 2009 and 2010, due to initially higher bills from TOU rates."

     Could you tell me what underpins your expectation that TOU rates are going to be higher?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  To date, any of the -- we have a Web-based system right now, where we're looking at 50,000 customers.  And I have not looked at all of those customers, and I just looked at all those customers' bills, but we're equating what the cost of energy would be between their current bill now and the time-of-use structure.

     In many instances, I have observed that the end result, though it's minor, the cost is going to end up being higher, and I believe that assumption is valid because the core hours -- where the rates are significantly higher -- are during periods of time when many of the seniors or many people would be still continuing to use power at the same rate they were in the past.  And therefore -- and the rates on the shoulder areas that are outside areas, those rates are also higher than our current rates.

     The areas where the rates are lower on time-of-use are from -- and this is subject to check -- eleven o'clock at night to 6:00 in the morning, and I believe the rate's in the neighbourhood of 3 cents at that point, but all the other rates are higher.

     So if I take that in contrast, it really means, for someone to lower their bill initially, one to one, they have to start consuming their power between eleven o'clock and 6:00 in the morning.


So as you project that forward, we expect the initial bills to be higher, until people understand the impact of their consumption and shift it.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  All right.  There was also reference in your testimony to communication devices associated with Smart Meters and some allocation of cost to customers related to that.  Did I understand that correctly?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's correct.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Could you expand on that?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes, I can.

     The way our residential Smart Meter system works is for every 200 to 300 meters that are installed, we install a collector that collects the data from those meters, and it's continually collecting the data.

     Those collectors are hooked into our computer systems via telephone lines.  We're anticipating having in the neighbourhood of 2,500 collectors to collect for the 

66,000 customers.

     Every night we will call on those telephone lines and collect the data from the 200 to 300 customers that have gone into this collector.  There's the cost of that communication line, that telephone line, on an ongoing basis, that we will be paying Bell.

     On top of that, there are other types of meters that are using the Rogers communication radio system, and we will be charged a monthly charge for collecting data through that system -- in technical terms it's called the WAN -- if you look at the minimum functionality.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Wide area network, I think, is what that stands for.

     MS. DAVIDSON:  That's right.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Are there any questions arising?

     We'll break now until 11:30.  We'll resume with panel 7 and 8.  Thank you.

    --- Recess taken at 11:07 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:35 a.m.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Are there any preliminary matters before we swear the panel, Mr. Rodger?

     MR. RODGER:  No, sir.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Balsillie?

     THESL - PANEL 7:

     Pankaj Sardana; Previously sworn.

     Colin McLorg; Sworn.

     Darryl James Seal; Affirmed.


EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:
     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, we're ready to present the final two Toronto Hydro panels, which we're presenting on a combined basis.  This is panels 7 and 8.

Panel 7 will deal with revenue offsets, revenue requirements, and loads and customers; and panel 8: cost allocation, rate design, other regulated charges, and bill impact.

     The three members of this panel, Mr. Sardana you've already met on previous panels.  And the other two are, firstly, Mr. Darryl Seal.


And Mr. Seal, you're the manager of rates and treasury operations of Toronto Hydro Electric-System Limited?

     MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

     MR. RODGER:  And your c.v. has been prefiled as Exhibit A-1, Tab 10, Schedule 2.1?

     MR. SEAL:  Yes.

     MR. RODGER:  And Mr. McLorg, you're a manager of regulatory affairs at Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited?

     MR. McLORG:  That's correct, Mr. Rodger.

     MR. RODGER:  And your c.v. was also prefiled as Exhibit A-1, Tab 10, Schedule 2-1?

     MR. McLORG:  That's right.

     MR. RODGER:  Panel members, are you familiar with the evidence in this proceeding?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

     MR. SEAL:  Yes.

     MR. McLORG:  Yes.

     MR. RODGER:  And was it prepared by you or under your supervision and control?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

     MR. SEAL:  Yes.

     MR. McLORG:  Yes.

     MR. RODGER:  And do you adopt it as your own in evidence in this proceeding?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

     MR. SEAL:  Yes.

     MR. McLORG:  Yes.

     MR. RODGER:  Now, Mr. Sardana, if I could start with you, sir, could you please provide the Board with an overview of the revenue offsets that are contained in this application?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  And good morning, Panel.

     THESL's application has the following revenue offsets for the 2008 to 2010 test period:  26.3 million, 21.7 million, and 24.3 million respectively, for a total of 72.3 million in revenue offsets over the test period.  These numbers, of course, can be found in Exhibit I1, Tab 1, Schedule 1.

     Basically, the revenue offsets serve to mitigate the rate impacts that THESL is proposing as part of this application.

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Sardana, there have been questions and discussion on the gain on sale issue.  I wonder if you could please explain the logic underlying Toronto Hydro's proposed treatment of gain on sale.

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.  As Mr. Couillard indicated yesterday, we have proposed sharing the gain on sale of surplus properties between ratepayers and shareholders in the test years, to recognize the significant spending on facilities during this period.  This sharing is consistent with previous Board treatment in this matter.


As far as sales in the historic period that were either different from forecast amounts or which occurred in a non-rebasing year, consistent with the forward-test-year methodology, these variances are the responsibility of shareholders in either direction.  It would be unfair to recapture increases in revenue offsets without similar recognition of increased costs.

     MR. RODGER:  Now, Mr. Sardana, in your view, should the Board be concerned that the proposed treatment of gain on sale will cause utilities to, so-called, churn their facilities?

     MR. SARDANA:  No, I don't believe so.  The facilities decisions, you know, like other decisions of utilities, are driven by their own business needs and are subject to scrutiny by the Board, to the extent that they involve capital expenditures, so there is no reason to anticipate abuse by utilities in these circumstances.

     MR. RODGER:  And next to you, Mr. Seal.  Could you please describe your load forecast?

     MR. SEAL:  Certainly.  Generally, the methodology we've employed in developing our load forecast for this application is the same as the methodology that we used for our 2006 EDR forecast.


We have econometric methods that we use to forecast loads and to forecast customer numbers, and once we've used these econometric methods, we do apply forecasting judgment to the results of these models.

     Basically, this judgment is applied to account for what we think may be some of the failings or shortcomings of the model, as well as to take into account external factors that would not be in the model.

     In the case of our current forecast, the shortcomings in the model that we have seen in our modelling exercises are largely to do with the way the model forecasts shoulder months.  So we've made adjustments to affect that.

     In terms of the external factors, the two areas where we have made adjustments to our forecasts are on the basis of CDM volumes, which we have explicitly incorporated into our forecasts, as well as adjustment for the anticipated suite metering that will be occurring over the forecast period.

     So overall, our forecast takes into account both statistical methodologies and forecasting judgment, and we believe that the combination of these two has developed the best forecast for load for the test years.


And I guess as a test against that, in comparison to the historical load that we've experienced over the last seven years, our forecast is quite in line with that, with those values.

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. McLorg, turning to you next, would you please briefly describe the two new deferral accounts that Toronto Hydro is proposing in its application?

     MR. McLORG:  I will, Mr. Rodger.  Good morning, Mr. Chair and Panel Members.

     Toronto Hydro in this application is proposing the introduction of two new variance accounts.  However, I think that both of them will be familiar in concept to Board Members.

     The first concerns, really, an elaboration of a variance account that has existed in the past, and that variance account is proposed to capture costs that Toronto Hydro incurs based on OEB invoices to recover its own costs, both fixed and variable costs, as well as the OEB cost orders, in which it expresses its determination of intervenor costs awards, and, finally, the costs of studies which THESL may be directed expressly by the Board to undertake.

     In these areas, it is very difficult for Toronto Hydro to come to a reliable forecast of the dollar amounts, and therefore we are proposing variance account treatment for those.

     The second one has to do with the capital contributions that Toronto Hydro makes to Hydro One in connection with facilities that are required for Toronto Hydro's use.  And I'm sure the Chair will recall the recent decision in the Hydro One connection procedures case.


Toronto Hydro does regard the costs that will ultimately be assessed to it by Hydro One in the form of capital contributions to be difficult to estimate with precision reliably.


And very briefly, that's just driven by the fact that the underlying costs are subject to revision, and it's not clear to us, I regret to say, what exactly the ultimate regulatory treatment of these costs will be.

     I would just point out parenthetically as well that, in terms of Hydro One's overall cost recovery, just like the rest of the electric utilities in Ontario, it can be considered to be derived in two parts.  One is driven by rates, and the other part is driven by capital contributions.

     Now, the revenue that Hydro One receives from Toronto 

Hydro and the other utilities through rates is right now subject to variance account treatment through various 

subaccounts of the RSVA, and we think therefore that there is some parallel available to the Board if it were to determine, as we request it does, that the capital contributions also be subject to variance account treatment.

     In both of these areas, in our view, the key factor is that, while Toronto Hydro is subject to these costs, they are not costs which we directly manage.  Now, I'd put that in contrast to the costs that we do directly manage, such as our capital replacement program.  But in the case of both of these costs, the OEB-assessed costs and the Hydro One contributions, although they are central to our business, they are not really subject to our control in a material sense.

With respect to the last category that would be captured in this variance account, the studies that the Board may direct Toronto Hydro to undertake, it's certainly true that we'd try to shepherd the costs of those studies as diligently as we could, but nevertheless, the initial incurrence of those costs is not under our control.

     Therefore, to summarize, it's our view that neither ratepayers nor shareholders should be subject to windfall gains or losses related to these costs.

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. McLorg, what is Toronto Hydro's position on variance account treatment for distribution losses?  

     MR. McLORG:  Our position is that the existing regulatory treatment of distribution losses should be continued.  Now, that existing treatment, of course, is variance account treatment for distribution losses, and that's established under the auspices of the RSVA subpower variance account.

     We are opposed at this time to the imposition of a system of regulation for distribution losses that would impose either a fixed loss factor or -- even worse in our view -- a fixed dollar amount from which utilities would be responsible for variances.

     By way of brief background, THESL has one of the province's very lowest distribution loss factors, at just over 3 percent.  In our rate case for 2006, I had two comments to make about that.  First of all, THESL complied with the Board’s direction in its decision in that case to file a plan within 90 days that describes how THESL would propose to achieve a 5 percent reduction in its distribution losses.  So, to be clear, that's a 5 percent reduction on 3 percent.

     The Board more generally dealt with the issue of distribution losses and their regulatory treatment in that decision, and that is material that Pollution Probe itself has quoted in its cross-examination reference book.  The 

Board found in that decision that to hold utilities financially responsible for losses wasn't an appropriate approach, and that utilities should instead be directed to file studies on how they would reduce losses.

     Now, Toronto has complied with that direction.  We filed our loss study in July of 2006, and we await the 

Board's determination of how it will receive and treat that evidence.

     The regulatory treatment of losses ultimately is a generic issue, and in our view cannot be fairly determined in a single rate case or imposed on a single distributor in isolation.

     Also, we would point out that neither THESL nor any other party to this proceeding has filed any evidence on how an alternative system might actually function, and therefore the Board has no record upon which it can rely in this case.

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Seal, returning to you.  At various times during this hearing, questions have been posed regarding how Toronto Hydro treats existing rate riders and how they affect the bill impacts reported in this application.  Could you please clarify the approach that 

THESL has taken concerning these issues?

     MR. SEAL:  Yes.  I'll try.  In evaluating the overall rate impacts that are arising from our revenue requirement, and in this case our application of the cost allocation study, THESL reviews all components of their rates.

That includes the base distribution rates; it includes the rate rider impacts; and it includes the impacts of other components of a customer's total bill.

     With respect to rate riders specifically, these are mechanisms in place to recover or clear various variance and deferral accounts that the company has that contain legitimate costs that the company has either incurred or revenues that they've received.

     We currently have rate riders for regulatory assets and for Smart Meters.

     So, when we're looking at the annual rate impacts, we consider the impacts of all these components both individually and jointly.  In the current application, you'll find in Exhibit O the impacts of the distribution rates of the rate riders and of the other costs jointly and separately identified.

     As Mr. Haines indicated at the beginning of this hearing, if you're looking at a typical residential customer, a residential customer using a thousand kilowatt-hours per month, our current application has a 4 percent increase over the three years for that customer.

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Seal, the Board has recently released its report on the application of cost allocation for electricity distributors, and gave its expectations on how utilities would incorporate those findings in their applications.  How do Toronto Hydro's rate design proposals fit within the Board's policies as outlined in this recent report?

     MR. SEAL:  For the most part, our rates fall within the guidelines within those policies.  There are two cases.  In the revenue cost ratios that are described in the policy, we have two classes that are outside of those ranges: the unmetered scattered load and the street lighting classes.  In the case of the unmetered scattered load, our proposals actually do move the revenue cost ratios for that class within the Board's policy guidelines by 2010.  

     In the case of the street lighting class, our proposal does increase revenue to that customer class quite significantly, beginning in 2008, but does not move it within the policy guidelines.  However, we have outlined in our evidence our concerns with the cost allocation methodology used for the street lighting, and we feel that overall our proposal for the street lighting and for all of the rate classes is a balanced approach.

     In terms of the fixed charges, we have one class, the general service 50- to a thousand-kilowatt group, that would potentially fall outside the policy guidelines, in that the fixed charge is lower than the floor, as is shown in the cost allocation results.

     We have in our application currently proposed to combine our two -- we have two GS 50 to a thousand classes, one for interval metered customers and one for non-interval metered customers.  We have in this proposal proposed to combine those two classes.  However, in the cost allocation model, because of the complexity of the model, we have not modeled those as one class, and therefore we feel the results that come out of that cost allocation study for the fixed component may not be indicative of that one class going forward.

     In any event, we have moved the fixed portion of the rates for that class in the same manner that we have moved the fixed portion for the other classes.  So they are being treated fairly and the same as the other classes.

     We believe, based on the information that we have at this time, that this is an appropriate treatment.

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Seal, the Board has also recently directed Ontario distributors to develop new retail transmission rates which reflect its decision on Hydro One transmission rates.  And have you done this in the application that's currently before the Board?

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, we have.  We did file an update, and reflected the recent provincial transmission rates, and that information is found at Exhibit N1, Tab 1, Schedules 1, 3, and 4.

     MR. RODGER:  Finally, Mr. McLorg, there has also been discussion with earlier panels concerning Smart Meter, rate rider and rate-making treatment generally of approved Smart Meter costs.  I wonder if you could just clarify the record on these points, please.

     MR. McLORG:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.


Panel, we did feel that the topic of Smart Meters and the status of the rate-making around smart meters deserved a brief period of focus in this proceeding, and so, with your indulgence, I'll try to be as quick as possible.

     I'd like to begin by just going over the purpose and the outcome of our 2006 application with respect to Smart Meters.  You'll recall that our original application was severed by the Board, and it was treated in combination with the evidence of several other utilities in the combined Smart Meter proceeding.

     Our purpose, in filing our application, was essentially to do four distinguishable things.

The first was to clear the 2006 Smart Meter deferral account credit balance back to customers.

The second was to update 2007 rate base for the net book value at year-end of the 2006 Smart Meter investment.

The third, related to the first, was to effect the refund of the Smart Meter deferral account credit balance through a temporary rate rider to customers.

And fourthly, to effect a change in base distribution rates in 2007 to reflect the rate base update.

     Now, those were our purposes, and in terms of outcome, I'd like to go over the following.

First of all, in the combined proceeding, as a result of a lengthy examination of all the evidence that was brought, the Board approved the prudence and the cost levels incurred by THESL and most of the other utilities in that proceeding for their 2006 Smart Meter expenditures.

     The Board also approved THESL's deferral account methodology and its proposed clearance of the 2006 Smart Meter deferral account.

     The Board approved the adjustment to the 2007 rate base and rates to reflect the 2006 activity, with a portion of the capital cost reserved for future recovery.  Just to be very clear about that, a portion of the 2006 capital cost was reserved for future recovery.  That reserved portion remains as a debit balance in the 2006 Smart Meter deferral account balance.

     The timing of the combined Smart Meter proceeding was such that May 1 implementation of the rate changes that we had proposed was not possible.  Therefore, THESL implemented approved rates on November 1st, 2007 in three components.

     First of all, there was the clearance of the credit balance from the 2006 Smart Meter deferral account, over six months, ending April 30th, 2008, to our customers.

     Secondly, there was the recovery of the first six months of foregone base distribution revenue through a rate rider that expires April 30th, 2008.  So that was just to make up for the fact that we did not implement rates on May 1st.

     And finally, there was the implementation of the new base distribution rate effective November 1st, and that will continue indefinitely.

     In terms of the overall status, then, from a rate-making perspective, THESL was granted by this Board a new Smart Meter rate rider applicable to the 2007 Smart Meter deferral account, effective May 1, 2007.  That amount was 68 cents per customer per month, and that rate rider is now in effect.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think there is reference earlier to 38 cents, but it was 68 cents?

     MR. RODGER:  That's correct.

     MR. McLORG:  I actually heard 68.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I thought 68, but I think I said 38, so --


MR. McLORG::  In any event, I can confirm it is 68 cents for the record.

     THESL is maintaining the Smart Meter deferral account with those 2007 Smart Meter rate rider revenues -- a mouthful, I admit -- as well as the expenditures, as it had for 2006.


And I would like to underline that THESL is not treating the Smart Meter rate rider revenues as a capital contribution, and the Board has approved that approach on our part.

     Now, THESL intends to bring a separate application in mid-2008 to clear the 2007 and residual 2006 Smart Meter deferral account balance.  Depending on the materiality of that balance, THESL may propose to roll recovery of that amount, if it's small, into the 2009 rates.

     If it's material -- and of course, that judgment is the Board's -- then THESL would propose a November 1 rate implementation, similar to what's happened this year.

     THESL proposes in its application before you today to treat Smart Meter activity as a core distribution business activity, commencing in 2008.  And therefore, it proposes to discontinue deferral account treatment for Smart Meter expenditures and the corresponding revenues, although under our proposal they wouldn't be separately tracked, starting in 2008.

     And finally, the forecast 2007 year-end net book value of Smart Meters has been brought forward into the opening balance of that asset account and rate base for 2008.

     So we do hope that that's a helpful encapsulation of the regulatory and rate-making status of Smart Meters as it now stands.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. McLorg.  Those are all my questions, Mr. Chairman.  The panel is now available for cross-examination.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


Mr. Alexander?

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ALEXANDER:
     MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Basil Alexander, and I'm here representing Pollution Probe.  I have two areas I'd like to explore with you today.

     The first area I'd like to explore with you has to do with the distribution losses variance account, and I'll be referring to a couple of documents in the Pollution Probe cross-examination reference book.  I left extra copies on your desk there, and this was previously marked as Exhibit S4.1.  I'll wait until the Board has their copies, just in case.


Can the panel hear me?

     MR. McLORG:  Not very well.  If you could speak up a little bit, that would be helpful.  Thank you.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  I'll try a different mic.  Does that help the panel at all?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, it does.  Thank you.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  So if I could ask you to turn to Tab 6, sub-tab A in the Pollution Probe cross-examination reference book, and these are the responses to a couple of Pollution Probe interrogatories, specifically Pollution Probe Interrogatory 7.1.


On the first page, which is page 10 of the reference book, it has the total system losses; correct?

     MR. McLORG:  That's right.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  And on the next page it's got the -- the numbers that I'm concerned about is the total purchased energy in gigawatt hours; correct?

     MR. McLORG:  That's right.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  We've done some calculations on the first page, and we've expressed, using these numbers, the system losses as a percentage of total purchased energy for those years listed.


Are you willing to take that subject to check?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, we are, thank you.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Looking at the cumulative period for the nine years here, it looks like the average distribution loss has been about 3 percent; correct?

MR. McLORG:  Agreed.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Can you tell me what is Toronto Hydro's status quo line loss factor for rate setting purposes?

     MR. McLORG:  There are several loss factors that are ultimately accumulated into a total loss factor for our rate-setting purposes.

     The total loss factor incorporates Toronto's own distribution system loss factor, which is quoted here, as well as the upstream loss factors on the transmission system.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  So what's the number?

     MR. McLORG:  3.7 or thereabouts, according to my best memory.  Percent, I should say.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Can you tell me what the proposed line loss factors are for 2008, 2009, and 2010?

     MR. McLORG:  We don't propose any change to the line loss factors.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  So you're using 3.7 percent again or thereabouts, approximately?

     MR. McLORG:  That's correct.

     MR. SEAL:  Can we just have a minute, Mr. Alexander?

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Of course.  

     --- Witness panel confers.

     MR. McLORG:  Mr. Alexander, I stand corrected, I'm sure not for the last time.

Mr. Seal has pointed out that my recollection of 3.74 may be off, and it may be that our total loss factor is now 3.56 or thereabouts.  But it is a simple matter to determine by looking at our 2007 tariff, which unfortunately I don't have in front of me.

     I would like to confirm that we are not proposing any change to the total loss factor.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Can I get an undertaking as to what the amount is?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Can I have an undertaking number, please?

     MR. FAYE:  T6.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.4:  TO PROVIDE TOTAL LOSS FACTOR, YEARS 2008 THROUGH 2010.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Regardless of the number, the number does seem to be higher than the 3.0 percent that's listed on page 10 of the reference book; correct?

     MR. McLORG:  Well, if it's helpful to clarify, there's a distinction between the total loss factor and Toronto's own distribution system loss factor.  The distribution system loss factor, we propose no change in.  We propose no change in the upstream loss factors.

     So the 3 percent or thereabouts that Toronto experiences as its own distribution system loss factor is a component of the larger total or overall loss factor.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Can I get a number, then, for the distribution loss factor rather than the total?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, we'll include that in the same undertaking, if that is agreeable with the panel.

     MR. SEAL:  Sorry, Mr. Alexander.  I think you will find it in our Exhibit K1, Tab 7, Schedule 3, which has our forecast loss factors for 2008, ‘09, and ‘10.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Do you know what the number is?

     MR. SEAL:  The distribution loss factor is 3.1 percent.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  And that's for each of those three years?

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  And what's that number, then, for -- relative to the current number, what is the current number?

     MR. SEAL:  As Mr. McLorg indicated, we have not changed our approved loss factors, our current approved loss factors.  So the current approved is 3.1.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Now, can you tell me how you determined that number?  Is it an average of three years or is it just the same number you use carrying forward?

     MR. SEAL:  Can you clarify the question, please, 

Mr. Alexander?

     MR. ALEXANDER:  The distribution loss number that you've just given me.

     MR. SEAL:  For the forecast?

     MR. ALEXANDER:  For the forecast.  How did you determine the number?  Is it just, you used the previous last year's number or did you use an average of three years?  What was the methodology you used to come up with that?

     MR. SEAL:  We did look at our historical losses, which you've indicated in your handwriting in the interrogatory, and we've shown in Exhibit -- bear with me for a moment.

     I can't seem to find the exact exhibit right now, but it is based on historical.  We looked at our historical loss factors, and they have been fairly constant over the last five years.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  I'm just looking at the numbers that are here.  You've told me that it's 3.1.  Just looking at the calculation that we did on page 10, it doesn't look like it's been 3.1 percent since 2001, so I'm trying to figure out why the number is 3.1 percent.

     MR. McLORG:  Well, perhaps it would be helpful to point out that because of the existing regulatory treatment of distribution, and for that matter other losses, the 3.1 is not meant to be an empirical, exact estimate of losses.  It is a reference point for use in calculating the balances in the variance account, the RSVA subpower.

     So the exact level or magnitude of the loss factor is a little bit immaterial, because all it will do is cause the balances in the variance account to fluctuate.

     Now, we would be concerned if those balances tended to be trending upward or downward.  We'd like the estimate that we have for the variance account purpose to be as unbiased as possible.  But in monitoring that, there's been no movement in the balance this year that's of concern to us.  

Just to reiterate, then, it's not meant to be literally a forecast of our actual experience in a given year.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  If I could ask you to turn to sub-tab C in Tab 6, this is an excerpt from the decision in THESL's 2006 rates case, EB-2005-0421, and this is the section with respect to line losses.

I'm just going to read paragraph 3.4.4 to give some context:

"A number of parties have argued that there is no incentive for Toronto Hydro to reduce its losses.  That is because Toronto Hydro proposes a variance account, and any variance between actual and forecasted losses will be accommodated in that account.  Toronto Hydro will not be at risk if it does not achieve any of its goals with respect to the line loss reduction."

     Now, as I understand it, Toronto Hydro is proposing to have a distribution losses variance account for 2008 to 

2010; correct?

     MR. McLORG:  That's correct.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  What I want to try to understand is the impact that would occur if this wasn't a variance account.

Let's assume, for example, that the actual distribution losses were one tenth of a percentage point greater than the factor that is used in the amounts.  Under that scenario, can you tell me what would be the percentage point reduction in Toronto Hydro's after-tax return on equity if the Board did not approve a distribution losses variance account?

     MR. McLORG:  It would be a very difficult calculation to make, and you would have to be a little bit more specific about your question, Mr. Alexander, because a difference in the percentage is not directly translatable into a difference in quantity unless you tell us how much power we expect to distribute.

     It's only with the absolute dollar amount that we could translate a remote effect, the one that you posit, for an increase in the loss factor, actually experienced, into a corresponding decline in ROE.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Can you do it using your forecast, the forecast you've provided?  Load forecast, the load forecast?

     MR. McLORG:  Well, if I understand you correctly, what we would do in that calculation is say, what is one-tenth of 1 percent of our forecast energy throughput, and then we'd need your guidance as to how to value that, and that would be written off by Toronto Hydro after taxes.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  That's what we're looking for.

     MR. McLORG:  So what's the value for that commodity?

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Whatever your forecast is for the value of the commodity.

     MR. McLORG:  I think we could make that calculation.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Could you give me an undertaking to that effect?

     MR. McLORG:  Certainly.

     MR. FAYE:  T6.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.5:  CALCULATE THE IMPACT ON RETURN ON EQUITY OF A 0.1% DIFFERENCE IN DISTRIBUTION LINE LOSSES.
MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  My final question for this area is:  Would Toronto Hydro strongly object to a proposal to eliminate its distribution loss variance account for 2008?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, I would.  And we consider this matter to have been settled by the Board in the 2006 decision.

     In your own cross-examination reference book, you extract pages from the EB-2005-0421 decision, and under the same tab you just referred us to, it's page 14 of the book, flowing over to page 15.

     I'll read the part that you didn't, which begins at 3.4.6:

"Pollution Probe and GEC argue that there has to be an incentive to reduce line losses.  The only concrete plan advanced was to eliminate the variance account.  That simply puts the utility at risk.  The Board believes that may not provide a complete solution, because the utility may simply adjust the forecast upward to provide enough cushion and is unlikely to exceed the line loss forecast."

     And I'm turning the page:

"The better view, in the Board's opinion, is to require utilities to file a plan to reduce losses.  If the plan fails to forecast any reduction in line losses, it can be subject to scrutiny and may or may not be accepted by the Board."

     The paragraph goes on, and I invite you to read it, but in any event, the simple truth is that the Board already decided against the elimination of the variance account.  It directed Toronto Hydro to file a plan in accordance with its findings.  Toronto Hydro filed the plan, and we stand ready to defend the conclusions and the position put forward in that plan.

     Essentially, they were that as a matter of good utility practice, we are constantly improving our equipment.  And if the Board would like us to undertake measures that do not pass TRC cost-effectiveness testing in an effort to further reduce losses, we are prepared to do that, provided that we have express direction from the Board, and cost recovery of the expenses involved.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Do you agree with me, though, that this decision was the 2006 rates case, correct?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, I think I just quoted that to you.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  The remainder of paragraph 3.4.7 talks a little bit about other things, and one of the things that is mentioned here is, in short, line losses need to be considered on a utility-specific basis -- skipping a sentence -- and:

"The results must be measured and examined as part of the regulatory process.  It is no longer acceptable to ignore the issue, because the problem is complex.  The costs to the province-wide distribution system are too great.  Millions of dollars are at stake."

     Correct?

     MR. McLORG:  That's correct.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  And I think we can leave the rest for argument at this stage.

     I'd like to move on to my other area I'd like to explore with you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Alexander, I propose to break sharply at 12:30.  Now, unless it's more convenient for you for us to break now in order to have continuity in your cross-examination -- how would you prefer to proceed?  Do you think you might be able to --

     MR. ALEXANDER:  I think I might be able to finish very close to 12:30.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In which case, proceed.  Thank you.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  The other area I'd like to explore is with respect to the fixed monthly charges, and I'd like you to turn to Tab 10 in the Pollution Probe cross-examination reference book, Exhibit S4.1, sub-tab A.


This is an excerpt from the report of the Board on the application of cost allocation for electricity distributors that recently came out, EB-2007-0667, dated November 28th, 2007.

     If I turn to the second page under the tab, page 22 in the cross-examination reference book, under Section 4.2.1, "lower bound for the monthly service charge".  I'm just going to read out the underlined sections here:

"The discussion paper proposed that the floor for the monthly service charge be the avoided costs."


Skipping a sentence:

"These are costs defined as meter-related, billing, and collection costs.  The Board remains of the view that the use of avoided costs as defined in the methodology is an appropriate basis for establishing the minimum or floor amount for the monthly service charge at this time."

     And if I could read a section from the next section, 4.2.2, "upper bound for the monthly service charge", the section in the second paragraph under there:

"The appropriateness of the methodologies cited above, used to set the monthly service charge, is an issue that will be examined within the scope of the rate review.  The rate review will also examine the role of rate design in achieving various objectives, including conservation of energy."

     So given this context, you would agree with me that the Board's review of rate design for electricity distributors is currently underway, correct?

     MR. McLORG:  That's right.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  If I have you turn to sub-tab B, under the same tab, Tab 10, this is an excerpt from Toronto Hydro's evidence, the 2008 cost allocation, Exhibit L1, Tab 2, Schedule 11-1, page 1; correct?

     MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Under the customer unit cost per month, for avoided cost, the amount for residential service is $6.12; correct?

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  And the amount for the small-volume general service, which is general service under 50 kilowatts, is $12.50, correct?

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  And then if I move down the table a little bit, the fixed monthly service charges for these customers is significantly higher.  For residential it's $12, and for the small-volume general service it's $16.07; correct?

     MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  Those are the 2007 rates.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Now, as I understand what you're proposing, you're proposing to increase the monthly service charges for residential to -- the fixed monthly service charges for residential -- to $14.85 per month in 2008, $16.85 per month in 2009, and $18.14 per month in 2010; correct?

     MR. SEAL:  That sounds correct.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Similarly, for the small-volume general service monthly service charge, Toronto Hydro is proposing to increase the fixed monthly charge to $19.37 in 2008, $21.44 per month in 2009, and $22.84 per month in 2010; correct?

     MR. SEAL:  Without turning up the pages, I'll take that subject to check.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  That's fine with me.

     Now, you would agree with me that, everything else being equal, a higher fixed monthly service charge would result in a lower distribution volumetric rate per kilowatt-hour, correct?

     MR. SEAL:  When we design our rates, our rates are designed to recover the costs allocated to that rate class.  So by definition, if we do increase the fixed component of that rate, then there will be an offsetting reduction in the variable component of that rate.

     MR. VLAHOS:  That's a "yes", Mr. Seal, isn't it?

     MR. SEAL:  That is a "yes".

     MR. ALEXANDER:  So one of the results of that is, everything else again being equal, a higher fixed monthly service charge will reduce a consumer's financial incentive to conserve electricity, correct?

MR. SEAL:  Yes.  I believe so.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Now, as I understand the evidence that has come out, there are about 300,000 apartment and condominium units in Toronto that are currently on bulk metering, but that could be individually metered.  Is that fair?

     MR. SEAL:  I'm not sure of that number.  Perhaps you can point me to where that is in evidence.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  It was mentioned during the transcript yesterday, on December 10th, Volume 5, at about page 17.  

There's reference to a report that says, by Mr. Faye:

"A search of our banner customer information system suggests that close to 300,000 existing condominium suites may be candidates to have individual metering installed."

     MR. McLORG:  Mr. Alexander, I'm sure for purposes of discussion we're prepared to take that.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  All right.  We can say --

     MR. McLORG:  In view of the Board's desire to break at 

12:30.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, don't hurry on our account.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  I'm nearly there.

     You would agree with me, therefore, that higher fixed monthly service charges would make it less attractive financially for existing bulk metered apartment and condominiums to switch to individual metering; correct?

     MR. SEAL:  I don't want to give a long answer, but I think there are a lot of other considerations that might come into play.  In isolation all by itself, perhaps.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Everything else being equal, you would agree with that?

     MR. SEAL:  In the absence of any other things at play.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  The final question I have is:  Would 

Toronto Hydro object to a Board decision to freeze its monthly service charges for residential and small-volume general service customers until the Board has completed its rate design review proceeding?  The reason why I ask that question -– there are two reasons.

     The first is, the CEO of Toronto Hydro has stated that 

DSM is the preferred solution to meet Toronto's electricity needs, and the Board has not yet completed its rate design review for electric LDCs.  So I would like to get your views on that.

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, we would reject freezing our fixed rates.  In our application we have attempted to reflect the considerable effort that went into developing the cost allocation study.  We have done our best to move rates in line with the results that we are seeing from the cost allocation study, and our proposal stands as it is, based on that, so we would reject fixing them.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Until the rate design review proceeding was completed?

     MR. SEAL:  With respect to that, our view is that it's uncertain as to the timeframes around that rate design review, for one.  We know the cost allocation process took multiple years before there was anything concrete that came out of that.  At this point, I don't see the value in waiting until the results of that rate review, since we don't know when it's going to be, we don't know what the results might be.

     I think that our proposals reflect a balanced approach to reflecting the results of the cost allocation study.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, witness panel.  Those are my questions, and unless the Board has any questions for me.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Not at this point, Mr. Alexander.  We appreciate that.

The Board will break until 1:45.  Thank you.

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:50 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Are there any preliminary matters before we begin?  Mr. Rodger?

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Just one.  I've handed to Mr. Faye multiple copies of the Response to Undertaking T3.6.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. RODGER:  And that was the only matter I had, sir.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. FAYE:  We have two matters, Mr. Chair.


Mr. Alexander's cross this morning involved a set of exhibits, and we neglected to give that an exhibit number, and --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't think so.  It had already been designated, Mr. Faye.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then I think the only one outstanding will be the exhibits for VECC.  Are they already given a number?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe that's the School Energy Coalition.

     MR. FAYE:  School?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, and I was going to introduce this at the beginning of my cross, but I suppose we could do it now.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Why don't we wait until then, Mr. Faye?

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that might be appropriate.

     Who's next with respect to the cross-examination?  Mr. Warren?

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:
     MR. WARREN:  Mr. McLorg, my questions are exclusively for you, and only because various of your colleagues have punted a number of questions to you, and you're the last guy left standing.

     I want to ask --

     MR. McLORG:  I'm sorry, Mr. Warren, we're having difficulty.

     MR. WARREN:  You're having difficulty hearing or just having difficulty?

     MR. McLORG:  Hearing.  I'm often not sure.

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. McLorg, I don't know that you need to turn up these references, but I'll give them to you; and these are preliminary, if you'll bear with me, to the question I have to put to you, but in transcript Volume 3 -- and again, I don't know that you need to turn it up; feel free to if you wish -- at page 153 and following, I had an exchange with your colleague, Mr. Jamal, about the recalculation of the depreciation figures on the Smart Meters, which resulted in a reduction in the revenue requirement of $2.8-million.

     Do you remember that exchange I had with him?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, I do.

     MR. WARREN:  On page 154, again of transcript Volume 3, I had another exchange with Mr. Jamal in which I began by putting to him the contents of Exhibit R, Tab 1, Schedule 4.1, Exhibit (sic) "B".


If you'll recall, that exhibit, Mr. McLorg, was the one in which Toronto Hydro had projected its actual versus forecast rate of return for the period covered by the application.  Do you remember that?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, I do.  Actual versus allowed?  Was that the one?

     MR. WARREN:  Right, and Mr. Jamal said: well, that's going to change on the basis of some financial information that had been filed that morning.  Do you remember that exchange I had with Mr. Jamal?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, I do.

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the third thing was that in -- again in transcript Volume 3 -- and this is at page 176.  And this is an exchange that I had with your colleague, Ms. Davidson, in which I put to her, for purposes of cross-examination, the differences in 2006 between the forecast and the actual expenditures on Smart Meters.


Do you remember that exchange I had with her?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, I do.

     MR. WARREN:  Okay, and at page 178 of the transcript, I had the following exchange with Ms. Davidson.  I said:

"Ms. Davidson, I don't want to put words into your mouth, but the question I asked is that the forecast numbers will be embedded in rates even if the numbers are wrong, and your answer to that question is, 'Yes, correct.'"

     Answer from Ms. Davidson:

"Those are the numbers that we're using to put into our rates."

     Do you remember that exchange I had with Ms. Davidson?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, I do.

     MR. WARREN:  The next reference I wanted to make for you was an undertaking response, which has been filed -- and for the record, it is Undertaking T3.3 -- and this arises from an undertaking given on the transcript of December 6th at page 92.  And the response is:

"For 2007, THESL budgeted 75 FTE new hires.  As of December 6th, 2007, THESL had hired 41 FTEs, new hires.  No additional new hires are scheduled for 2007.  The balance of the 2007 FTE new hires will be hired in 2008."

     Now, I draw two conclusions from those exchanges which I've put to you, Mr. McLorg, and I'll put those conclusions to you to see if you agree with them.

     The first conclusion is that -- and believe me, there is no criticism intended by this observation -- but the observation I get is that, like any other utility, your actuals deviate from your budget from time to time; is that fair?

     MR. McLORG:  It certainly is.

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And in your own planning process -- and this is an exchange I had with your -- I apologize if I've got his title wrong -- Mr. Haines is chief executive officer, THESL -- in an exchange I had with Mr. Haines, that your own budget planning process, which is in evidence in this case, allows for those changes, in the sense that you begin your annual budgeting process by comparing the experience of the previous year based against what you'd forecast for the previous year, correct?

     MR. McLORG:  I think that's correct, although I'd put the emphasis on the experience of the previous year.

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I was struck this morning, just immediately before the lunch break, in an exchange you had with Mr. Alexander, in which you were talking about line losses.


And in Exhibit S4.1 -- I don't really know that you need to turn it up; it's this book of materials -- he pointed you to the decision with reasons in April of 2006 in your EDR application for 2006.


He put to you the portion of the decision which appears at page 20 and 21, dealing with the question of whether or not there ought to be a variance account for line losses.

     As I understood the exchange, and as I understand the transcript, Toronto Hydro's position in that case was that a variance account was necessary because, absent that, Toronto Hydro would be at risk.


Have I understood that position fairly?

     MR. McLORG:  I wouldn't agree with that, Mr. Warren -- that is, your statement that you've understood it fairly -- because I think that that only conveys a part of Toronto Hydro's thinking.

     So I don't disagree with it per se, but I would say that Toronto Hydro is perfectly prepared to be at risk for the elements of its business which it considers to be core and which it manages.  Toronto Hydro does not wish to be at risk for elements in the business environment that it is subject to but can't effectively manage.

     MR. WARREN:  Toronto Hydro doesn't want to be at risk for things it can't control.  Fair enough?

     MR. McLORG:  That's a better way of saying it than --

     MR. WARREN:  Okay, and in like fashion, if I put to you that ratepayers don't want to be at risk for things they can't control -- for example, the variances between actuals and budgeted within Toronto Hydro -- that's a fair proposition, isn't it?

     MR. McLORG:  I think that's a fair proposition.

     MR. WARREN:  All of which is in aid of asking the question, with respect, for example, to Smart Meters:  Is Toronto Hydro prepared to accept in the Board's decision a variance account for the difference between actual and forecast spending, for example, with respect to Smart Meters?

     MR. McLORG:  On narrow grounds, of course, unless there were some fault in the decision, Toronto Hydro would accept the Board's decision.  But Toronto Hydro certainly would oppose that outcome.


And the reason is that we consider Smart Meter activity, Smart Meter investment, Smart Meter deployment, all to be core business within THESL now.  As you've seen, we propose that that business be carried on in the same manner as the rest of our core business, and that core business is not subject to variance account treatment.

     I hope this is a helpful answer, and if it's too technical please let me know.  But of course we would, other things equal, accept the decision of the Board, but we would certainly not welcome it, and we would argue in the other direction.

     MR. WARREN:  I presume if I asked you the same question with respect to your sustaining capital budget, you would be prepared to accept -- and I'm not asking the technical question, will you accept what the Board says.  We'll all accept what the Board says, and do so with a smile on our face.  The question is, do I take it you would oppose having a variance account for your sustaining capital budget, notwithstanding it proposes very significant increases in spending over the next three years?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, we would oppose a variance account for the sustaining capital budget.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, let me ask you this.  What is the risk to Toronto Hydro from having a variance account -- sorry, let me step back and premise it.

     Let's suppose, in theory, that the Board were to say:  "We accept the need for the level of capital investment that you forecast over the next three years."  What is the risk to Toronto Hydro, given that assumption?  If there were a variance account and the Board were to say, "But we want to check, on an annual or semi-annual or whatever the period basis, to see if your actuals meet the forecast," what's the risk to Toronto Hydro in doing that?

     MR. McLORG:  The risk would attach to the manner in which we conduct our business.  The point that I think was  being made by Mr. Haines, for example, is that Toronto Hydro is very, very desirous of making a full and frank case to the Board about its plans.  It's very, very desirous to obtain from the Board a discrete ruling on its proposals and then to go ahead and carry out the work that is involved in the plan.

     The change in the business environment for us that would attend a variance account for sustaining capital expenditures, for example, would be the regulatory overhead that would be involved in the evidentiary requirements necessary to portray and discuss and eventually clear a variance account on -- I'm horrified for you to note -- even a semi-annual basis, or certainly an annual basis, so that our energies and our focus would be diverted from carrying out the plan.  

The second point I'd like to make in this area is that I would certainly grant your point on narrow grounds, that it's very difficult to see how Toronto is at an increased risk financially from the existence of a variance account.  That couldn't be true, and I agree with you on that point.

     But I don't agree that a variance account would serve a useful purpose in keeping both Toronto Hydro and ratepayers whole over the course of this plan, on account of the fact that, as you've heard from our previous rate base and O&M witnesses, although plans and financial results and so on can be parsed into calendar periods, like years or quarters, the actual build that's involved in our plan is a continuous process.  It's subject to pushes and pulls from outside influences and so on.  So if we, in a thought experiment, say, "Let's have a look at your progress and your spending and your accomplishment at the end of year one," it may very easily be the case that we would be ahead of our planned expenditures, and could therefore maybe present a case for a debit balance in a variance account and clear after that first year a charge to customers, because we happen to be ahead by a few tens of millions of dollars on our capital plan because of good weather, because of co-operation with other external utilities, and so on, all those things.

     It would not represent an overachievement on Toronto's part to be in that position.  It's part of the regular course of construction business that you're going to have pluses and minuses, in a reasonable range, as you go throughout the course of your project.

     So the advantage that would be gained is, I think, minor compared to the regulatory overhead that would be experienced by everyone.  And I don't mean to harp on a point, I really don't, but I do want to emphasize something that may not be obvious to the people in this room, and that is that it really is tremendously involving for Toronto Hydro to put a rate case, or for that matter even a defence of its capital plan at time "T", in front of the Board.  We take it very seriously.

     But, you know, I was thinking about this last night, and it occurred to me that for Toronto Hydro to come to the Board with a case is that’s like, you know, pulling your toboggan to the top of a long hill with all your kids on it, except it's the summertime.  It's a very difficult thing to do, and it distracts us a lot from the things that we have to do otherwise.  So that's, I think, in an admittedly long response -- I'm sorry about that -- the risk that Toronto Hydro is at.

     MR. WARREN:  The risk, I take it, if I can parse your answer, is that it is time-consuming and costly for Toronto Hydro to account to the Board in two categories of pending.  One is sustaining capital, and the other is Smart Meters.  

Is that fair?  Is that what your answer is?

I'm not talking about a full rate case.  I'm talking about accounting to the Board in two categories of spending.  That's too time consuming and expensive?  Is that your answer?

     MR. McLORG:  I don't think the peer accounting is a difficulty, but I think the explanation of our status at a particular point in time would be, in our view, a sort of unnecessary and unproductive regulatory overhead.

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. McLorg, just finally in the context of this exchange, I wonder if you could turn up, please, the first of the confidential exhibits that was filed in the case as S1.1, and I'm not going to deal with numbers.  This is the business plan.

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Warren, the panel itself does not have a copy of that.

     MR. WARREN:  I wonder if I could read to you portions of it.

     MR. SARDANA:  That would be fine with me.

     MR. WARREN:  And I'm sure that if I've got it wrong, then your counsel will tell me that I've got it wrong.  I'm looking at Exhibit S1.1, and the first reference I want to make is on page 2 and slide 4.  This is the 2006 achievements for the corporation as a whole, THC, and the first bullet item is:

"Outstanding financial results exceed shareholder dividend expectation."

Do you see that?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, I do.

     MR. WARREN:  And then if I go to the next page, on slide 5, THESL says that:

"One of its achievements is it delivered capital programs below costs with higher units completed."

     And the third reference I wanted to make to you, and you don't need to turn it up, it's the one that Mr. Jamal and I were talking about, which is the comparison of forecast and budgeted return on equity over the next three years, in which for two out of the three years you're forecasting what I would term overearnings.

     The reason I put those three propositions to you is:  Does that not leave the Board with the impression that there is not just an incentive within THESL, but a policy within THESL to spend less than it budgets?  Is that not the case?

     MR. McLORG:  No, I would not agree with that, and I know that may cause you to raise your eyebrows, but I'll try to be brief in my explanation.

     Could I just point out that in your second reference, the point actually reads:

"Delivered capital programs below expected costs with higher units completed."

     So I would like to point out that there was not a deficiency in our completion of a capital program.  You know, I don't want at all to be coy with you, Mr. Warren, and try and deny an obvious proposition, which is, all other things being equal, on a textbook basis, if a utility is awarded in its costs of service a certain number of dollars representing the revenue requirement for a rate base investment, and then it does not make that rate base investment, that for that rate period it wouldn't realize some excess revenues.  And I think that that's very plain, and I wouldn't for a moment deny that.

     So the substance of my answer to you is really twofold.

One is we are not in the very least ashamed of trying to beat our own targets, and that includes trying to find better -- and sometimes that means cheaper -- ways of doing the same thing.


And so, you know, from our perspective, we don't take a week out of the year and put -- you know, stand in a circle and say, "How can we do things cheaper?"  It's a thing that we do, you know, really seven days a week, and therefore, it's a smooth, organic process of productivity improvement.


And that can lead to results that we are proud of, such as the one you mentioned:  "Delivered capital programs below expected costs with higher units completed."


Now, the other thing, though, is that -- and this is a very general point --  I think that we have certainly tried as much as we can to make clear to all the stakeholders and to the Board that we have a long-term plan that we are proposing here.

     We are in this for the long-term, and our success in doing this very much depends on bringing the Board and bringing stakeholders to a level of confidence in THESL that will allow them to, you know, approve our plans, with oversight, and to see us execute those plans.

     So it would be an extremely poor policy strategy for Toronto Hydro to deliberately overstate its capital program, make a promise that it can't keep, and then fail to deliver.  Our only hope is that we would cross our fingers and hope that no one noticed the next time around.

     We obviously do not make that assumption about any of you or any of the Board members.  We expect to be fully accountable for our results.


So in a long-term strategy, which is what's involved with this, we want as much as possible to make a promise and to keep that promise, almost exactly.

     MR. WARREN:  You certainly won't be publicly accountable if the relief you've sought is granted.  You won't be publicly accountable for the next three years.  We can agree on that, right, Mr. McLorg?

     MR. McLORG:  There won't be a rate case for the next three years.

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. McLorg, I'm going to put a proposition to you, and I'm going to do it in the spirit of fairness, because I'd like to be fair to you so that you can get your answer on the record, rather than simply dealing with it in argument.  My proposition, I guess as a matter of public policy, is this:  For the largest municipal electric distribution utility in this province, is it not in the public interest that we optimize transparency, so that your ratepayers can see what it is that their utility is doing?  Is that not an important public policy goal?

     MR. McLORG:  I would agree with the word "optimize".  I would not agree with, necessarily, with the word "maximize".

     MR. WARREN:  My final question to you, Mr. McLorg, is premised on your being a very experienced person in the regulatory field.  You've been in the regulatory field for a number of years, probably longer than I have.

     I want to know, from your experience, if there's a precedent for the following circumstance.  As I understand it, Toronto Hydro is asking for relief for its Smart Meter expenditures, without yet having entered into a contract to acquire the Smart Meters for the next period of time.


Have I got the facts right?  That contract has not yet been entered into, right?

     MR. McLORG:  I believe the process of contract formation has begun.  I don't believe that the contract has been entered into, so you're right.

     MR. WARREN:  Based on your experience, can you point me to any precedent where this Board has approved the cost consequences of a contract without seeing the terms of that contract and without knowing that it's been entered into?  Can you point me to a precedent, Mr. McLorg?

     MR. McLORG:  I think generally, Mr. Warren, there are two points I'd make in response.

     The first is, in the ordinary course of business, Toronto Hydro enters into all kinds of contracts, the particular terms and conditions of which aren't known to the Board.  And it's not because they're a secret, it's just that it's too mundane for the Board to deal with on a day-to-day basis.

     But I think more as the point, as far as your question is concerned, I am certain that we are not asking the Board to approve the terms and conditions of a contract that it has not seen yet.

     One of the things that we are attempting to accomplish in bringing into the core of our distribution business the Smart Meter activity, is the ownership of that ourselves, and we have put before the Board a forecast of our activity and our costs, and we stand by that forecast.

     MR. WARREN:  I just want to make sure that you and I are ad idem what I'm asking and what you've answered.  There is a forecast in the capital budget for amounts to be spent on Smart Meters over the course of the next three years; correct?

     MR. McLORG:  That's right.

     MR. WARREN:  And that those forecasts are based on certain assumptions you are making about a contract which you haven't yet entered into, correct?

     MR. McLORG:  I think that's fair, although I wasn't personally involved in those negotiations.

     MR. WARREN:  So am I right that Toronto Hydro is asking the Board to approve the cost consequences of a contract it hasn't yet entered into?  Have I got those facts correctly?

     MR. McLORG:  I think I see the slant of your question:  Without having the contract in hand, what is the basis of our forecast of costs?

     MR. WARREN:  No, I just had a very narrow question.  Are you asking the Board to approve the cost consequences of a contract that you haven't yet entered into?  "Yes" or "no"?

     MR. McLORG:  Well, no, we are not, if I understand you correctly.

     MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, sir.


I wonder if I might be excused, sir.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, Mr. Warren.  Thank you.


Mr. Buonaguro?

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:
     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Let's start with some other revenue questions, and I have two questions which I think I should have asked panel 3, but even if I had asked panel 3, I think that they may have required undertakings anyway.  So I'll put them to this panel, and you can pass it along to anybody on panel 3 who should have answered the questions the first time around.

     The first question is with respect to pole attachments, and the reference is Exhibit I1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, table 2.  And it sets out the specific service charges forecast -- or historical and forecast for pole attachments.

     My question simply is if I can get an updated number for 2007 actuals within the bridge year.  Right now it's 5.3, so I'd like to know what the actual is to date, and what the forecast is to the end of the year.

     MR. SEAL:  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro, can you please give us that reference again?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  I1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, and it's table 2.

     MR. SEAL:  On page --

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Or is it table 3?

     MR. SEAL:  Table 3.

     MR. McLORG:  Table 3.

     --- Witness panel confers.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I have these cut out of the stuff and put into my notes, so it may have -- Is that right?

     MR. SEAL:  Well --

     MR. BUONAGURO:  The numbers I have are approved 2006 EDR, 5.4; 2006 historical, 4.3; 2007 bridge, 5.3.

     MR. McLORG:  Those are specific service charges, as distinct from pole attachments.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

     MR. SARDANA:  Table 3 of that same schedule, Exhibit 

I1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, table 3 specifically refers to pole attachments.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Could I get the update for the 2007 in that table?

     MR. SEAL:  For which table then, exactly?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Table 3.

     MR. SEAL:  The pole attachments?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

     MR. SEAL:  That is what you're interested in?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

     MR. SEAL:  Okay, we'll have to take that as an undertaking, then.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Faye?  Could we give that an undertaking number, please?

     MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chair, we have T6.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.6:  TO PROVIDE SPECIFIED CHARGES AS DISTINCT FROM POLE ATTACHMENTS, TABLE 3.

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Faye, we couldn't hear you here either.

     MR. FAYE:  T6.6.

     MR. McLORG:  Mr. Buonaguro, just by way of a brief comment, and I hope it's helpful, the rate for pole attachments was set by the Board, and that rate has not changed.

     The number of poles in our system that carry attachments is pretty much known by us, so the magnitude of any change I would expect at this point to be very, very small.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess that will be reflected in the undertaking; right?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, I certainly think so.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  The second one like this -- the reference is I1, Tab 1, Schedule 4 of the distribution revenue, table 1.

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, I have that.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm looking in particular at number 11 on the table, "duct rental", and there are three questions.  For 2006 there's a number 4,795 for duct rental, then a reduction, then a further reduction, 2007.  I understand that part of the reduction has to do with a change in the rate.

The first question is how is the rate approved?

     --- Witness panel confers.

     MR. SEAL:  I think we'll have to take an undertaking.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, I expect that you would.  Sorry for doing it this way.

MR. FAYE:  T6.7.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.7:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ON HOW RATE APPROVED/CHANGES IN ACTIVITY LEVEL/NUMBER OF RENTERS THAT ARE RELATED PARTIES, AFFILIATES, TABLE 3.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And as part of that same undertaking 

-- I'll just keep going and put it all in that undertaking -- if I can get an explanation for any change in the activity level, so not just the rate changing but activity levels, in terms of how many sales of rental -- I don't know how you would describe it, but how many rentals year over year there were.  So is it not just the rate changing but is the number of people actually renting changing in these years, 2006, 2007, 2008.

     MR. SEAL:  Okay.  We can add that.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And lastly, how many of the renters are related parties or affiliates.

     MR. SEAL:  Yes.  We'll include that.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  All part of 6.7?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  That would be great.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, those are all my panel 3 questions that I transposed.  Sorry about that.

     I have some questions on stale-dated cheques, which I think is your purview.  This same table stops forecasting any revenue with respect to stale-dated cheques after 2006, so for 2007 it has zero.  Is that the actual experience for 2007?

     MR. SEAL:  Mr. Couillard on the previous panel did discuss the stale-dated cheques, so our historical stale-dated cheques largely are related to credits that we've issued to customers related to energy, and we did not forecast any of these credits in our 2008-10 periods, and that's why we have no dollars included in there.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm just checking with Mr. DeVellis, who tells me he's the one who crossed on that.  I must not have been paying close enough attention.

     Can you explain why this might not happen in the next three years?

     MR. SEAL:  I guess it's not that it might not happen.  

It's just that we did not forecast it happening.  We have no basis for projecting whether it will happen or not.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  My last question on other revenue has to do with the THC promissory note.  There is a reference in our IRs.  That would be VECC IR No. 17, and this IR just explains how the interest is calculated on the note and, to summarize it, it explains how THESL pays 5 percent of the interest on the note, and how the remainder of that is paid by THC directly to the City of Toronto.  There's an appendix which sets out the -- well, there are various details of that.

     There's also a table in the main body of the interrogatory that sets out the forecast amount of difference that THC is responsible for in terms of the note.  Is that how I read that?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I understand the principal amount of the note when it was granted was around a billion dollars, or exactly a billion dollars.

     MR. SARDANA:  It's 980.2 million.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

     MR. SARDANA:  And it was set up pursuant to the initial transfer by-law in 1998, 1999.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, could you explain how THESL has access to the money?

     MR. SARDANA:  I'm not sure I understand which money you're referring to.  Let me take you back, again, with the panel's indulgence, and I don't have the dates at the top of my head, but the $980-million note was created by -- or pursuant to the amalgamation.  And it was when the company got corporatized and became an Ontario Business Corporations Act company, whereby the balance sheet was structured into a 65 percent debt component and a 35 percent equity component; do you remember back then?  65 percent debt at that time, on the balance sheet, equated to 

980.2 million.  There were some nuances around that but the final balance was 980.2 million.

     That is part of THESL's embedded debt, and it is recovered, the servicing of that debt; i.e., the interest payment on that debt, is recovered through rates.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  So there's no drawdown available with respect to that amount?

     MR. SARDANA:  The note itself has been amended by the City and THC, which is THESL's shareholder, as you know, 

last September, in September 2006, where the City has now set out a schedule of payments to draw down that debt to nil by May 2013, the first of which is on December 31st of 2007.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And is that where this table comes in, from the interrogatory response?

     MR. SARDANA:  That's correct.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

     I have some questions on the cost allocation section, and this relates specifically to street lighting.  I think in your opening, you explained that the recently released rate design paper from the Board requires, I think it's 0.7 revenue to cost ratio minimum for street lighting, and that 

THESL has not proposed to increase its application with respect to the street lighting revenue to cost ratio to 0.7, because you have problems with the cost allocation study itself with respect to street lighting?  Is that a fair recap of what your evidence was?

     MR. SEAL:  Generally, yes.  What I said was that our proposed rates for the street lighting class leave its revenue/cost ratio below the Board's policy guidelines, as recently released.

     What I also said was that we are moving up the revenue/cost ratio for that class, and in fact, that class is seeing a significant increase in the revenue allocated -- or the cost allocated, the revenue collected from it, but that we did have concerns both with the amount of increase that we're reflecting in the rates for that class, as well as concerns with how the cost allocation model was treating the street lighting class.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in terms of that first concern, the amount, are we talking about -- well, you may confirm.  Who owns the street lights?

     MR. SEAL:  Who owns the street lights?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Who's the customer?

     MR. SARDANA:  For distribution expenses for power taken, it's the City of Toronto.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

     MR. SARDANA:  The actual street lights are owned by Toronto Hydro Energy Services, which is a THESL affiliate.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  So for the consumption it's --

     MR. SARDANA:  But for the consumption, the City of Toronto pays THESL its distribution bill, its portion of that distribution bill.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So in this particular case, the sole customer is the -- well, through THC, the shareholder?

     MR. SARDANA:  That's correct.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  In terms of the second part of your concern, I guess if you were to follow strictly the Board guidelines, you would be bringing -- I'm actually referring to your evidence, M1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, which sets out, I guess, your proposal for revenue/cost ratios.

     MR. SEAL:  Right.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And so 2006 historical has it at 10.7 percent?

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And your proposal is 27.1 percent for 2008, 32.3 percent for 2009, and 39.7 for 2010.

     MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And the Board paper which was released -- it's November 28th -- basically says your 2008 number should be 70 percent, subject to, I guess, possible explanation by you.  Right?

     MR. SEAL:  The Board policy guidelines do lay out the range that they expect them to be in.  I believe the guidelines do say that if any utility has a different ratio, that they are to explain it, and I believe that's what I explained.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, in two parts.  The rate, I guess, impact on the customer.

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And the second, which is the --

     MR. SEAL:  The concern with --

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Concern about the cost allocation study as it relates to street lighting.

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I expect that those concerns would have come up when the cost allocation study came out?

     MR. SEAL:  They did from us, and as far as I understood, and I think that's in evidence as well, that we understood other utilities have similar concerns.

     I believe the Board in its recent policy guidelines also mentions the concerns that utilities have had with that particular component.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you're right.  And in looking at the -- I guess I should refer to the actual Board number.  I'm looking at the application of cost allocation for electricity distributors, report of the Board, and it's EB-2007-0667, dated November 20th, 2007.


On page 10, they deal with street lighting and sentinel lighting classes, and in the third paragraph it actually says:

"Comments from participants suggested that the model over-represents costs for street lighting."

     I guess that summarizes that concern from various parties?

     MR. SEAL:  That's what I was referring to.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But immediately above that it says:

"The discussion paper proposed an asymmetrical range of minus 30 percent to plus 20 percent, around 1.0."


And then it says:

"Comments from participants suggested the model over-represents costs for street lighting."


Then it goes on to say:

"If this is correct, the resulting revenue-to-cost ratio would tend to be understated, probably with a value below 1."

     Then, over the page, it says:

"The Board agrees with Staff's analysis and with the comments of participants, to the effect that the street lighting and sentinel lighting classes present significant issues that need to be resolved in respect to the allocation of costs and the model sensitivity to changes in assumptions.  The Board has therefore adopted the range proposed in the discussion paper."

     So the Board specifically, it seems, addressed those concerns by adopting a .7 floor for revenue-cost ratio in its paper.  Is that a fair interpretation of that paragraph?

     MR. SEAL:  I don't interpret it the same way.  I'm not so sure they adopt that number.  They've reflected the concerns.  They did choose a revenue-cost ratio to apply for that class, as a guideline.  I believe elsewhere in that document they also do state that utilities that are outside of the guidelines, and state their reasons why they would be.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Then I can leave the rest of that too.  And I think it's a matter of interpretation of how the Board -- the guidelines would apply.  But thank you for that.

     One last question, and it has to do with Smart Meters, I'm afraid, having been in the Smart Meter proceeding.

     My understanding of the decision with respect to stranded meter costs was that utilities were to leave stranded meters -- i.e., meters that have been removed from houses but not from rate base -- in rate base until the program is complete, by which time the Board would deal with it, I guess, on a universal basis.


I can see you're flipping through papers.  Are you flipping through the decision, or --

     MR. McLORG:  I am.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, and as part of the decision, they also expected the companies to track those costs.  And my question is:  Are you tracking the costs separately, related to stranded meters costs?


--- Witness panel confers.

     MR. SEAL:  We are.  We do have the costs, and we are tracking.  We believe we're complying with the spirit of the decision.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  There was some time spent in that proceeding talking about the scrap value of the stranded meter costs, and I was wondering if you could provide any kind of update, if there is any, on what you're doing with the old meters and if they're producing any revenue?

     MR. McLORG:  Can we refer a question backwards?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  If you want to do it by undertaking, that's fine.

     MR. McLORG:  I think that would be the most helpful for the Board.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  That would be great.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The undertaking is, Mr. Buonaguro?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  To provide an update as to the -- well, I guess, in a sense, what they're doing with the stranded meters; i.e., are they producing any scrap value?

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Buonaguro, and maybe Panel Members, it may assist you -- I don't believe that there has been any change to THESL's business model for scrapping the old glass metres, in that we found during, you know, removing these meters there was no secondary market or salvage market for these metres, and they were, in fact, being destroyed.  I believe that is still the case.  We will confirm that for you, but that is, to the best of my knowledge, still the case.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  If you can provide an update, that will be fine.

     MR. FAYE:  That will be T6.8.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.8:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE AS TO WHAT IS BEING DONE WITH THE STRANDED METERS.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I believe those are all my questions.  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro.


Mr. DeVellis?

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Good afternoon, panel.  Most of my questions are in the area of load forecasts, but I just have one follow-up question from this morning's testimony, and that has do with your testimony in examination-in-chief, Mr. Sardana, regarding the company's position that it ought not to have to update its evidence with respect to the gain on the sale of assets.

     I believe you're -- paraphrasing what you said, it would be unfair to the company to have to update that evidence.  Is that --

     MR. SARDANA:  Are you specifically referring to the sale of the two properties that Mr. Couillard mentioned this morning?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, and you had forecast the sale in 2007, but they haven't been sold in --

     MR. SARDANA:  Right, and I think Mr. Couillard's view was that no update to the forecast was necessary at this time, because there is a possibility that both those properties could get sold before the end of the year.

     Now, to the extent that they don't, and they do get sold in '08, then we will have to undertake to update accordingly.

     But I think Mr. Couillard also mentioned that it could be that they get sold later because there are some environmental remediation issues affecting at least one of the properties.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I just want to be clear, though.  If you don't sell it in 2007, and it looks like that will be the case as we're nearing the end of the year, then you will be updating your evidence?

     --- Witness panel confers.

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. DeVellis, I think we would have to defer, or, you know, say no to that, because we're not sure what the profile is of selling these properties.  They were in the '07 forecast, you're absolutely right.  They haven't been sold yet.  We don't know when they're going to be sold.  There is a chance that they don't get sold until 2011 or 2013, or what have you, but I have no basis for offering up an update at this time.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But you had originally forecast to sell them in '07, and due to I don't know what circumstances they are not going to be sold in '07, but you are still planning to sell them in the near future?

     MR. SARDANA:  We're planning to sell these properties because they're surplus to THESL's needs.  It's the timing that we're not sure of now.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  You have provided us with a number of updates throughout the hearing.

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Blue sheets that we've been given.  You'll agree with me that it's important to just use the best available information when you're forecasting rates?

     MR. SARDANA:  I would agree with that.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And in this case it seems the company has agreed in principle that the capital gains should be shared 50/50 with ratepayers.  The only caveat to that is that, with respect to 2007, they're not going to be, because I suppose your rationale is that the rates are already set for that year?

     MR. SARDANA:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Shouldn't we have the most up-to-date information, though, because it seems like the only reason ratepayers will be denied a share in that revenue is because of a timing issue, and if we know that it's not to be sold in 2007, and likely to be in 2008, that those revenues should artificially be denied to ratepayers?   

     --- Witness panel confers.

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. DeVellis, I suppose this panel is having some difficulty with that question because the facilities folks gave you a fairly adequate answer.

     I think what we would like to do is wait until at least the decision comes out of the Board on this case, before committing to those properties.

We just don't know what the plan is yet for those properties.  We are still committed to selling those properties.  We don't know the timing.  You're right, they haven't been sold yet, but that could happen soon.

     As Mr. Couillard has noted, there are several buyers or several bidders for each of those properties.  We had an offer that was very close to completion.  It fell through at the last minute, but there are other buyers out there.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  That's fine.  We'll leave the rest to argument.

     I'm going to turn now to the load forecast area, and if we could turn to Exhibit K1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, page 1, table 1.

     MR. SEAL:  Just to be clear, Mr. DeVellis, this is the evidence before we updated?  You have the updated evidence?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm sure I have it somewhere.

     MR. SEAL:  We provided updated evidence for the load and customer forecast on November 12th.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  November 12th?

     MR. SEAL:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I have the November 12th update.  I don't see an update to table 1.

     MR. SEAL:  No.  That is true.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

     MR. SEAL:  Sorry if I was confusing you there.  We did update the forecast.  Rather than change all the pages and tables in the written part of the evidence, we submitted four pages describing the update.  All the schedules with the information on the load forecast and customers were updated with blue pages as well.  Just the table does not show up in the update.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  I'm not sure if it will affect my questions, but the forecast that I have in the original table 1 is 26,707 gigawatt-hours in 2010?

     MR. SEAL:  Right, and maybe I'll turn you to page 3 of 4 of the update, so K1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, page 3, and there's a graph in figure 2.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. DeVellis, would it assist if we took our break now?  You can kind of take a look at this and gather these questions.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Possibly.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would that be of assistance?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Sure.  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's take our break.  We'll take a fairly short one so we can press on.  Does anyone have any difficulties with that?  If we were to come back at 

5 minutes past 3?

Okay.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:48 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:08 p.m.

     PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

     Just a preliminary note.  I do have some information respecting schedule going forward for argument.  What I have is a suggested -- and I think this has been canvassed through the parties to some extent -- we'd have Friday, December the 21st would be argument by the applicant, and updates related to the use of the new allocation methodology.


Associated with that is January 7th as a date that is, I guess, suggested as a date for questions arising from the updates filed on the 21st.  Then we have Monday, January the 21st, which would be Board Staff submissions; Friday, February the 1st, intervenors' submissions; reply argument by the applicant for February the 8th; Friday, February the 15th as a date for oral questions, should the Board require it, from all parties.  And that is the proposed schedule.

     Have I got that right?

     MR. RODGER:  Yes, sir.  We just had a couple of comments, if we could.

     Friday, December 21st, that's fine for the argument and the updates as you've described it.  For the possible date for questions on the update, we were wondering if we could have a date later that week, rather than the 7th.  The 7th appears like it's going to be the first day back from the holidays --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ah.

     MR. RODGER:  -- for a lot of the staff.  I gather from Board Staff that on the 8th there is a Proceedings Day associated with the IPSP, so I don't think that day would be available.  But would the Wednesday be possible, the 9th of that week, for the --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think we get very quickly into -- I know I'm into another proceeding starting the 8th that is going to take me through the 20-something.  That's the gas IRM proceeding.


Now, barring a settlement of all of the issues -- and I see Mr. Buonaguro -- I don't know how to read his body language -- but I sense there may not be a complete settlement in that case.


The 7th is a date that we did struggle with.  If it simply doesn't work for you, let us know.  And let's see what you can do.  I certainly don't want to compromise anybody over the holiday if people are going away and that sort of thing, but we do have some very serious time constraints, starting in January.

     MR. RODGER:  The other date we were concerned about was February 8th for the reply.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mm-hmm.

     MR. RODGER:  There's going to be a few of us involved in preparing the reply that will be away for three days starting February 1st.  So that would only give us four business days.  We're wondering if that could be -- our reply could be pushed off to February 15th?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Now, February the 15th was the date that was being suggested for the potential day for oral questions.  I don't know -- Ms. Campbell who was, I think, instrumental in putting this together, is not here at the moment -- as to whether we can find another date around the 15th.


I don't think that there's an awful lot -- I would expect that the reply submission would be relatively brief and can be digested fairly quickly.  So, you know, I would think that a couple of days after the filing of the reply would suffice.  So we'll try to put that together, if we can.

     The Board will issue a -- with a little further discussion related to that date of January the 7th, and that date for reply -- we'll accept your suggestion with respect to reply, Mr. Rodger.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And we'll try to find another date for the oral questions close to that.

     The Panel has some -- would like some clarification with respect to exactly what is being filed by way of update on Friday, December the 21st.  Just what does that filing incorporate, and what are we -- what should we expect then?  Could you help us with that, Mr. Rodger?

     MR. RODGER:  Yes.  You will recall that there was a change made because of the Smart Meter depreciation issue.  And I believe there was a minor change having -- arising from shared services.  And there may be some other minor tweaks, but it will be those things.


What we're contemplating doing is, there's essentially three iterations that go through the update.  There's a new financial model that is produced.  Then that information goes offsite to the accountants to come up with the new PILs amounts, and then it is run through the cost allocation rate design.

     So what we're proposing is on the 21st you would have that information, and then likely as well all the other pages to the evidence in blue sheets --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Consequential changes.

     MR. RODGER:  Yes, being so you can update the evidence so that people will have the latest number.  Plus they'll be able to track it through the evidence, so there won't be a series of numbers, which has the potential for being confusing.


So we would give you that kind of definitive update on the 21st with all the related changes in the prefiled evidence, and that takes about eight days to run through those three steps.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Rodger, you and I had this discussion before.  I still remain, I guess, sceptical, if that's the right word, about the value of this.  So if I may just follow up, if I can ask Mr. McLorg some questions here, I would appreciate it.

     MR. RODGER:  Sure.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. McLorg, you've heard your counsel's suggestion as to what those updates would entail, and the potential value of it.  Now, help me understand, sir.  I would have thought that those things are handled simply through, if you like, an impact analysis or updates to the four financial schedules for rate-making purposes, not financial schedules, in terms of accounting -- and I'm not sure which way Mr. Rodger has meant the financial schedules -- that all you would do is update your rate base calculation, your net-income calculation, your capitalization/cost-of-capital calculation, and finally, the termination of revenue deficiency; those four pages, with a bunch of footnotes, as appropriate, to indicate the source of the change.

     So beyond that, beyond that, I have no idea as to how many updates, how many blue pages, or if we're into pink pages, whether there would be ten or there would be a thousand.  I have no idea.  I'm just questioning whether, are we complicating our lives, rather than assisting?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  "Yes" to which?

     MR. McLORG:  We are complicating our lives.


Mr. Vlahos, I mean that as a sincere answer, but I would suggest that it was our intention to try and be as helpful, perhaps misguidedly, as we could be to the Board by giving you a full and final statement of our exact application before you.

     I do appreciate your view that it may not be necessary for the Board to do its work to have the "Nth" blue page concerning a minor change in a consequential schedule five times removed from the real subject matter.

     We can certainly arrange to provide the core rate-making schedules to the Board by way of update as of December 21st.  And I think our only concern in that is that, if you don't mind, we would at least like to file the corrected versions of the things that have been uncovered during the hearing, where we know that there's a mistake or an update.

     If you would prefer, we can certainly skip the part of producing all the consequential schedules.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, yes, I'm not -- and I will leave it up to the Chair.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Can I suggest this?  I like your suggestion, Mr. McLorg. Subject to any comment that intervenors have with respect to this, it seems to me that we may be introducing a volume of material that really doesn't shed any light on the issues.  If we can have the core schedule updated, amended -- definitive version, as you say -- and the correction of errors, I think that's a perfectly laudable thing to do, and to kind of, if we can, keep this to a reasonable size.

     Now, this application was filed on one basis, and some elements the basis related to the old methodology cost allocation as between the affiliates, and part of this problem has been the transition to the new.  But I'm not sure that we need to reinvent all of this paper in order to understand that.

     Mr. Buonaguro, do you have a comment on this?

     Let me suggest one further thing, and that is that if you file it on the 21st, Mr. Rodger, then the 7th may -- we may try to leave that date not necessarily as a date where questions about those filings, including questions as to, you know, have you been a little less generous than Mr. McLorg -- I mean that respectfully, Mr. McLorg, facetiously, in fact -- so someone may raise a question about one of the schedules not being there that sort of should be there, one of the things that should be corrected that isn't corrected, that sort of thing.

     With that in mind, Mr. Buonaguro, do you have any comment?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is that we're trying to cut away a lot of the updates, which are mechanical.  For example, they've given us an update which says we had a problem with the Smart Meter calculation.  This is, for the most part, how it impacts on the deficiency, and then you would run it through the model, and I guess the point is we don't really need to run it through the model because nobody's arguing about how they run the model, I don’t think; and most of us aren’t qualified to figure out if they’ve run a model correctly anyway.

As long as they're describing essentially what should happen, you know, give us a little update, this will impact on X, Y, and Z when we do the final rate order, I think that would be fine.

     MR. McLORG:  Mr. Chair, may I offer the comment?  I think following on Mr. Buonaguro's example, I think that what we could avoid would be, for example, another update of how it changed to an element of revenue requirement, affected this interrogatory response over here.  And so that, I think, is an example of some of the material that won't be helpful to the Board and that we can cut out.

     I would like to say, if I may, that it is still crucial for us to have a clear and correct version of all our costs that we can push through our model to determine the revenue requirement.  You needn't concern yourself with that, because that's an internal process that we'll do, and it's as described by Mr. Rodger.  But I just wanted to make sure that you did come away with the correct impression that that remains a vital step for us in any case.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  (Inaudible.) 

     MR. VLAHOS:  My concern, Mr. McLorg, would be that if you land this, whether as part of your argument-in-chief or later on or before, and it's 2,000 pages and it's all the same colour –- I’ll call it pink colour, the next version 

then I don't know whether it would leave the Board, the intervenors.  They now have to go through every line of 2,000 pages to ascertain what the changes were, whether they were significant or not, do they have to ask questions.

Yes, you have to go through this yourself, as has any other applicant before the Board.  For very many years, we have not received such production.

     That's why I've raised that concern, to just try to save some time, to get to the meat of things.

     MR. McLORG:  We do certainly appreciate your comments, 

Mr. Vlahos, and Mr. Sommerville.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. DeVellis, any comment from you on this subject?  

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, I agree with Mr. Buonaguro's suggestion.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  The only other thing that concerned me a little bit was when Mr. McLorg mentioned the undertaking responses, because I can just see us relying on an interrogatory response to our argument that we don't find out until later was impacted, although I don't anticipate that there are a lot like that.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, and it may be that part of what we've been going through over the last four or five days should kind of inform that reliance, I would think.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  For example, I think this shared services methodology, I think the answer was is that all of the interrogatory responses, to the extent that they relied on the --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  On the old methodology.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  On things affected by the new methodology or that are based on the new methodology, so 

I'm not worried about that, for example.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  That's my only concern.

     MR. RODGER:  Yes, I think, Mr. Chairman, Toronto Hydro only wants to make sure that the record is complete and accurate, and I think what my friend just expressed is a concern which we have seen in other cases, where in final argument, in the arguments of the intervenors, there have been references to certain information that really should have been changed or were incorrect.  And that leads to issues potentially down the road, if people say, "Well, I based certain parts of my argument on information that was wrong."  So that's the balance that we're trying to achieve here.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And you may also be able to fill in some of those gaps informally, in communication with the applicant.  Presumably the applicant will entertain those questions, and where they are strictly for clarification purposes.  Mr. DeVellis.

     MR. DeVELLIS: Yes, and I may just be repeating what others have already said, but I think it would be helpful to have all the clarifications that have come forward throughout the hearing, whether in interrogatory responses or even in oral testimony, in one place, so we can refer to them, like others just said.  Otherwise, it may --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We're kind of moving in the other direction here.  We're sort of moving towards the idea of looking at sort of a seminal schedule, the seminal documents, the essential rate-making documents being updated to reflect the changes that have happened, without going back through the many sort of consequential changes, or perhaps in some instances sort of originating changes that would affect those final schedules.

     That doesn't mean that they’re not accessible, those other documents, but simply that we wouldn't be looking for an update of those on December the 21st.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  No, I wouldn't think so.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, so on that basis that's what we'll be looking for on the 21st.

     The Board will look at this schedule again.  We'll issue a Procedural Order or communiqué of whatever kind to advise the parties as to the milestones to come.

     And today we will finish this case.  We can stay until 5:30, and with the co-operation of all parties, which I expect and require, we'll finish today.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I intend to co-operate by leaving.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The spirit is with you, 

Mr. Buonaguro.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks.

     MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chair, I wonder if we could put in one comment in here on the schedule which you just spoke to.

     I think Board Staff have no objection to only updating the most seminal schedules but would ask, if it's possible, to have some sort of tracing mechanism so they know how you got from A to B.  Not all the intervening schedules, but maybe a little narrative which says, "We went from this number, and it ended up over here, and we basically went through this process."

Is that fair?

     MR. McLORG:  We'll do our level best to provide that with our update, Mr. Faye.

     MR. FAYE:  All right.  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. DeVellis, you're on.

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Sommerville, if I may just add a few words before Mr. DeVellis turns to the scintillating topic of load forecasting.

     You might have noticed my rather incoherent attempt to skate around Mr. DeVellis' question on updates to our sale of two properties that were supposed to have been sold in 

2007.

     Having thought this through further, what we are proposing is the following, just to add to the record.

     If these properties have not been sold by the 21st of December, which is in line with the updates --

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.

     MR. SARDANA:  -- the updates we've just been talking about, that we are prepared to update our forecast.  However, we are also just as likely to propose a mechanism within that update, in that these properties are turning out to be more difficult to sell than we had anticipated.  A case in point, one of the properties -- I'm not sure which -- was on the market for 2.6 million.  The value has now dropped below two.  So, you know, updating our forecast, just on its own basis, is going to be difficult, but we'll come up with something that will assist the intervenors and the Panel itself.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That seems to be responsive, 

Mr. DeVellis.  Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Sardana.

     MR. SARDANA:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. DeVellis?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, thank you for that indulgence,

Mr. Chairman.  I do have the updates, and the problem was that I had them in reverse order, so that was causing me more confusion than it should have, but --


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:  (Cont'd)
     MR. DeVELLIS:  So Mr. Seal, turning back to you.  I take it the reason for the update was that you had found that your forecast weather normalization process had produced a forecast for 2007, and I suppose for the test years as well, that was too high?

     MR. SEAL:  That wasn't the basis of our update.  We updated the load and customer forecast for two reasons.

One, we said initially that we would update any evidence prior to the hearing that was based on exogenous type factors, so the load forecast being driven by things like GDP forecast fell into that category.


Plus, we were asked in a number of interrogatories what we would be updating, and this update was responsive to those.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and on page 3 of the update, you have your, I guess, original forecast, as well as the updated forecast.

     MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So your forecast now -- whereas originally you had a very small increase in your load forecast from 2007 to 2010, about .3 percent over that period.  Is that about right?

     MR. SEAL:  Subject to check.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, in your update you actually have a decrease throughout the test period?

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Of 2007 to 2010?

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And have you updated table 4 from your original evidence as well?  That's on --

     MR. SEAL:  That shows the historical annual load, normalized.  I don't believe we did update that one.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  If you can have a look at that, that's at K1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, page 5.

     MR. SEAL:  Sorry.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, K1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, page 5, table 4, and here you have the historical annual load, and you have non-normalized and normalized.  You see there at the bottom your average annual growth rate is .6 percent from 1998 to 2005.

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Normalized.

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  You're now forecasting a decrease going forward in the next four years?

     MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. DeVellis, just a correction.  It's the non-normalized that's 1 percent, not the normalized.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  No, no.  Right.  Sorry, I thought I said .6 percent was the normalized average annual growth.

     Your forecast that's in Table 1 of this exhibit and in the updated forecast in the update, those have been adjusted for; I believe you said there's two adjustments you did.  One is for CDM, forecast of CDM productions or load related to CDM programs?

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and then there was some annual adjustments as well.

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I'm just going to ask about both of those.

     What is the rationale for making an adjustment to your load forecast to take into account CDM programs?

     MR. SEAL:  As I explained in my direct, the methodology that we have in producing our load forecast involves forecasting load using econometric models first.  So econometric models, as I'm sure you're aware, take historical data and project it in the future based on relationships between load and driving variables historically.

     So to the extent that our historical load did not include any CDM impacts, CDM would need to be adjusted after the fact.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Toronto Hydro has done CDM in the past, though, hasn't it?

     MR. SEAL:  We've had programs in place 2005, 2006.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Wouldn't the impacts of those programs be reflected in your econometric models going forward?

     MR. SEAL:  No, they were not.  The loads that we used to do the modelling add back the CDM volumes in those years.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I have some questions about what assumptions you've made in coming up with these specific CDM adjustments, and there's a table in your evidence at K -- and hopefully this hasn't been updated -- at K1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, page 9.  Has this one been updated?

     MR. SEAL:  No, we have not updated our CDM load forecast.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm glad to hear that.


Now, can you turn up -- perhaps the easiest way to ask this is, Schedule 4.1, Tab 7-A -- sorry, tab 7.

     MR. SEAL:  This is in the K exhibits?  Sorry.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  It's the Pollution Probe book of documents.  You have it with you.  It's Tab 7, and it's actually a copy of your Exhibit G1, Tab 1, Schedule 1.

There you have the, I guess, projected annual savings, and you have kilowatt-hours for your various programs.  Do you see that there?

     MR. SEAL:  If you're looking at the column titled "Program annual savings --

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

     MR. SEAL:  -- kilowatt-hours".

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  So for 2008, a grand total of, I guess, 63,719,000 --

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  -- kilowatt-hours?

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, how does that number compare to the numbers you have on K1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, page 9?

     MR. SEAL:  The numbers in K1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, page 9 reflect the cumulative CDM savings.  So the difference, for example, between the 2007, if you added up those values, and the 2008 would equal the 63,719 number shown in Exhibit G1, Tab 1, Schedule 1; so they're cumulative.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, so if we were to add up all of row 2007 and all of row 2008, we should come up with 63,719,000?

     MR. SEAL:  The difference between.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  The difference, I'm sorry, the difference between those two numbers?

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'll take that subject to check.

     Now, in our interrogatory to you, No. 51 -- it's R1, Tab 5, Schedule 51 --

     MR. SEAL:  I have that.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  We asked you for the revenue requirement impact if you did not adjust your load forecast, and you correctly pointed out that there is no revenue requirement impact.  And so what we should have asked was:  What is the impact on your load forecast and, related to that, the impact on your revenue deficiency?

     Can you provide that to us?

     MR. SEAL:  The impact on -- sorry, can you point me to the specific question, Mr. DeVellis?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  The specific question we asked, which is the wrong question to ask, is A(3):

"What would be the revenue requirement impact in each of 2008, '9, and '10 if THESL did not make an adjustment to its load forecast or CDM activities as proposed in the evidence?"

     Your answer was there is no revenue requirement impact, which is correct.

     But my question now is:  What would be the impact on your load forecast if you didn't adjust for CDM, and related to that, what would be the impact in your revenue deficiency?

     MR. SEAL:  I guess the impact on the load forecast is fairly easy to determine.  You just subtract the numbers that we were just looking at in that table from our load forecast for the year.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

     MR. SEAL:  Or, sorry, I guess you would add them back.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Add them back?  Okay.  I wasn't clear if that was just a straight addition.

     MR. SEAL:  That would be the load impact.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.

     MR. SEAL:  The deficiency impact -- I'm just trying to think if I've possibly addressed that in another interrogatory.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I didn't see it.

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, maybe I will undertake to get that calculation for you, and if it's in another interrogatory I can just refer to that.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  That will be an easy answer, then.

     MR. FAYE:  That would be T6.9.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.9:  TO PROVIDE CALCULATION FOR REVENUE DEFICIENCY IMPACT.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What we're looking for in T6.9 is the impact on the --

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Revenue deficiency.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- deficiency if the CDM figures were added back into the load forecast?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, maybe this is a question for 

Mr. McLorg, but is Toronto Hydro planning on applying for an LRAM for the test years for your CDM programs?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, we are.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  You are, okay.  And, now, wouldn't that be double-counting, because you want to adjust your load forecast for your CDM, your planned CDM activities, and you're also going to be asking for an LRAM, which is to compensate you for your lost revenue for your CDM activities?

     MR. McLORG:  Well, the LRAM would only properly cover the variance in load, and revenue, consequently, resulting from a variance from forecast in the CDM results that we obtain.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I didn't understand that was what an LRAM was.  I thought an LRAM was the total in load reductions.

     MR. McLORG:  Well, you could have come away with that impression based on the fact that in our previous LRAM application, which concerned activities in 2005 and 2006, there was no forecast of CDM volumes -- which we now recognize was a defect -- and so, in effect, the forecast performance of CDM programs was zero.

     That's why the entire CDM achievement of Toronto 

Hydro was subject to the LRAM adjustment and to the free rider adjustment and so on.

     We are, as much as possible, seeking to incorporate a forecast of CDM now, and the LRAM mechanism will go only to the variance in performance and consequential revenue between the CDM forecast and what's actually achieved.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  I have some questions now about your manual adjustments that you made to your model.  From what I understand, those adjustments were made after the model was run; is that right?

     MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and it was done to remove the impact of outlier months in the impact of your model?

     MR. SEAL:  One of the shortcomings that we see in our load forecasting model is that the shoulder months tend to be inaccurately forecast.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  What is a shoulder month?

     MR. SEAL:  Sorry, the shoulder months, being the non-winter, non-summer months.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

     You say somewhere in your evidence that adjustments improve the model.  Can you explain that?  

     MR. SEAL:  I think what we say in evidence is that by making the adjustments to our model forecast, we believe we're improving the forecast.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  How is that?

     MR. SEAL:  As I explained in direct, if forecasting was just plugging numbers into an econometric model, well, I wouldn't have a job.

It's a lot more than that.  It's applying judgment as well.  Any forecasting requires applying judgment, so what we've done is added our judgmental adjustments to our model-driven forecasts for the things that I talked about earlier.

     These manual adjustments that we've done for the shoulder months, they are judgmental adjustments, but there is some statistic -- we didn't just pick a number out of the air.  We adjusted it based on historical averages, historical highs and lows for those particular periods.

     That's what resulted in the adjustments.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  You have the adjustments at K1, 

Tab 1, Schedule 1, Appendix "C", and you have some updates to those as well.

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And in your initial evidence you had, for 2007, an adjustment of 108 million kilowatt-hours.

     MR. SEAL:  Kilowatt-hours.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And in your update, those adjustments are – sorry -- 10 million.

     MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Kilowatt-hours, right.

     MR. SEAL:  Now, the originally filed evidence, 2007, was all forecast values.  In the updated evidence, we updated our actuals to September; so they are actuals up to September.  There's no need for an adjustment.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

     MR. SEAL:  The adjustments only happen in those shoulder months: October, November.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Then in 2008, '09, and '10, there are also differences in your original adjustments and your update, and maybe you can explain those for us.  I'll just give you one example.  2008, you had originally 159 million kilowatt-hours adjusted, and in your update you have 49 million.

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.  When we updated the forecast, the volumes that come out of the econometric models are compared to these column 2 and column 3, so the maximum and minimum over the period '98 to 2006.  For those months where it's either below the minimum or above the maximum is where we make adjustments.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

     MR. SEAL:  So, in the updated forecast, the adjustments that we needed to make for those shoulder months were much smaller than the adjustments that we made under the original forecast.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.

In reviewing the company's 2006 testimony, there was a reference -- I don't have the transcript reference, but Mr. Sardana, you'll probably recall -- to having corrected your load because your historical load information -- and you only had eight years of data, as I recall -- your historical load had two leap years, 2000 and 2004.  Since your 2006 wasn't a leap year, you had to make an adjustment to your forecast to remove that extra day.

     MR. SARDANA:  That's correct, Mr. DeVellis, and Mr. Seal has already touched on this.  Really what we're finding with this econometric model is what we call turning points.  It's not a linear forecast.  Load follows, you know, a generally seasonal type pattern, and it's those turning points that this model has trouble dealing with or forecasting; and that is that is where the manual adjustments come in.

     I believe what I said in my 2006 testimony was that it was a shorter data set, without the benefit of, you know, roughly 18 months or so of actual data.  There were two leap years in there, and my assessment at the time was that the leap years were masking a lot of these turning points, and that the model was overshooting on the turning points.  And so adjustments had to be made to take into account the leap years.

     What Mr. Seal has done with his staff in the last few months is improved on that model quite greatly, quite dramatically, from a statistical standpoint.

     There are still adjustments to be made, however, and that's really where we're at right now.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  That was a much more complicated answer than my question would have required, because my question was going to be:  Did you make an adjustment for 2008 because 2008 is a leap year?

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, that's factored into our load forecast.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  It is, okay.

     Mr. Chairman, I neglected to introduce the document that I sent around yesterday.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Faye has this, I believe?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  Sorry, I missed that, Mr. Chair?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is this the document that VECC wanted to introduce?

     Thank you.

     We should give this an exhibit number, I think, Mr. 

Faye.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.  It would be S6.1.

     EXHIBIT NO. S6.1:  DOCUMENT.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And the reason I brought this is I wonder if I can get you to comment on the difference between your load forecast and the OPA's forecast (inaudible).

You'll see on the first page of this exhibit, the OPA is forecasting an average annual growth undertaking growth rate weather-normalized over the next 25 years of 1.1 percent, and that's in contrast to your forecast of a reduction in the next four years or so.  Do you have an overall --

MR. SEAL:  Well, first I'll say that I didn't receive this until late yesterday, so I haven't had a chance to explore it in detail.

What I do note is that it is a forecast for Ontario, and not Toronto.  I do note it's a forecast, as you've mentioned, up to 2027, whereas we're dealing with a forecast over our test years to 2010.

     Short of that, I mean, I don't think that there's a whole lot of value in comparing these two forecasts, being as they're for completely different purposes and for completely different jurisdictions.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, the Ontario data would be heavily weighted to Toronto, though, wouldn't it?

     MR. SEAL:  I'm sorry, Mr. DeVellis?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  The Ontario data as a whole would be heavily weighted towards Toronto and the Greater Toronto Area.

     MR. SEAL:  Well, Toronto Hydro makes up a part of the provincial system.  I don't think it's -- I mean, we're the largest utility, but I don't think it's an extremely large proportion of the total terawatt-hours for the province.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Can I get you to turn to page 14 of the document?  And the question the OPA asked itself, I suppose, is, why is the OPA confident that its energy-demand forecast represents a reasonable basis for planning.  And I'll just paraphrase what they've listed.  The first is, they say, beginning at line 7:

"The OPA has built on the foundation of the work produced for the DSM potential in Canada."


I won't read the whole paragraph.

     Second, beginning at line 15, they say:

"The results are consistent with historical performance."

     And then third, that's on page 15, they say:

"The per capita and per GDP indices are also generally consistent with historical trends."

     So they also take into account declining average uses.  See that there?

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, I see that.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  So it seems like they've taken into account a lot of the things that you've taken into account.  But they've come up with a number that's much higher, or at least a percentage growth rate that's much higher, than yours.

     MR. SEAL:  Well, again, I'll point out, maybe -- I have great respect for the people that have worked on these studies.  In fact, I have worked with some of them in the past, and I have no doubt that they have rigorously looked at the drivers of their forecast, looked at their forecasts that come out of their models, probably applied some judgment to the forecasts that came out of their models.

     But in the end, again, I say this is a forecast for Ontario that does not necessarily have any bearing on what Toronto Hydro's own forecast is.


I might just -- as I was flipping pages there, I did note, looking at the first graph of their forecast period, on page 2, the dotted line being the forecast, is my understanding -- the rate of growth of that line picks up considerably in the last half of that forecast period, 2015 to 2025, whereas it's much flatter in the first half of that period, the first half of that period being more reflective of the period that we're talking about for our rate application, so --

     MR. SARDANA:  And actually, Mr. DeVellis -- sorry, Mr. Seal, without cutting you off -- that is also echoed in the table below.  2010, their terawatt-hour forecast is 159, over 157 in 2007, on an annual average basis that is in line with our forecast.  In fact, it's bang-on with our forecast.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  They're showing an increase; you're showing a decrease.

     MR. SARDANA:  Well, yes, but this forecast is before CDM.  They say that on page 1 of theirs.

     But I think Mr. Seal's point remains.  They're different forecasts, for different purposes.

     MR. McLORG:  If I could venture a comment as well, Mr. DeVellis.  To make that a little bit real for you, I think it's certainly the case that the growth in housing, the growth in commerce, the growth in electricity demand and usage surrounding Toronto has been very, very vigorous.


And I know, in talking with my colleagues at PowerStream and other utilities, that they're experiencing growth rates north of 2 percent, and to me that's understandable.

I recently moved back to Toronto from Aurora.  All that they have done in the intervening geography is build houses, so north of the boundaries of Toronto, there's been tremendous growth.  That has, by definition, to be averaged into a figure for Ontario overall, but the growth that can happen in Toronto wouldn't reflect that.

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. DeVellis, I'm sorry, it's unfortunate that you've got three people on the panel that all have had a great deal of econometrics behind them.


It also seems to me that this is an end-use forecasting model.  Our forecasting model is an econometric model.  This looks to me to be an end-use model, which is, again, a greatly different mechanism for deriving a forecast, but --

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.

Thank you, Panel.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


Mr. MacIntosh, do you have questions?

     MR. MacINTOSH:  No, I do not, Mr. Chair.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


Mr. Faye?


EXAMINATION BY MR. FAYE:
     MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

     Panel 3, unfortunately, has referred a few questions to panel 7, and I'll go through them as briefly as I can, without -- because some of the territory has been covered.

     The first question that they referred was, it concerned the distribution rates that would apply to a bulk metered condominium building now, as opposed to distribution rates that would apply if you individually metered the suites.

     The question was:  Are they the same rate, or is a bulk rate different than the individual-suite rate?

     MR. SEAL:  They are different rates.  In our application we anticipate that those suite metered customers who are moving over to being suite metered will move from being behind a bulk meter to being behind a residential meter, and will move from paying bulk rates -- although they were not individually paying bulk rates, but as a whole the condominium is paying bulk rates -- to paying individually residential rates, which are different.  They're a different rate class.

     MR. FAYE:  Can you just, say, take a building of a hundred suites: would the hundred times the individual-suite distribution rates on an average consumption well exceed the bulk meter rate that you would have received, or is the opposite true?  Is the bulk meter rate going to generate more revenue for THESL than the individual suite rates?

     MR. SEAL:  Sorry, Mr. Faye.  Without knowing the specifics, I don't know for sure, but I think, generally, yes, there would be a higher revenue from that building.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That's all I had on that particular subject.  But there were some Smart Meter questions in general that they were not able to answer.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so that we're clear about that last answer, there would be higher revenue from the building if it was individually metered?

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Faye.

     MR. FAYE:  That's okay.  Thank you.

     I'd like now to just clarify a few of the numbers that don't appear to be consistent and get your explanation for them.

     I'm looking at Exhibit R1, Tab 1, Schedule 9.1, and that's an interrogatory from the Board Staff and talks about Smart Meter costs.  If you could just pull that up quickly?

     MR. SARDANA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Faye.  They hired me to be their person here, but I'm not doing a good job.

     MR. RODGER:  One of the problems of downsizing, 

Mr. Chairman.

     MR. SEAL:  Sorry, Mr. Faye, can we have that reference again?

     MR. FAYE:  R1, Tab 1, Schedule 9.1.

     MR. SEAL:  Okay, we're with you.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Page 2, middle of the page, there's a chart with annual costs of Smart Meters.  The number for 2006 there is 34.11 million; right?

     MR. McLORG:  That's right.

     MR. FAYE:  Now, in the combined proceeding -- and you may not have this -- but if you will take it subject to check, I'll read you the number that the Board approved.  

For Toronto Hydro capital cost, 23.896 million.

I just wonder if there's a simple explanation for the difference between 34 and 24.

     MR. McLORG:  There is, Mr. Faye.  There would be differences, first of all, in the broadness of the capital expenditure categories.  What the Board approved in the combined Smart Meter proceeding pertained only to what was called minimum functionality, although for Toronto the Board also did approve some extra expenditures on commercial meters.

     But without being able to give you specific numbers, there would be some difference in scope.  And then, secondly, and certainly the predominant cause of a difference, is the fact that although the Board approved 

Toronto Hydro's Smart Meter expenditures for 2006, without qualification, the Board reserved for future recovery a portion of those capital expenditures and the corresponding revenue requirement, based on some findings that it made in the confidential hearing.

     And those findings had the effect of reducing the apparent capital costs.  But I'd like to underline that that finding on the part of the Board did not relate to the prudence or the underlying capital expenditures in terms of their levels.  It only went to what would be recovered in 

2007 rates.

     I hesitate to call it a disallowance, because it was not that.  It was just a reservation of a certain amount of the capital expenditure rate base and associated revenue requirement for a future period.

     MR. FAYE:  But would you say that if you take your general service meters that weren't part of the 23 number and this other category of reserve dollars, does that add up to 10 million?  Does that account for the difference?

     --- Witness panel confers.

     MR. McLORG:  Substantially, yes.

     MR. FAYE:  So in your rate base now, is 34 in there?  

No, sorry.  23 plus general service meters that weren't originally part of the proceeding, is in your rate base, because that was approved into rate base; right?

     MR. McLORG:  At the present time?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, the allowed amounts emerging from the Smart Meter combined proceedings are in the 2007 rate base.  They are not entirely reflective -- let me rephrase.

     They don't reflect the entire Smart Meter capital expenditure for 2006.  There's a residual amount that is left over in the 2006 Smart Meter deferral account.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay, and are you asking for that to be put into your 2008 rate base in this proceeding, or is that still up in the air?

     MR. McLORG:  No, we are asking that the entire accumulated net book value of the Smart Meter expenditures that Toronto Hydro has made, as of the end of 2007 -- so reflecting the gross amount minus the accumulated depreciation -- be entered as a beginning value for 2008 rate base.  They're not considered an addition in 2008, which would be subject to the half-year rule, but, rather, they represent an adjustment to the opening value for 2008.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  We have an undertaking to break down the 2007 costs in a format that could be compared with the Board analysis in the combined proceedings, so we don't need to go there.

     MR. McLORG:  Now, I understand we're very well on our way on that undertaking response.

     MR. FAYE:  One quick question on beyond-minimum functionality.  You're asking that in the 2006 reserve number and the total 2007 number that you would like to be reflected in rate base, that includes some components that would be considered beyond minimum functionality for these meters?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Now, have you been recording the capital and the operating costs of this thing in Smart Meters in the variance accounts, including the rate adder?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, we have.

     MR. FAYE:  So that money is in 1555, 1556, for 2007.  

And have you made an application in this proceeding to discontinue using those accounts?

     MR. McLORG:  In this proceeding we have proposed that, effective 2008, those accounts be discontinued.

     We will have a balance to clear with respect to the 

2007 Smart Meter deferral account, and will be bringing an application before the Board, I expect, by the middle of 

2008, by the time those numbers are finalized.

     MR. FAYE:  And would that application include a consideration of how the operating expenditures should be treated?  The operating expenditures that are in those variance accounts?

     MR. McLORG:  Well, we intend to carry forward exactly  the same treatment that we proposed last time, and which treatment was approved by the Board.  And OPEX, which is my short form for operating expenditures, does form part of the revenue requirement, which revenue requirement related to Smart Meters forms part of the calculation of the net amount to be cleared.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  What I hear you saying is you're covering that subject in whatever application you make.  We needn't go into details here in it, then.

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, that's a very good interpretation.

     MR. FAYE:  Can I make the same assumption on the rate adder, that getting rid of the rate adder in your rates -- that's the 68 cents -- that that will also be part of that subsequent application?

     MR. McLORG:  Well, getting rid of the rate adder is part of this application, because we're talking about 

2008-2010.  But in the application that we will bring forward separately, pertaining to the clearance of the 

2007 SMDA is my short form, the revenues from the rate rider certainly form the other half of the equation in determining the net amount to be cleared.

     MR. FAYE:  So, if I understand you, starting January 1, 2008, or retroactively to that if the Board approves this application, you would no longer collect the 68 cents; you would no longer use the deferral accounts to collect the revenue and the costs.  Have you covered prospective operating costs in your OM&A budget?  Do I understand that?

     MR. McLORG:  Well, there is an adjustment to be made with respect to the dates.  Normally there's a disjoint between our statements of revenue and expense, which are based on a calendar year, which is our fiscal year, and the commencement of the rate year.

     Now, I think I may just have said our statements of revenue and so on.  And that certainly applies to our financial statements and so on.  But the difference I'm trying to get at is that, for most purposes, there's the difference between the rate year and the fiscal year.

     Now, Smart Meters were different, because we were able, in an evidence update in the Smart Meters combined hearing, to bring the revenues right to the end of the rate year in 2006.  The end of the 2006 rate year is actually April 30th, 2007.

     So now, when we terminate the Smart Meter deferral account, we will have a clean break as of April 30th -- and let me get my dates right here.  April 30th, 2008, which will be the end of the 2007 rate year.  That's where the revenues and the expenses will terminate.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And at that point will the rate adder that's been collected for 2007 smart meters, is that netted out of the 43.6 million on this other chart that you're proposing to put in rate base?

     MR. McLORG:  The .68 dollars, or 68 cents, in rate rider revenue will have been collected in the 2007 Smart Meter deferral account, and we will bring forward to the Board the application to clear that account at a later time, in about mid-2008.  And the 68 cents under our proposal would itself terminate as a rate rider beginning May 1st, 2008, so there would be no further separate stream of revenue.

     MR. FAYE:  That's it for Smart Meters.

I have just a couple of questions on something that's been gone over a number of times here, but there's a couple of fine points that weren't on the record, and I think they're fairly important.

     If I could turn you to Exhibit I1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, please, this is the revenue-offsets section and on page 8 there's a table.  And in the table, under "2008 test year, gains on sale", there's a number, 0.8 million.  I want to ask you, is that the gain on disposition for the Underwriters Road property?  It appears to be the only thing being disposed of in 2008.

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Faye, I believe we have filed as part of the evidence the schedule of properties that are going to be sold.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.

     MR. SARDANA:  I just don't have that reference handy.

     MR. FAYE:  I think if you look at C2, Tab 2, Schedule 2, you'll find the information that you need, I think.

     MR. RODGER:  If you turn to page 12 -- page 11.

     MR. FAYE:  Page 11?

     MR. SARDANA:  So I have that now, Mr. Faye, and that's what that table certainly seems to show.  However, at the start of the afternoon session, after the break, I did inform the Panel and Mr. DeVellis that, to the extent that the Goddard and -- I can't remember the name of the other property -- have not been sold in 2007, to date, and if they are not sold to December the 21st of 2007, we will provide an update, or we'll provide information to update that record as well.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, and I don't think that bears on the question here.


But that 786,000 at the bottom of table 9, on page 11, that appears to be rounded to 800, appears to be the only property being sold.  So I'm attributing that 800 gain on disposition to be the Underwriters property.

     Where I'm going with this is, there's another exhibit that I take to be the credits back to your asset base that may potentially be in error, and that is Exhibit D1, Tab 2, Schedule 3.

     MR. SARDANA:  And what is the page reference for that?

     MR. FAYE:  Page 2.


Now, if I understand this table correctly, this is recording the amount of credits back to asset base that occurs when you sell property with a net book value.

     MR. SARDANA:  So that's D as in "David", Tab 1, Schedule 2 -- Schedule 3?

     MR. FAYE:  Schedule 3, page 2.

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.


--- Witness panel confers.

     MR. SARDANA:  So it's the negative .8 in the top line?

     MR. FAYE:  It's negative .8.

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  And looking back at previous schedules I referred you to, it appears that Underwriters has a net book value of 6.4 million, and I'm wondering should it be 6.4 in this chart?  Is this --


MR. SARDANA:  Well --


MR. FAYE:  -- reduction understated by a big amount?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes, I'd have to take an undertaking on that, Mr. Faye.

     MR. FAYE:  Would that be an undertaking then?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  So that would be an undertaking to check the accuracy of D1, Tab 2, Schedule 3, page 2, the reductions in land and building, and that will be 6.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. 6.10:  TO CHECK THE ACCURACY OF EXHIBIT D1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 3, PAGE 2 REGARDING THE REDUCTIONS IN LAND AND BUILDING.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. FAYE:  I'd like to go next to the variance and deferral accounts.  If you could turn up Exhibit J1, T2, Schedule 8.  I'm looking on page 1 here, under deferral account 1571.  This is noted as "pre-market opening energy, a variance", and it's one of these accounts that's been around for a while.


Could you just describe what THESL has been using this account to record?

     MR. SARDANA:  I can certainly start, and then perhaps Mr. Seal and Mr. McLorg can complete the record.

     It's my understanding that the OEB had ordered THESL and other utilities to record line losses at 5 percent, when in fact THESL's actual line losses were closer to the 3 percent number that we've referred to earlier today.

     And so therefore, that has a large credit balance there, and we are seeking to clean that up as part of this application.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And I think that's where I'm going.

     The reason it hasn't been cleaned up to date, because, according to a decision some time back, this account was closed, but THESL continued to use it.

     Could you elaborate on the reasons why you couldn't close it and --

     MR. SARDANA:  There had been no order from the Board, no guidance from the Board, as to the treatment of this account, and so we've been carrying this balance, and obviously it had been attracting appropriate carrying charges, et cetera.  So we are now seeking to clear this.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And the fact -- you're referring to no guidance from the Board on how to dispose of the sums in it?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes, Mr. Faye, to our knowledge, there has never been any direction from the Board given as to how to clear this account.

     Now, I think we're suffering a bit from the three of us being relatively new to this area, and this predates all of us.  But we are seeking now, at this time, to clear this account.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And it may not be useful to debate whether or not there was Board direction.  I guess the real issue is, at the time there appeared to be some problems on how you would assign the credits in that account back to your rate base because there were some time-of-use customers and some non-time-of-use customers, as I understand it, and the data associated with the time-of-use had been lost.

     As I understand the argument, it was, well, we can't assign these costs because we don't know who to assign them to.

     If that was the case then, do you have a solution to that problem now?  How do you propose to dispose of the credit?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Faye, "then" being when?

     MR. FAYE:  Recovery of regulatory assets, Phase II decision.  And the date, December 9th, 200--

     MR. VLAHOS:  Was this the combined proceeding that involved Toronto Hydro as well?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.  Section 3.0.19.

     MR. McLORG:  Mr. Faye, I venture this comment in the hope that it will be helpful, but I think at one time there actually were two distinct cost pools related to a pre-market opening amount.

The first one was I think the one that you're really referring to, and that had to do with the pre-market opening cost of power.  And that cost of power was differentiated as between time-of-use and non-time-of-use customers.

     But it arose from the fact, as I recall, and I'm stretching way back here, that there was a sort of a lack of synchronicity or synchronization between how utilities were billed on the wholesale side by OPG at that time for cost of power, and how they were required to bill customers on a cost of power basis going forward from May 1, 2002.

     OPG had wholesale seasonally differentiated cost of power rates.  The cost of power was higher in the winter than it was in the summer.  On an annual basis, that cost of power produced the correct revenue for OPG.  But the utilities did not seasonally differentiate their own retail cost of power rates, and prior to market-opening cost of power was something that the utilities did bill their retail customers for.

     So these comments, just by way of background, suggest that there was a different concern, and it's the one you've identified, around the pre-market opening cost of power variance.

     Now, this is a pre-market opening variance that was related only to losses, and losses, as I needn't tell you, 

Mr. Faye, have only to do with energy.  And so I don't think that there is the same time-of-use consideration around this and a consideration related to the OPG wholesale billing.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.  And thank you for that.  I think that is useful because it goes to show the confusion that seems to be riding in this account.

     MR. SEAL:  If I --

     MR. FAYE:  Let me read the Board finding on this decision that sort of bears on it.  And at 3.0.19:

"Notwithstanding the fact that Toronto Hydro has identified and tracked pre-market opening line loss variances associated with all other customers in account 1571, the Board finds that this amount does not belong in account 1571, and it is not clear that it is exclusive to non-time-of-use customers, and agrees with Toronto Hydro's decision to remove the amount before submitting its claim."

     Yet the account still is here, with a bunch of money in it.  There are a couple of issues around that.

     I guess what we're asking is that if there was difficulty clearing it at the time, do you have a plan now, or are you expecting the Board to tell you:  "Here's what you ought to do with that money?"

     MR. SEAL:  Mr. Faye, I don't know if I'm being helpful or unhelpful, but perhaps I could ask you to turn to Exhibit R1, Tab 1, Schedule 10.3.  This is a continuity schedule that was requested of us by Board Staff.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.

     MR. SEAL:  And I hope I'm being helpful, but if you look at Appendix "A".

     MR. FAYE:  I'm sorry, on page --

     MR. SEAL:  Appendix "A".

     MR. FAYE:  Oh, okay.

     MR. SEAL:  Page 1 of 2.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes?

     MR. SEAL:  If you go down the left-hand side, under the accounts, down near the mid-bottom, you'll see two called "Pre-market opening energy variances."

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.

     MR. SEAL:  And "Pre-market opening energy line loss 

variances."

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.  Got them.

     MR. SEAL:  Okay.  So if we follow those across, you'll see the bottom one -- they're both 1571.  The bottom one, 2.9 million, is the amount that we're requesting for disposition.

     The one just above it, the 21.7 million, which was also in 1571, if you follow it across to the right-hand part of this table, you'll see that at that point the Board directed us to move it into regulatory assets, or an amount of it.

     MR. FAYE:  Is your page white or blue?

     MR. SEAL:  Mine's blue.

     MR. FAYE:  Mine's white.  All right.

     MR. SEAL:  Blue is an update.

     MR. FAYE:  Can we have an undertaking just to explain what the disposition of this account is?

     MR. SEAL:  Well, okay.  I think we've explained that in our evidence, what this account is, how much is in it, and why we are requesting it.  I'm not sure an undertaking would say anything different.

     Our evidence on it is J1, Tab 1, Schedule 2, in the written direct.  Starts on page 4, at the bottom of page 4, line 21, explains what this is.

     MR. FAYE:  If we could just have a moment while they sort that out.  And while I have you on that page, perhaps you could explain one other thing to me.  If we look up under the first block of RSVA accounts and we get to the subtotal line, move over to column 2A.

     MR. SEAL:  Sorry, we're back to 10-3?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, we're back to 10-3.

     MR. SEAL:  Okay.  "Appendix A".

     MR. FAYE:  "Appendix A", page 1.

     MR. SEAL:  Okay.  The blue page or the white page?

     MR. FAYE:  And it's possible that this is corrected on the blue version; I just don't have the blue version.

     I see a number, 34 -- and it's so small I can hardly read it, but 34-and-something million in this subtotal line.  Should I not see an offsetting credit somewhere, the corresponding journal entry, down at the bottom, where it says "Recovery of regulatory asset balances"?  I see --

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, I believe that's what we did correct in the updated blue pages.  The original interrogatory asks us to reproduce or to fill out this continuity schedule on a certain basis.

     MR. FAYE:  I do have that now.  And we just have the accountants check that they're happy with the answer.

     MR. SEAL:  I'm always happy when accountants are happy.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Seal, I must tell you, I do not have blue sheets either.  You are referring to Exhibit J1, Tab 1, Schedule 2?

     MR. SEAL:  No, no.  In this case, the big table, blue table that we're talking about, is Exhibit R1, Tab 1.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Oh, R1?  Okay.

     MR. SEAL:  It's an interrogatory response.

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Vlahos, in your case, that might have been deliberate.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Are you calling me an accountant?

     MR. SARDANA:  No, sir, I just see your frustration with blue pages.

     MR. FAYE:  While they're checking, I'll ask you another question on this whole thing.

     In May of 2006, the Board issued a letter describing interest on variance accounts and setting out the accounts that you could charge interest on.

     1571 wasn't one of those accounts, and I think I heard you say that you'd been collecting interest on 1571.  Could you just explain that?

MR. SEAL:  We did.  We are applying carrying charges to this 1571, the $2.8-million.  In my recollection -- and I'm just going off my recollection of the Accounting Procedures Handbook -- it does mention about the possibility of applying interest to this account.

     MR. FAYE:  And that supersedes the Board's letter saying this account is not one of the ones you can have interest for?

     MR. SEAL:  Well, my recollection of that letter -- and again, I'm going off recollection -- the letter doesn't say, "Thou shalt not apply."  It tells you accounts which shall apply carrying costs to.

     MR. FAYE:  I agree.  It does say that.  It lists the accounts in an appendix.

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. FAYE:  But I think the ordinary, plain-language interpretation of that is, if you see your account back there, you can charge interest.  If you don't, you can't.  Would you not agree with that?

     MR. SEAL:  I guess that was not our interpretation.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.

     MR. McLORG:  Mr. Faye, probably needless to say, our observation is that it's a credit balance, and Toronto Hydro's interpretation was that we should at least compute the associated interest.  If the Board finds that that's an improper calculation on our part, then we won't argue that point.  We're in the Board's hands.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So we're talking about a credit all this time, Mr. McLorg?

     MR. RODGER:  Well, we are. I mean, it's on paper.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  I must have missed it.  Okay.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So we're going to dispose of the 1571 credit balance.  That means customers are going to get some money back here.  None of it applies to time-of-use customers.  Do I understand that correctly?

     MR. McLORG:  No, it does not.

     MR. FAYE:  There were residential time-of-use customers at the time that those variance accounts were loading up with money?

     MR. SEAL:  This account, again, is not related to that.  This $2.8-million plus carrying costs is not related to that.  It's related to line loss variances between market-opening.

     MR. FAYE:  So the Board statement saying, "Get the line loss stuff out of this account," you must have gone ahead and did that at the time that they had that joint proceeding, did you?

     MR. SEAL:  I can't speak -- I don't know what happened then.  I didn't --

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think the simplest way of resolving accounting problems is to get an undertaking in writing, because otherwise we chase ourselves through schedules and no one can understand them.  Would you give us an undertaking just to clarify this situation?

     MR. SEAL:  Could you perhaps word the undertaking for us then?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.  Clarify how you intend to allocate the balance in account 1571.

     MR. SEAL:  Well, okay.  That is part of our evidence, how we plan to dispose of and allocate to customers, 1571.

     MR. FAYE:  And how do you intend to do that?

     MR. SEAL:  If you turn to page J1, Tab 1, Schedule 2, page 9 --

     MR. FAYE:  Okay, before we go to that, you have 2.8 million in this account.  What I hear you saying is that has nothing to do with line losses, that has something to do with commodity, pre-market opening.

     MR. SEAL:  It -- sorry.

     MR. SARDANA:  No, sir, it does not.  In fact, it has to do with line losses.

     MR. FAYE:  It has to do with line losses?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And the line losses are attributable to both time-of-use customers and non-time-of-use, or just to one?

     MR. SARDANA:  It's attributable to purchased kilowatt-hours from the wholesale market.  We were asked to record line losses at 5 percent.  Our actual experience is 3 percent.


So there is a credit balance -- and this is pre-market-opening.  There is a credit balance that has built up to the 2.9 million that you see before you.  We're seeking to clear that.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, I think we're back where we started with this question.  That's what we thought you were trying to do too.  But now the question is, how are you going to clear it?

     MR. SEAL:  Okay, and I was about to explain that.

     MR. FAYE:  Good.

     MR. SEAL:  Again, if you turn to J1, Tab 1, Schedule 2, page 9, at the bottom of page 9.  Our proposal --

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.

     MR. SEAL:  -- is to assign it directly to the customer classes based on the losses, and if you want to see the amounts that we're actually allocating to the classes, that's in Exhibit J1, Tab 2, Schedule 10.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, I have that.

     MR. SEAL:  Line 4 of table 2 shows how we've allocated the $4-million credit to customers.

     MR. SARDANA:  And the $4-million being the 2.9  plus the carrying charge?

     MR. SEAL:  Plus the carrying charge.

     MR. SARDANA:  At least our interpretation of this account attracts carrying charges.

     MR. FAYE:  I think we are spending more time on this than this warrants, but I would ask you once again, could we have an undertaking just to clarify for Board Staff that you have or have not complied with the Board decision, Section 3.0.19?  Is that asking too much?

     MR. SEAL:  That's a clear question, and we can undertake that.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  What's the number?

     MR. FAYE:  That will be 6.11.

UNDERTAKING NO. 6.11:  TO CLARIFY WHETHER BOARD DECISION, SECTION 3.0.19 HAS BEEN COMPLIED WITH.

     MR. FAYE:  And while we're still on this nice big blue spreadsheet here -- that's R1, Tab 1, Schedule 10.3, Appendix "A".  I'm looking at 2006; that's page 2, and the -- about five or six columns from the left-hand side, there's one entitled "transfer of Board-approved amounts to 1,590 as per 2006 EDR".  Looking at that one now?

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, I see that.

     MR. FAYE:  Right.  Now, if I go down to the subtotal line on the RSVA section, I see 3.7 million there, and if I go down to the subtotal line of "Other regulatory assets", I see a credit of 11.7.  So, to me, that's a credit of 8.  And when I go down to the recovery of regulatory asset balances for 1590, I see 6.7.  Shouldn't I see 8?

     --- Witness panel confers.

     MR. SEAL:  Mr. Faye, I think we'll take an undertaking on that.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That would be 6.12.  And that is to restate, if necessary --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How about, explain the apparent variance?

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That's better.  On Schedule 10.3, Appendix "A".

UNDERTAKING NO. 6.12:  TO EXPLAIN THE APPARENT VARIANCE ON SCHEDULE 10.3, APPENDIX "A".
MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Moving on to variance account 1588.  This one really does record distribution system losses, I think; is that right?

     MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  Has there been a suggestion that the 

Board change the way this account is used, to the effect that the distributor might be at greater financial risk for line losses?  You heard that kind of suggestion in this proceeding?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, we have.

     MR. FAYE:  Could you give us a thumbnail sketch of the risk that distributors would have if the Board says go ahead with that change?

     MR. McLORG:  The risk would be very markedly dependent on the level that the Board determined as the allowance for losses, whether expressed as a percentage of energy throughput or whether expressed as a fixed dollar amount.

     Hypothetically, were the Board to establish for Toronto an allowed line loss rate of 6 percent, then it would be likely that customers would unjustifiably bear an excess cost for losses because, it's unlikely that our actual losses would reach the level of 6 percent, on average, across a year.

     If the Board were to set a level of 2 percent, Toronto 

Hydro might easily follow the lead of Pacific Gas & 

Electric, and just declare bankruptcy.  And I'm being a little bit facetious, if I may be with the Board's indulgence, but the simple truth is that a 1 percent difference on a 27 gigawatt-hours of…

     MR. SARDANA:  Terawatt-hours.

     MR. McLORG:  Terawatt-hours, I should say, thank you, is a lot of money.  Now, I don't think it would bankrupt Toronto Hydro, but nevertheless, the point I'm making is that it's a very large amount of money.

     If the Board were to discontinue variance account treatment, then the Board would have to rely on a forecast of losses produced by someone.  Toronto Hydro certainly hasn't produced the kind of forecast of losses on an actual basis that would be required to set an allowance for losses that would meet the Board's usual standards for reliability and unbiasedness that we believe, certainly, would be necessary.

     MR. FAYE:  And I take it that those same considerations would apply to every other distributor as well?

     MR. McLORG:  That's true.

     MR. FAYE:  Right now the Board is obliged to review variance accounts balances under Bill 23.  And is that also a potential ramification?  If there are no variances left to review in these accounts because they have a solid target number, and the distributor is taking the risk, would you agree that that seems to conflict with the Board's mandate under Bill 23 to review those variances once in a while?

     MR. McLORG:  Well, my understanding is that the Board is by statute required to review, but not necessarily dispose of the balances in non-commodity-related variance accounts annually, and commodity-related variance accounts quarterly.

     If there were no more variance account for line losses, despite the facts of the matter remaining the same otherwise in the real world, the Board would shed what I regard as a minor responsibility, but place ratepayers and utilities, and to some degree the Board itself at risk, were it to work out that the amount of losses was actually very different than the level that the Board had set.

     MR. FAYE:  If I could just summarize, it sounds like this is a bigger issue than a one-distributor rate application should be disposing of it in?

     MR. McLORG:  No, I certainly agree with that, Mr. Faye.  I think I stated earlier that our view is that the issue of the regulatory treatment of losses, quite apart from a finding on an empirical basis of what the appropriate levels should be for any individual distributor, but the regulatory treatment is a generic issue which we regard as properly determined in a generic forum, and on the basis of the evidence and submissions of all the parties who would be affected.

     MR. FAYE:  I guess just one final point.  Does this impact cost of capital?

     MR. McLORG:  I think that if a variance account were discontinued for line losses, there would certainly be a perception on the street, in the rating agencies, and other lenders and so on, that Toronto Hydro's risk had materially increased, and therefore it should affect our actual cost of capital.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks for that.

     MR. McLORG:  Mr. Sardana may have a point to add to that.

     MR. SARDANA:  I was going to absolutely agree with 

Mr. McLorg.  And anything that Bay Street, or Wall Street, for that matter, for utilities that do issue there, such as 

Hydro One, that detracts from the regulatory compact would lead to that conclusion, by the Street.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Can we move to THESL's request for a variance account and take account of OEB cost assessments, mandated studies, and intervenor cost awards?  And that appears in Exhibit J1, Tab 1, Schedule 2.  

I'm not certain you need to turn that up.  You can probably answer any questions that I would have without it.  But have I accurately described the kind of account that you're requesting there?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, you have.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay, and that account would record a variance from what you had forecasted those things to cost; right?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, it would.

     MR. FAYE:  Now, in the answer to an interrogatory, and you might want to turn this one up; this is R1, Tab 1, 

Schedule 10.1.  I'm looking at page 2, when you get there.  

All ready on that one?

     MR. SEAL:  We have it.

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, we have it, thank you.

     MR. FAYE:  In the middle of the page, there seems to be an argument by THESL that the reason such an account would exceed the materiality limits is because of these total expenditures, 3.75 million and 3.54 million.  These are to do with Board costs, allocations and intervenor costs.  And then you draw the conclusion that because those numbers are above materiality, therefore the account is warranted.

But I think we just established that the account picks up the variance between forecast and actual.  Would it not be more sensible to assess the materiality of the variance, not the materiality of the gross costs, in this analysis?

     MR. McLORG:  I understand your point, Mr. Faye, and I think in response our view would be that the central rationale for our request here is relatively unchanged by observing that the variance account would only deal with the variances.  I suppose if we wanted to, and the Board were at all willing to accept it, we could put forward a forecast of zero for those costs, and really turn it into a deferral account.

     But I think that our view of the matter is that certainly if there were ever a cost that parties would agree was a prudently incurred cost, it would be a cost that a utility was ordered to pay by the Board.  That, I think, is a very uncontroversial statement.

     If you accept that, no matter what the forecast level was, okay -- if you accept that, then if it turns out that the forecast is less than the eventual amount ordered by the Board, then you have a situation in which you have costs that were prudently incurred virtually, by definition, becoming unrecoverable in the revenue requirement.

     Similarly, on the flip side, if the Board finds that the level of prudently incurred costs that it orders is less than the amount in the forecast and there is no mechanism to true that up, then there has been an excess recovery on the part of the utility of an amount over and above the amount that the Board determines was prudently incurred.

     So the fact that the forecast is at level "X" and the variance may be at level "Y" and the variance is less than the materiality doesn't, I think, go to the central argument for establishing a deferral account for these items.

     MR. FAYE:  I follow the logic, but unfortunately it doesn't marry up very well with Board policies on deferral accounts or variance accounts.  It does say that you have to pass these hurdles.  One of them is materiality.


If you can't even get over the hurdle, I think you would have to be able to explain why it's such a consequential expense if it doesn't meet the materiality limit.  Why are you so concerned about it, to put it in a variance account?

     MR. McLORG:  Well, our argument essentially is that there are categories of expenditures which, in our view, are best dealt with in the public interest through a variance account type of treatment.


I think that the Board's standard for materiality is very relevant in determining a utility request for a variance or deferral account, with respect to a cost that is typically under its own control.

     If we ask for a deferral account or a variance account pertaining to the cost of trucks or the cost of fuel, or something else that is within the confines of our core business, I think the Board's materiality standard clearly applies.

     I'm not suggesting that the Board should disregard its materiality standard, and, frankly, we don't like to ask the Board for things that are immaterial either.  But what I am suggesting is that that criterion has a place in considering certain categories of expenditures.


We're suggesting that, as a category of expenditures, there is merit in establishing variance account treatment for OEB-assessed costs, simply because there is no merit in having either ratepayers or utilities at risk for costs, such as those that are very difficult to forecast, and which by definition are nevertheless prudent.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I do follow your argument, and I think it would have a lot of merit if you weren't already taking all those kinds of risks in a thousand other places in your rates, for instance gasoline.

You don't control the price of gasoline.  You're forced to forecast how much gasoline and diesel you use in your vehicles.  You're probably wrong.  There's pluses and minuses, and that's probably a much bigger number than is going to ever go into this variance account.  But you don't request the variance account for fuel, on the principle that, you know, you can't control it, it's a core business function.


And so I'd just suggest to you that if we followed the logic of your argument, there would be an awful lot of variance accounts being --

     MR. McLORG:  I beg to differ, if I may, because I think my argument is that we would not request, and a variance account would not be appropriate for the kind of examples that you just cited.

     We don't control the price of gasoline.  We are a price-taker for the commodity of gasoline, but we are able to at least manage the total cost that we incur by doing things that have a good business case to do.


You know, we might buy more fuel-efficient vehicles if the price of gasoline goes up.  We might try to reroute some of our work, or any number of other things.

     I don't want to take the Board's time this afternoon, when time is precious, to debate those kinds of things.  What I'm suggesting is that there are costs that are certainly very legitimately and prudently incurred for purposes of the regulatory process.


Toronto Hydro, I'd like to make this very clear, quite supports a vigorous, healthy, regulatory process.  Those costs are incurred for that purpose.


Having received the Board's invoice or cost order, there is no way that we can manage those costs, which parenthetically I'll add is much to the consternation of our procurement people, because I've been asked on several occasions to actually provide a procurement justification for bills that we receive from the OEB.  I tell them, they're a sole source.

     So the point I'm getting to is that these costs are prudently incurred.  We have absolutely no choice in the matter, and we can't manage the level of the cost in any way.


To give you an example, and I can tell you flatly, we did not anticipate --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. McLorg, I don't think we need to go into much more detail.  I think the issue is joined, and I think we need to move through these kind of in that fashion.  If the company does not agree, that's a matter that can be argued, and we will never finish if we don't take that tack.

     MR. FAYE:  I agree, Mr. Chairman, and I'll finish that one with a simple question:  "Yes" or "no", is the account intended to be symmetrical?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, it is.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Moving to the request for a Hydro One account to collect your variance possible in capital contributions, are you going to be collecting the forecast minus actual in this account, or the difference in revenue requirement?

     MR. McLORG:  It would be the difference in the revenue requirement.

     MR. FAYE:  And could you quickly just list the components of the difference in revenue requirement that would be in the account?

     MR. McLORG:  A capital contribution made by Toronto Hydro to Hydro One would be treated as, in our view and in our proposal, a pure capital expenditure on the part of Toronto Hydro.

     As such, there would be no OPEX or any other complicating factor.  It would draw the same elements of capital costs as a pure capital expenditure would, so it would involve a depreciation cost, a return cost, and a PILs cost.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.

     MR. McLORG:  We would not -- I'd like to make this clear.  We would not defer the capital contribution dollars per se.  It would be the revenue requirement attached to those.

     MR. FAYE:  What period of time do you envisage having this account in operation?

     MR. McLORG:  Over the test period, 2008, 2009, 2010.

     MR. FAYE:  And at the end of that would you be asking for disposition on it?

     MR. McLORG:  Our proposal would be to request disposition of the account at any time the balance exceeded, in our judgment, a balance that we thought was prudent to carry, so --

     MR. FAYE:  Do you -- sorry, go ahead.

     MR. McLORG:  We would ask for disposition, probably at the end of 2010, in conjunction with a request on our part either to discontinue or to renew the existence of the account for the next rate period after 2010.

     But what I'm trying to provide for is a possibility that we might come to the Board prior to 2010 requesting disposition of the amount, if it were material.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. McLorg, wouldn't you have to, under Section 23?

     MR. McLORG:  Request disposition of the account?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, request, review, at least.  Or we would have to.

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, the Board would have to.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

     MR. McLORG:  Review, but not dispose.

     MR. VLAHOS:  But not necessarily dispose.

     MR. McLORG:  That's correct; yes.

     MR. FAYE:  Would the capital contribution in the account be amortized?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, it would be.

     MR. FAYE:  Would the rate base be affected by the amount that's in the account?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, it would be.

     MR. FAYE:  Once again, this account would also be symmetrical?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, it would be.

     MR. FAYE:  If I could move then --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If I can just ask a question arising from that point, Mr. Faye, this relates to property that is not owned by Toronto Hydro; this would be a capital contribution with respect to property owned by Hydro One?

     MR. McLORG:  That's exactly right.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And so you would be claiming in your rate base a capital that was not owned by you, which is a deviation of some note.

     MR. SARDANA:  This is in respect of a connection asset.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I understand.

     MR. SARDANA:  It is owned by Hydro One, but it is to serve Toronto Hydro's customers, and only Toronto Hydro's customers.

     So the rate consequences of that are borne by Toronto 

Hydro.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would that always be the case, that it would always be a connecting facility or connection facility that was dedicated to the Toronto Hydro system?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes.

     MR. SARDANA:  I believe so, yes.

     MR. McLORG:  In my vision of the world, it could be viewed most closely to a prepaid, in the sense that what we are in effect doing is paying a sum of money now for a stream of services that will be rendered to Toronto Hydro over the economic or engineering life of the asset, and will be used by Toronto Hydro to provide service to its customers.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's perhaps analogous to the leased vehicles that we heard about earlier, where ownership is not necessarily the key element to the characterization of the property as capital, but rather, its availability in use.  It would be the analogy or the analysis that you would have to do for that.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Could I just ask, for my edification, when it goes to rate base of THESL, is it the normal rate base treatment, gross capital minus depreciation, or is it an amortization schedule for the estimated life of the asset?  How does it work?

     MR. McLORG:  I believe that it would in this instance be driven by a calculation of amortization rather than physical depreciation.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, how is it in the prefiled evidence?  Do we know?  Are you asking for the contribution -- there is a contribution that you're asking to be already reflected in 2008?  Am I correct on this?

     MR. McLORG:  That's correct.  There's about $35-million in contributions.

     MR. VLAHOS:  $35-million.  And the regulatory treatment of that $35-million, is it amortized over some years?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, sir.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  And therefore it's somewhere in the evidence; right?

     MR. McLORG:  It ought to be.  I'm sorry that I don't know of the exact reference myself.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I would assume it's a straight amortization over a number of years.  I don't know what the number of years may be.  But it's not gross planned minus accumulative depreciation.  That's not the regulatory construct for that specific item.

     MR. McLORG:  I would agree with you.  I would suggest it's going to be between 20 and 40 years for the type of assets that --

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  And if it's different, 

Mr. McLorg, you'll let us know in some fashion.  That's my assumption.  That's the Board's assumption, that it is an amortization mechanism as opposed to a different mechanism?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Why don't we get an undertaking to provide?  I think that might simplify matters, if we could get an undertaking describing in a comprehensive fashion the way this account is intended to be populated, managed from a financial point of view, and depopulated.  If we could get that, I think that would be helpful.

     MR. VLAHOS:  If I may, I think there are two related issues.  One is, what is the regulatory treatment of the $35-million in our example for the test year?  That's one.

     The other set of questions may be what is the rate-making treatment of any variance into that deferral account or variance account that we're talking about?

     That balance, how is that going to be treated, going forward?

     Those are the questions that are not clear from the evidence.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If I recall the schedule outlining this, a certain amount goes in 2000 -- it's the 35 -- it's the Leaside --

     MR. SARDANA:  Birch.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- deal.  And a certain amount goes in 2008, another in 2009, and then the largest part, actually, in 2010.  And it's how that then is managed after that point, starting, really, in 2008, how those numbers are managed.


Could we have a number for that?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, and could we just add the proposed journal entries that you would make, so that Board Staff would be able to understand how this is working?  

That will be 6.13.

UNDERTAKING NO. 6.13:  TO DESCRIBE REGULATORY TREATMENT OF THE $35 MILLION/DESCRIPTION OF HOW THE NUMBERS ARE MANAGED.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Faye, I would hope -- I'm sure Staff will understand that, but something I will have to understand.  Your (inaudible) may not be totally helpful to me.  Maybe just plain language, rate-making language.

     MR. SEAL:  We'll strive to do both.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

     MR. FAYE:  I think we're nearing the conclusion of this section, and I don't have a lot after that.

     I'd like to turn to the disposition of variance accounts 1580, 1590, 1592, and 1571.  And this is shown, I think, on J1, Tab 1, Schedule 2.

     I guess the first question that we'd like to ask is:  Why are you selectively proposing to clear these accounts, as opposed to clearing all of your variance accounts?

     MR. SEAL:  We described in evidence why it is these accounts that we're proposing.  Essentially, these accounts are ones that we could forecast quite reliably to the end of April and are significant.

     The ones that we have chosen not to clear at this point basically offset one another or are quite volatile.  That, in a nutshell, is why we've chosen these ones.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay, so you can forecast some but you can't forecast others, and I guess I wonder why that would be so.  You can't accurately forecast account 1580?

     MR. SEAL:  Well, exactly.  The ones that are associated -- well, the ones that are associated with the cost of power, some of the network charges, are more difficult to forecast because they are quite volatile.

     MR. FAYE:  The 1584, 1586, and 1582, I think you are forecasting?

     MR. SEAL:  Well, we do have forecasts of them.  But what we're saying is that they are more volatile.

     MR. FAYE:  So you can forecast them, but you're not clearing them?

     MR. SEAL:  We've proposed to clear ones that we were relatively certain on what the values would be as of April 30th, 2008.

     MR. FAYE:  The total of these other ones that you're not clearing, there's about $2.5-million sitting in there.  

I wonder:  Why should your ratepayer carry the risk of those kinds of forecasts?

     MR. SEAL:  The ones that we were not clearing, aside from the cost of power, it is my belief -- and I think you have that in evidence -- that they're fairly well offsetting one another.  Perhaps you could point me to where you're coming -- the 2 million?

     MR. FAYE:  If you could turn to R1, Tab 1, Schedule 10.3, Appendix "A", the big blue chart, and I'm on page 2.  

If we look over on the right-hand side of that chart, towards the last couple of columns, there are some entries here:  $2,918,000 in 1582, $400,000 in 1584, a credit of 5.9 million in 1586, and if you drop down a little bit further, in 1555 it looks like there's -- sorry, 1550, there's $152,000.

     All of that totals to 2.5 million, so I would question that maybe they aren't offsetting each other if there's that much of a balance left.

     MR. SEAL:  I'm struggling to find –- just one moment, please.

     MR. FAYE:  Sure.

     MR. SEAL:  I can't find the exact schedule that answered this question, but I guess maybe I can make this statement.

     The deferral accounts, the deferral and variance accounts are to the credit or to the balance of the customer, or to the credit or to the debit of the customer.

     We're not opposed to clearing any of them, positive or negative.  It's just when we looked at the balances in the particular accounts that we proposed for a disposition, and the ones we didn't propose for disposition, we felt that, as I stated, the ones that we were proposing for disposition were of significant value and could be forecasted.  The ones we didn't were more or less offsetting.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  This is another one we could go on forever on.  I think there's enough on the record to allow the parties to construct their final arguments, so we'll move on from there.

     The last one on this is the disposition of 1590 and 1592, and for this you're forecasting balances, and I wonder why you're departing from the usual practice of disposing of finalized, audited, Regulatory Account balances.  Instead you're forecasting what the balance is going to be and trying to dispose of it now?

     MR. SEAL:  Well, again, for the purposes of the test period, we've had to put in a forecast of those values.

     MR. FAYE:  Could you not wait for your next rate application?  I mean, you're presuming on this that the Board is going to grant the three-year period, which it may or may not do in its discretion, but carrying this forward to 2000 and whatever, your next rate application, would be the normal course of events?

     MR. SEAL:  I guess -- I don't think that would be our preference.  Our preference is to deal with these accounts, as I said, that we're fairly certain about now.  What I think we would propose to do, as part of that, is if the variance of the audited account or audited amounts in these accounts, as of the end of April, the actual accounts versus what we have put in rates, would continue in a regulatory account to be disposed of at the next rate hearing.

     So similar to how we treated the regulatory assets, where, in fact, we've shown here a $1.5-million balance as of April 30th, and that balance is what's left after -- what's left after, you know, where we were supposed to be at zero -- we are proposing to clear it.  We would propose to continue to carry those variances until the next rate application.

     MR. FAYE:  I understand.


Okay.  Then I think I'll just ask you for an undertaking to explain, on account 1590, how including it for disposition now complies with the decision, the Phase II decision, Section 9.0.19.  Rather than debate the subject here, if you could just reply in writing?

     MR. SEAL:  All right.

     MR. FAYE:  And that will be 6.14.

UNDERTAKING NO. 6.14:  TO EXPLAIN, ON ACCOUNT 1590, HOW INCLUDING IT FOR DISPOSITION NOW COMPLIES WITH THE PHASE II DECISION, SECTION 9.0.19.

     MR. FAYE:  All right.  That's it for variance accounts.

     Load forecasting has been very well covered by my friends in the intervenors.  I have just a couple of very quick questions to pose to you.

     The load forecast was restated, and I believe it was actually moved down a little bit from the original.

     MR. SEAL:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  And we didn't seem to see a restatement of the consequential statements that go with it, so I wonder if you're intending to do that, and if not, could we have an undertaking to restate the schedules that mean something on it?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Faye, could you amend the undertaking so that -- what we'd like to know is, what will be the impact on the revenue deficiency, given a certain change in the revenue for -- in the load forecast.  Could that be acceptable to you?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, that would be.

     MR. SEAL:  Thank you.

     MR. FAYE:  That undertaking's okay?

     MR. SEAL:  Certainly.

     MR. FAYE:  6.15, then.

UNDERTAKING NO. T6.15:  TO EXPLAIN WHAT WILL BE THE IMPACT ON REVENUE DEFICIENCY, GIVEN A CERTAIN CHANGE IN THE LOAD FORECAST.

     MR. FAYE:  I'd like to touch just briefly on the history of your forecasting, and you'll have to correct me if you have blue sheets that dispute what I'm going to say generally.

     In the evidence that I've seen, it looks like, of the eight years that you have your forecasts for, five of those years you understated and three of those years you overstated.


Have I got that right?  Understating the forecast leads to higher per-unit rates to recover your revenue requirement.

     MR. SEAL:  I'm just wondering where -- I don't know where you're getting that statement from.

     MR. FAYE:  I can take you to it if you like.  K1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Appendix "A".

     MR. SEAL:  Okay.  That's what I thought.

     That schedule -- and we explained this in an interrogatory -- does not show the historically forecast loads versus actual.  What it shows is our in-sample modelled load versus actual.

     For our modelling exercise we do econometric models.  The econometric models produce coefficients for the different variables that drive the load forecast.

     MR. FAYE:  Mm-hmm.

     MR. SEAL:  For each of those -- for each of those coefficients then, multiplied by the actual historical driver, you add them together, and you can come up with what the in-sample forecast is, based on that model.  That's what this exhibit is showing you.

     MR. FAYE:  Well, I didn't understand any of that, but I know a way to clarify it.

     If we look at this chart on page 3, there's a column saying, "Total kilowatt-hours purchased".  Is that truly total kilowatt-hours purchased or is that a forecasted kilowatt-hours purchased?

     MR. SEAL:  On page 3 of --

     MR. FAYE:  Exhibit K1, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Appendix "A", page 3.

     MR. SEAL:  That is modelled.

     MR. FAYE:  "Total kilowatt-hours purchased" means it's modelled?

     MR. SEAL:  Sorry, which column were we looking at?

     MR. FAYE:  Far left, just beside the month date?

     MR. SEAL:  Okay, the annual numbers?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.

     MR. SEAL:  So you'll see historical up until the end of, in this case, June.

     MR. FAYE:  Right.  And are you saying those are not actual --

     MR. SEAL:  Those are actuals.

     MR. FAYE:  Those are actuals?

     MR. SEAL:  Those are actuals.

     MR. FAYE:  Let's move over into the block, to the right of that big block.

     MR. SEAL:  Okay.

     MR. FAYE:  At the top of that column it says, "Modelled forecast total kilowatt-hours purchased".

     THE WITNESS:  Right.

     MR. FAYE:  Can I short-form that to: that's your forecast?

     MR. SEAL:  That's the forecast this particular model would give for 2000 -- if I look at 1998, that this particular model would fit for 1998's value.  It's not the forecast that we did for 1998 load back in 1997.

     MR. McLORG:  It's a simulation.  A forecast is really a kind of a misnomer, because it's already happened.  It's what the model simulates for that historical year.

     MR. FAYE:  Is it the number you base your rates on?

     MR. SEAL:  No.

     MR. McLORG:  No.

     MR. FAYE:  What's the value of it in here?  What's the --

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Faye, it's an attempt to determine the statistical strength of the model, applied to historical numbers.  So in other words, we go back in time to say, what would the model have produced, compared to actuals?

     MR. FAYE:  So it's just a model checking --

     MR. SARDANA:  It's just a model checking, as my colleague has mentioned; it's a simulation exercise.

     MR. FAYE:  So I can't draw any conclusions.  When I look at model variance from actual, and I see five years with negative numbers and three years with positive numbers, I can't draw any conclusions from that.

     MR. SARDANA:  I think the conclusion you can draw is that the model's statistical rigour is there.

     MR. FAYE:  I'm not a statistician, so I can't make any comment on that.

     All right.  Thanks for that.  That clarified it.

     All right.  I'm going to turn to the last subject now, and I think this should be brief, because some of it has already been covered.

     This is cost allocation and revenue cost ratios.  I'm not sure if this question was requested by my friend from VECC or not.

     This has to do with the restating of your customers by rate class, and it was updated November 12th.  The schedule is K1, Tab 7, Schedule 1, and if you've already covered this, just please tell me.

     You have an original set of numbers filed in August that have 617,000 residential customers, and then you restate it to 603.  Is this the result of the regulation that made the condo conversion a voluntary effort?  

     MR. SEAL:  Two; there are two impacts and reasons for the change.

The one is the one you mentioned, Our changed Assumptions on the number of suite metering conversions.

     The second impact is, like the rest of the load forecast, we updated the forecasting models for our forecast of customers and reforecast the number of customers. 

     MR. FAYE:  And then if I see a corresponding change in the general service less than 50, would it be reasonable to conclude that that's the fact that, because you're not changing the individual suites, you still have the bulk meters?

     MR. SEAL:  You would actually find that in the GS50 to a thousand kilowatts.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.

     MR. SEAL:  That's the class.  We did shift customers from that class to the residential class.

     MR. FAYE:  And that's why I see such a big number -- or I don't.

     MR. SEAL:  Well, remember, we're shifting one building out of the GS50 to a thousand class.

     MR. FAYE:  Right.

     MR. SEAL:  And adding 200 residential customers.

     MR. FAYE:  I see.  Okay.  Thank you for that.

     The revenue-to-cost ratios in Exhibit L1, Tab 2, Schedule 10-1 -- and once again, some of this has been 

Covered -- I believe my friend spoke about the street lighting.  I guess the main point I'd like to make here is:  

Are these ratios on page 2 accurate, considering that the load forecast has changed?

     MR. SEAL:  The change in the load forecast by customer class would have an impact on the cost allocation results.

     Now, I suspect it doesn't have an impact large enough to move these revenue cost ratios very much, but it would have an impact.

     MR. FAYE:  Could we have an undertaking for you to check to see if there are significant movements, and, if there are, to restate that, or is that part of your December 21st filing?

     MR. SEAL:  Well, I'm hesitating because it is a fair amount of work.  I think when we were talking about the 

December 21st filing, one of the concerns I had was having to run through all the cost allocation implications and the rate design implications.

     I'm concerned that the work involved in changing the cost allocation model, the load forecast that is in it, might be significant for what I think might be small change in the revenue cost ratios.  That's why I'm hesitating.

     MR. FAYE:  Is there a simple way of confirming your estimate that there will be a small change?

     MR. SEAL:  If you had dealt with this cost allocation model at all, you would know nothing is simple about it.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Board Staff is willing to pass on that, it looks like.  The street lights have been done.

     I have a similar situation in unmetered scattered loads, and maybe you could give us a 30-second encapsulation of why the revenue to cost ratio at 49 percent and the boundary at 80 percent are a reasonable thing to do.

     MR. SEAL:  Well, here's my short version.  By 2010, under our rate proposals, they will be within bounds.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Looking at monthly service charges, and I'll just turn you to Exhibit M1, Tab 3, Schedule 2.

     MR. SEAL:  I have that.

     MR. FAYE:  I don't.

     On the 2008 proposed rates, if we look in the centre of this chart, page 1 of 1 -- that's M1, Tab 3, Schedule 1, page 1 of 1.  General service monthly --

     MR. SEAL:  Sorry, Mr. Faye.  I thought I had a different exhibit.  Can you tell me that exhibit number again, please?

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I'm sorry, maybe I misread it.  I'm 

looking at Exhibit M1, Tab 3, Schedule 1, page 1.

     MR. SEAL:  Schedule 1?  Okay.  I think we're on the same page.

     MR. FAYE:  Got that now?

     MR. SEAL:  I think so.

     MR. FAYE:  Looking at general service, 1,000 to 5,000, and large users, I see increases in the monthly fixed charge, the customer charge.

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. FAYE:  And then if I flip over to the similar  schedule for 2009, and that would be Exhibit M1, Tab 3, 

Schedule 2, I see the same monthly service charges going back down again.

     MR. SEAL:  Correct.

     MR. FAYE:  I'm wondering if you could just comment on that.

     MR. SEAL:  Certainly.  What we've done, for these particular classes, their fixed monthly charge was well above the ceiling amount as identified in the cost allocation study.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.

     MR. SEAL:  So, to the same degree that we moved those classes that were under up, we moved those classes that were over down.

     MR. FAYE:  But these classes are over in 2008 --

     MR. SEAL:  Their fixed monthly service charge is quite high compared to what the cost allocation study would recommend.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I can understand why you would move them down in 2009, but why did you move them up in 2008?

     MR. SEAL:  It's a combination of a number of factors, and it actually occurs in all these ones.  The fixed monthly charge and the variable charge are both driven by our revenue requirement, so our increase in revenue requirement, plus the changes in the cost allocation study, plus the changes we've made to the fixed variable charge.  So the three components working together are driving these particular proposed rates.

In 2008, the revenue requirement increase is offsetting the cost allocation in fixed variable shifts.    

MR. FAYE:  Do you have a plan to eventually sort of get within boundary on these fixed charges on those categories that are so far above?

     MR. SEAL:  Our rate proposal is based on the evidence or based on the information that we obtained from the lengthy cost allocation process.

     Our proposals are intended to move all customer classes toward the revenue cost ratios of unity and to the fixed variable splits that we feel are appropriate, so we've moved them in what we believe is a balanced fashion.

     We understand that there is a rate review proposal going on at this time, and we would propose to learn from that as well, so that our next rate setting undoubtedly will be taking into account the cost allocation study and the rate review recommendations.

     MR. FAYE:  Still on that same page, if we scan down the percent change column, in the block that says "2008" --

     MR. SEAL:  Sorry, am I looking at the 2009 rates?

     MR. FAYE:  You could look at that one too.  I think the same trend is there.  Let's look at the one that you're on.  M1, Tab 3, Schedule 2, page 1.  Are you on that one?

     MR. SEAL:  Right.  That's where I am.

     MR. FAYE:  We're in this centre block here, and just scanning down, you could see the percent changes in the monthly fixed charge and in the volumetric charge.  And until you get down into the large general service section, the fixed charge appears to be going up at a much more significant rate than the volumetric charge in percentage terms.


I'm wondering if you could comment on the ultimate impact on your customers of having costs move from a volumetric measure into a fixed measure?

     MR. SEAL:  The rates that we've designed are revenue-neutral within the class.  So for the class as a whole, the shift, the increase in the fixed rate and the decrease in the variable rate, is revenue-neutral for the class.

     For various usage levels within a class, there will be variances, but we design rates on a class basis.

     MR. FAYE:  I'm not sure that answered the question of why there appears to be this trend of moving volumetric cost -- decreasing volumetric unit costs and increasing monthly fixed.  I can understand why you would like to do that, but I'm not understanding why the Board would want to approve that.

     MR. SEAL:  Well, as I said, what we are trying to do is reflect the information that we've obtained and learned from the cost allocation proceeding.

     So the cost allocation proceeding provided evidence on revenue/cost ratios and on fixed charges, and we're moving both the cost allocation and the revenue recovery considerations and the fixed/variable rates in the direction that we've learned from the cost allocation.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

     And the last little section: if I could turn you to Exhibit O1, Tab 1, Schedule 4.  This one's a little fine-print, a little hard to read, but I think we can get out the information.  Have you got that one turned up?

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, I do.

     MR. FAYE:  Again, this is divided into rate years, and it lists, by customer rate class, the impact of the proposed rates that you have on them.

     So if we look, for instance, in the 2008 column, which is the third column from the right -- the third block from the left, sorry.


MR. SEAL:  So column 21?  They are numbered --

     MR. FAYE:  Column 12, sorry.

     MR. SEAL:  Column 12?  Okay.

     MR. FAYE:  These are percentage changes for each of the residential rate classes in the first seven or eight there, and the numbers are going up.


But the percentage increase, if we look at column 22, appears to be much more substantial for the lowest-volume customers, and that effect tends to taper off as you get into the higher-volume customers.

     I wonder if you could comment on the rate-mitigation strategies you might want to put in place to not impact your smallest customers as much as you appear to be doing.

     MR. SEAL:  I've explained how we've developed the rates on a rate-class basis.  When we reviewed our impacts, as we have here on this type of table, we did look at the rate impacts on all levels within each class, and in our opinion, the types of increases that are resulting do not require any mitigation, any special mitigation.

     MR. FAYE:  And the fact that there appears to be a trend that lower consumers in each of the residential and small general service classes seem to be getting hit harder than the larger-volume consumers, that doesn't concern you?  You don't think it's a concern?

     MR. SEAL:  The impact you're describing is a direct result of the shift in the fixed/variable splits that we've proposed, admittedly.

     Of course, we're concerned about rates for all of our customers, but when you look at the rate impacts, 8.5 percent total bill annually, we did not feel that that level of impact, for those very few customers that would be down at a hundred kilowatt hours per month for that matter, was something that needed mitigating.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay, so I think what you're saying is, the 8.5 percent may look fairly significant, but if you rationalize that out to actual dollars, it probably is not a significant amount of money.  Is that what I hear?

     MR. SEAL:  Well, that's certainly the case.  You can see what the average monthly bill of $28 -- wish I had those bills.

     MR. FAYE:  All right.  My last few questions are just housekeeping items.  On the subject of retail transmission service rates, there's a mention in the evidence that THESL is not applying to update its rates.  Have I got that right?

     MR. SEAL:  No, you don't have that right, actually.  We have applied to update our retail transmission rates, and we submitted evidence to that effect.  I --


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then I'm (inaudible)


MR. SEALE: (inaudible)


MR. FAYE:  -- schedule.


--- Reporter appeals.


MR. SEAL:  To adjust our retail transmission rates, as I mentioned in my direct this morning.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.  I believe I did have an outdated schedule.  And thanks to the panel.  That's all my questions.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


Redirect, Mr. Rodger?

     RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:
     MR. RODGER:  Just one question, sir, to Mr. Sardana, and this is on the gain on sale of the properties that may occur in 2008, '9, or '10.

     When you had your exchange when you resumed after the break, you said that you would think about certain mechanisms, I think was your word, how you might deal with this.


I'm wondering, could you be more specific?  What do you mean by "mechanism"?  What would be an example that you might actually put before the Board?

     MR. SARDANA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

     I think, again, the devil is in the details, as Mr. Haines said on the very first day, in another context.  But really, the mechanism that we are thinking of is some kind of a variance account around these properties.  These are large dollars that are involved on some of these properties.

     We've already expressed our case that we are willing to share them with ratepayers on a 50/50 basis.  The fact that Goddard and, I believe it's Underwriters, have not sold in 2007, and there was some 11.8 million, although that amount is changing as market conditions change, lends itself to some kind of a variance treatment.


That's our early thinking on this.  We're not sure yet.  We'll take the benefit of the next ten days and think it through.

     MR. RODGER:  So would this be then a brand-new variance account that you would propose, or does this kind of transaction and the monies from them flow to an existing account that you could utilize?

     MR. SARDANA:  I think these are some of the, if you will, housekeeping items that we're struggling with as well, because we don't want to add yet another variance account to the burden of Board Staff and others.


Obviously, our preference would be to have it flow to an existing account.  But we'll work out the details, and we'll make sure that we report back to the Board.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Sardana.

     Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll take five minutes before Board questions, and reconvene in five minutes.

     --- Recess taken at 5:38 p.m.

--- On resuming at 5:43 p.m.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.

Mr. Vlahos.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

     QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Sardana, I'll start with you.  On the last exchange with your counsel, again on the capital gains matter, you suggested that you cannot turn your mind to this, or precisely what the options may be, and you'll advise us in due course; it may be ten days, it may be later, it may be before.  But, sir, do you understand that the evidentiary portion of this proceeding is, as of probably five minutes from now, finished?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And therefore you do have the option to make arguments, suggestions, in your argument-in-chief, through your counsel?

     MR. SARDANA:  That's right.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So how do you think this proceeding will further benefit by not closing it now?

     MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Vlahos, that is certainly not our intent.  I think the intent is to, as Mr. DeVellis has asked, update our forecast of the gain on sale of properties.

Now, I think what we're struggling with is that the value of the properties that haven't sold in 2007 is changing, in that, I think, I believe we had 11.8 million identified, and that 11.8 million no longer stands because market conditions have changed.

     It is clearly not our intention to keep this proceeding going.  It is our intention to update the forecast -- let's concede that -- but at the same time propose -- it's not going to be 11.8 million, in other words.  We have to reflect a market mechanism around these properties.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I understand that.  Instead of not closing the record at this time, why wouldn't you suggest that perhaps for those very reasons you just explained, which is on the record, that perhaps the best route for the Board, for everyone to take, is to set up a variance account or deferral account?

     MR. SARDANA:  That, Mr. Vlahos, and thank you for that, is exactly what we’re thinking.  I will take that, then.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Chair, I don't know where we go from here.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The issue was clear to that extent, 

Mr. Vlahos.  I don't know that there's anything further we can elicit at this stage.  I think it's a matter of argument, and as you said, the applicant is in a position to make an application in the course of that.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Sardana.

     Mr. McLorg, if you have the response to Undertaking 

T4.1, sir, in front of you, or if you can turn up --

     Yes.  This was handed in to us today.

     MR. McLORG:  I have that, Mr. Vlahos.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, sir, and I know this has a bit of background, and you probably recall this conversation.  You've been here throughout and you'll recall the exchange.  

But just help me understand this.

     How does this help me to set just and reasonable rates?

     MR. McLORG:  I don't think it's very helpful, 

Mr. Vlahos.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you.

     MR. McLORG:  I think that we undertook to provide this.

     MR. VLAHOS:  That's fair.  Thank you for that.

     Mr. McLorg, similarly, if you go to the response to the Undertaking T3.6, and I believe that was also delivered 

Today -- do you have that, sir?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, I do.  Thank you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  You'll note from the beginning of the document it says:  

"To illustrate how the capital expenditure plan contributes to revenue deficiency years 2008, 2009, 2010." 

And there is a response, a text, and followed by a table.  If you turn to the table, it appears what this is, is the influence of a different cost of service component to the total revenue deficiency.  Would you agree with that?

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, I do.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So it doesn't really respond to the precise question; it's somewhat helpful, but it doesn't respond precisely to the question.

     I'm not criticizing, I'm just seeking your confirmation.

     MR. McLORG:  I think it's the best partial response that we could provide.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right, so how would one get the impact of the capital expenditure plan on total revenue deficiency from the line items that are shown there?

     MR. McLORG:  I think the first order response that I would give to that is that you would have to select lines from this, and unfortunately they're not numbered.  But I would personally, considering that the capital plan involves additions to rate base, select the depreciation and amortization line, and then consider the next line, the rate base line, as being simply an intermediate step.  I'd select the cost of capital line and I'd select the PILs line to give me the first-order capital cost impacts of the capital plan in the various years.

     So, all I am tracing out there is what's the revenue requirement impact in addition to rate base, essentially.

     Now, if I may, I think it's very much part of our response to this undertaking to state that that wouldn't be reflective of the ultimate impact on revenue requirement of moving, or in plain language removing "X" dollars from the capital expenditures in the plan, and consequently the rate base in the plan, because, in effect, there's a little bit of spring-back.  When we take out, say, 20 million in sustaining capital expenditures, there's the direct impact on revenue requirement, all other things being equal.

     But our position is they wouldn't remain equal.  We'd have to compensate for that removal of the sustaining capital investment by increasing the O&M expenditures.

     That part turned out to be very difficult for us to estimate on a short timeframe, such as is required for undertakings.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Oh, I understand that and I appreciate the degree of difficulty.  But even on the first issue, and that is not even considering the trade-off --

     MR. McLORG:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- or the consequences of not spending capital dollars, you would probably have to spend more operational dollars.  But before we get to that difficulty, even if one was to ascertain what is the impact of, let's talk about a reduction, a reduction of "X" million dollars in capital expenditures, what would be the change in revenue deficiency?  It's very difficult to ascertain this from this table.

     In my simple mind, the way I was thinking about it, and you know I want to pass it by you, is, in 2008, for example, you have an additional, what, $150-million additional capital expenditures?

     MR. McLORG:  That's right.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So I could take an increment of 10 or 15; so let's take 150, okay?

     That is financed by a certain breakdown by debt and equity.

     MR. McLORG:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And I think it goes eventually to 40/60.

     MR. McLORG:  Yes, it does in 2010.

     MR. VLAHOS:  It does.  Right.  So let's just make that arithmetic easy.  Let's take 40/60, 40 equity, 60 debt, and I don't have the precise numbers as to what is in the forecast for debt or equity, but let's take some easy numbers.

     So debt, let's call 6 percent, okay?  In effect, what is 9 percent, return equity, has to be grossed up, so if you take the $150-million, 40 percent of that will be $60-million equity at 9 percent; grossed up, I get about 10 something – 10-, $11-million.

     MR. McLORG:  Sure.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And I have left $90 million in debt at 6 percent, gives me another 5- or $6-million.  So I'm looking at about 16-, $17-million impact.


MR. McLORG:  I understand where you're going with this.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So tell me, as a very large picture -- you know, as crude as it may be -- does that give me a picture?

     MR. McLORG:  Well, I think it does, Mr. Vlahos.  It's very much the type of exercise that we went through with the Smart Meter deferral account, where we calculated the revenue requirement that flows from an increment in capital, and the items that you've mentioned are exactly the ones that were in our calculation.

     We had the return calculated on a spreadsheet so it was exact, and we had depreciation.  We had the PILs impact.

So it's reasonably straightforward, and I'm sure that you and I would agree on the approach that would be taken to --

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right, sir.  I thank you for that.

     And so we calculated about 16- to $17-million.  I said it's crude, but subject to your qualifications and concerns about this, it may not reflect any trade-offs or any compensation from the operating side.

     MR. McLORG:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.

     MR. McLORG:  That could be significant, though.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you for that.  That's fine, thank you.


Lastly, the discussion about LRAM: so in addition to all the deferral accounts and variance accounts that we have -- and at some point the record, I think, indicates there was about two dozen in the APH, the Accounting Procedures Handbook.  And with more, on a case-specific basis, all right?  And now we've got this LRAM business --

     MR. McLORG:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- driven by CDM.


I just wonder, at the end of the day, what is left?  Before you answer that, I'll tell you where I'm going is, does a future test year rate-making, does it make any sense any more, where we spent most of the time in this hearing room talking about whether you're going to spend it at all, never mind whether you spend it wisely or prudently?

     So have we defeated that purpose of a future test year, of a future test period, in this case being a period, not a year?  Do you have any comments on that?

     MR. McLORG:  I wondered myself last night whether things would be simpler by going to a historical test year.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.  That's exactly what I'm headed to.

     Before you complete your answer on that, if we were on a historical-year contract -- construct, regulatory construct -- then it would not be open to Toronto Hydro to come and ask for a two-year, three-year, four-year rate-making treatment, would it?

     MR. McLORG:  No, sir.

     MR. VLAHOS:  No.  You would spend --

     MR. McLORG:  We would be very anxious to do it every year.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, you would have gone ahead and spent the money that you felt was appropriate for you to run your system, and you would come before the Board and justify it, and life goes on, right?


So maybe I -- sorry, this is where I want to end up, so maybe you can complete your answer then.

     MR. McLORG:  Well, I have some sympathy, certainly, for the concerns that people have around a future test year, and I am quite sincere in saying that I did think, myself, last night, would this be simpler on a historical-year basis?

     Now, I'll try and keep my comments very brief, because I am aware of the hour.  On my quick review of it last night, I felt that a historical year has solid benefits, in terms of the factual basis upon which the Board would make findings.

     It has some, I think, unwanted, untoward effects, in terms of the incentives that it presents to a utility, and I think that one of the big ones -- two of the big ones that I can see, and I'll stop my comments at that about the historical year -- are that it would make a utility very, very skittish about how it spent its money in the year going forward, because one of its main concerns would be:  "Can I recover this expense?  Can I recover this investment?"

     It might lead to a very restrained approach on the part of utilities, a very risk-averse approach, one that wouldn't support some of the things that we've done quite successfully in the past few years, like CDM, Smart Meter rollout, et cetera.

     The other way that a historical year would act as a disincentive for Toronto, particularly, is that we, in the face of very large capital requirements, would have to go out on a limb and, you know, cross our fingers as much as possible that the Board would say, "That investment in replacing direct buried underground cable in fact was justified, and you can have the money after all."

     That would put a real set of brakes on our capital renewal program, which we sincerely consider to be absolutely vital.

     On the other hand -- and I'll keep these comments very brief too, I hope -- the forecast test year, it has a lot of warts.  I think that there is a concern, a valid concern, around introducing too many variance accounts.


But I think that Toronto has been circumspect in its use of those.  It has only used the ones that it has required.


The Board has to provide for all 90 utilities, when it sets out the tableau of accounts in the APH.  Toronto has tried not to use the ones that don't apply to it.

     I think that on our proposal, we would absolutely minimize the use of variance accounts in those areas where you have to most exercise your judgment in determining whether our expenditures were correct.  We don't want variance accounts for our own core business.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, Mr. McLorg, you get the last word.


We will now adjourn.  The Board Staff will issue a Procedural Order with respect to order for argument, and we stand adjourned.

We'd like to thank the reporter for her very excellent work, the panel for your contribution.  The parties have been very co-operative.  Thank you very much.

     MR. SARDANA:  I'm sorry, sir.  Just one last thing:  I'd be remiss if I didn't thank you on Mr. Haines's behalf, and Mr. Vlahos and Mr. Balsillie as well, for taking us through this.  Thank you very much.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 6:01 p.m. 
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